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EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In 2019, Vifor Pharma Group  continued to focus 
on delivery and  execution, which are key to 
ensuring we keep our promises to you and to  
the ever  growing number of patients around  
the world being treated with our  medicines.

This focus enabled us in 2019 to take another step 
towards achieving the ambitious Milestone 2020 
targets.

Our ability to execute on our strategy of becoming 
the global leader in iron deficiency, nephrology 
and cardio-renal therapies is helping us to make 
that ambition a reality. Our revenues in 2019  
grew by 18.5% to CHF 1,877.2 million, and our 
EBITDA increased by 37.9% to CHF 540.0 million. 
We continued to optimise our existing products 
and invested in our future pipeline, while carefully 
managing costs and ensuring positive returns  
for our shareholders. As we have done for each of 
the last 25 years, in 2019 we delivered profitable 
growth and delivered on our commitments.

Execution has enabled us to build Ferinject®/
Injectafer® into our first blockbuster product, 
exceeding USD 1 billion of in-market sales during 
2019. We have also established a clear leader-
ship position in nephrology with a broadening 
pipeline of innovative products and services.  
In addition, we have continued to build awareness 
in hyperkalaemia to ensure that Veltassa® 
becomes our second blockbuster product.

“ Our strong ability to execute  
on our strategy drove us to 
 deliver profitable growth and 
exceed expectations in 2019.”

ETIENNE JORNOD 
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
Vifor Pharma Group
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Our Values underpin our success. Entrepreneur-
ship has been at the heart of our ability to  
identify opportunities and take calculated risks –  
creating world-class products such as Venofer®, 
Velphoro®, and Ferinject®/Injectafer® and 
allowing us to develop areas of unmet medical 
need, first in iron deficiency and now also in 
hyperkalaemia.

Teamwork encompasses not just the tremendous 
skills and dedication of the approximately  
2,800 Vifor Pharma Group employees around the 
world, but also the extraordinary partnerships  
we maintain with leading multinational companies 
and innovators such as Fresenius Medical Care, 
Roche, Johnson & Johnson, Pfizer, ChemoCentryx 
and many more.

Respect is part of our DNA. Respect for patients, 
our communities, our employees and for our 
competitors. 

In a highly competitive field, we increasingly 
attract the best talent in our industry. With  
five expected launches ahead in Europe, commer-
cial and medical excellence becomes ever  
more critical and we will benefit greatly from the 
leadership of our new Chief Medical Officer, 
Dr. Klaus Henning Jensen, and President Interna-
tional, Lee Heeson joining the Executive Commit-
tee in early 2020. Our Board of Directors was 
further strengthened during the year by the 
election of Dr. Sue Mahony and Kim Stratton, 
taking over from Daniela Bosshardt-Hengartner, 
Dr. Sylvie Grégoire and Fritz Hirsbrunner, who 
stepped down after many years of distinguished 
service. 

The high quality of our business and our solid 
financial basis was reflected with the award of 
an investment grade rating by Standard & Poor’s. 
Vifor Pharma Group is the smallest pharmaceutical 
company ever to receive this rating, which pro-
vides us with flexibility for the future as we look to 
invest in the next wave of innovation and growth.

We continued to be endorsed by partners of the 
highest calibre. During 2019, we announced a 
collaboration with Johnson & Johnson to commer-
cialise Invokana® in the US to nephrologists for 
patients with diabetic kidney disease; we expanded 
our agreement with Akebia for vadadustat in the 
US; and we established a joint venture with 
Evotec to discover and develop novel nephrology 
therapies. 

One of the reasons that we attract great partners 
is because we are seen as a responsible company, 
committed to conducting business with integrity, 
focusing on patients, valuing our employees, 
caring about the environment and engaging with 
the communities in which we operate. By 
 upholding these principles, which are the five 
pillar foundation of our corporate responsibility 
approach, we are demonstrating our determi-
nation to lead by example and to remain at the 
forefront of our industry.

I would like to thank all our employees, who  
are our most valuable asset and who delivered 
this outstanding performance for our patients 
and shareholders. We look forward with optimism 
to a great future as we develop and define 
Objective 2025.

Yours sincerely, 

Etienne Jornod 
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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PRESIDENT OF THE EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE AND COO

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

By executing on our three strategic growth drivers, 
investing in our pipeline and ensuring we have  
the right people and organisation for success,  
Vifor Pharma Group continued to make excellent 
progress in 2019.

Ferinject®/Injectafer® reached blockbuster status, 
reinforcing its position as the world’s leading 
intravenous (i.v.) iron product, supported by almost 
12 million patient years of experience. This out-
standing achievement demonstrates our execution 
capability in a market we have created together  
with our partners by investing in disease awareness 
initiatives. Major growth opportunities remain due 
to high unmet medical need for the treatment of iron 
deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia, as well  
as our plans to expand geographically. In March, 
Ferinject® became the first high-dose i.v. iron 
approved in Japan, and we are preparing for 
regulatory submissions in China in 2020.

In nephrology, the success of our joint company 
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma was 
driven by strong performance in the US. Revenues 
from the long-acting erythropoiesis-stimulating 
agent Mircera® benefited from continued expansion 
in the US mid-sized and independent dialysis 
segments. Venofer® remained the world’s leading 
i.v. iron brand in volume terms. 

Veltassa®, our innovative therapy for the manage-
ment of hyperkalaemia in chronic kidney disease 
(CKD) and heart failure patients, continued to 

“ With our three strategic growth 
drivers and the exciting potential 
of our pipeline, we are confident 
we can deliver our Milestone  
2020 targets.”

STEFAN SCHULZE 
President of the Executive Committee  
and Chief Operating Officer, 
Vifor Pharma Group
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transform treatment options and grow in line with 
expectations. At the end of 2019, Veltassa® had 
been prescribed to more than 120,000 patients in 
the US and Europe. The positive results from  
the AMBER study showed Veltassa®’s potential to 
help patients with resistant hypertension and  
CKD and to maintain optimal treatment. Our focus 
is also to generate additional data demonstrating 
Veltassa®’s benefits in cardiology so we can 
continue to expand the market to help patients 
with hyperkalaemia. In May, we enrolled the first 
patient in the global DIAMOND study to evaluate 
Veltassa® in combination with RAAS inhibitors. 

With the expected outcome data of the DIAMOND 
study and continued successful roll-out across 
Europe, we are confident Veltassa® is on track to 
achieve block buster status. This includes encourag-
ing reimbursement decisions, such as the positive 
recommendation from NICE in the UK, and com-
mercial partnerships signed in Japan and Canada.

In addition to our strategic growth drivers, we are 
excited about the potential of our pipeline. Our 
ferroportin inhibitor VIT-2763, being developed 
in-house for the treatment of the rare blood 
disorder, beta-thalassemia, received orphan drug 
designation for this indication from both the  
FDA and EMA in 2019. A phase-II study was 
initiated in Q4.

In November, we were delighted to report 
together with our partner ChemoCentryx, 
positive topline data for avacopan’s phase-III 
ADVOCATE trial for the treatment of ANCA- 
associated vasculitis. By successfully meeting 
both primary endpoints and establishing superi-
ority at keeping patients in disease remission at 
12 months, our belief in avacopan as a new 
treatment option for AAV patients was confirmed. 
By reducing the risks of current standard of care 
and improving patient experience, the outcome is 
of high clinical relevance and a long awaited 
improvement in the treatment paradigm.

With our proven execution capability we believe 
Rayaldee®, the rare kidney disease therapies  

CCX140 and avacopan, CR845 and vadadustat will 
generate significant growth alongside Veltassa® 
and Ferinject®, and will establish us as the global 
leader in nephrology. 

Our strategy remains to drive growth in our key 
therapeutic areas, through a combination of 
commercial deals, in-licensed innovation, in-house 
discovery and relevant acquisitions. This was 
demonstrated in 2019 by both the agreement to 
co-market Janssen’s Invokana® for diabetic kidney 
disease in the US, and the announcement of our 
exciting nephrology drug discovery and develop-
ment joint venture with Evotec.

We continue to have the right people and 
 organisation in place to drive our transformation 
into a true product launch and commercialisation 
engine. The hard work and dedication of our 
employees across the business has been, and will 
continue to be, instrumental to our success.

In 2019, the newly created Patient, Innovation and 
Access Policy function helped strengthen conver-
sations with patients and patient groups. The 
launch of a Patient Academy will give us valuable 
insights on patient needs in key therapy areas,  
as well as for rare conditions such as ANCA-associ-
ated vasculitis and beta-thalassemia. 

With these very encouraging results, we have 
confidence to deliver our Milestone 2020 targets, 
to become the global leader in iron deficiency, 
nephrology and cardio-renal therapies and  
to achieve our vision to helping patients around 
the world lead better, healthier lives.

Yours sincerely, 

 

Stefan Schulze 
President of the Executive Committee  
and Chief Operating Officer
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 2019

4.67 524.8 75.7
CHF MILLION CHF %

+18.5
+37.9

%

%

CORE EARNINGS 
PER SHARE ¹ EQUITY RATIO

CASH FLOW FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

NET SALES

EBITDA

+12.2% +331.0 MILLION CHF +0.9 P.P.

1,877.2

540.0

MILLION CHF

MILLION CHF

1 Core earnings are defined as reported 
earnings after minorities adjusted  
for amortisation of intangible assets.
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561.0

523.4 MILLION  
CHF

MILLION  
CHF

132.3 MILLION  
CHF

TOTAL FERINJECT®/INJECTAFER® NET SALES

MIRCERA® NET SALES

VELTASSA® NET SALES

+15.6%

+16.0%

+46.2%
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OUR VISION, MISSION, STRATEGY

VISION

To be global leader in iron deficiency, nephrology and 
cardio-renal therapies. The partner of choice for specialty 
pharmaceuticals and innovative, patient-focused solutions.  

MISSION 

We strive to help patients around the world with severe  
and chronic diseases lead better, healthier lives. 

STRATEGY 

Building on our history of global leadership in the treat-
ment of iron deficiency, we are using our expertise in 
 research and development, in-licensing, manufacturing, 
regulatory affairs and commercialisation to become  
a global leader in nephrology and to expand into cardio- 
renal therapies. By leveraging our unique competitive 
strengths to in-license promising new products and com-
pounds, we are building strong partnerships. Using our 
in-house development expertise in iron-based therapies, 
we are bringing innovative products and services to 
 patients around the world.

STRATEGIC GROWTH DRIVERS 

Ferinject®/Injectafer® 
Nephrology (Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma) 
Veltassa® 
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OUR COMPANY 

At Vifor Pharma, our people are our most valuable 
resource. We cultivate a unique culture for 
an agile business, bringing our values of Entre-
preneurship, Respect and Teamwork to life.  
We continue to leverage these, our culture and 
heritage, as a source of competitive advantage. 
We encourage employees to make an impact in 
their work, and to listen to the patients we serve 
to achieve our vision of becoming the global 
leader in iron deficiency, nephrology and cardio- 
renal therapies.

Vifor Pharma is responding to an evolving 
healthcare environment by bringing patients and 
their representatives to the centre of everything 
we do. In 2019, we created a new Patient, Innova-
tion and Access Policy function to help strengthen 
the dialogue with patients and patient advocacy 
groups in our core therapy areas, including iron 
deficiency, nephrology and cardio-renal, as well 
as rare conditions such as ANCA-associated 
vasculitis and beta-thalassemia. In addition, the 
launch of Vifor Pharma’s Patient Academy 
provides a platform for regular interaction 
between patient representatives and employees. 
The initiative is designed to educate our employ-
ees on the patient burden of living with a disease, 
the needs of patients and patient groups, and  
the importance of involving them from the 
beginning in strategic decisions which may affect 
them. We hope that, together, we can continue 
making an impact through improved products, 
faster access and by creating a policy environ-
ment which puts patient safety and quality of life 
at its core. 

As a global specialty pharmaceutical company, 
we recognise and actively manage our responsi-
bilities towards society and the environment.  
We are committed to conducting business with 
integrity, engaging with patients, valuing our 
employees, caring about the environment and 
engaging with the communities in which we 
operate. By upholding these principles, we are 
demonstrating our determination to lead by 

example and to remain at the forefront of our 
industry. 

OUR MARKETS 

Vifor Pharma operates in the international iron 
deficiency, nephrology and cardio-renal markets 
directly and through partnerships. Factors influenc-
ing the global market for pharmaceuticals include 
continued population growth, people living longer 
and rising wealth, particularly in developing 
economies, leading to increased global expendi-
ture on healthcare and medicines. At the same 
time, the industry is facing pressures to reduce 
the costs of healthcare in most markets, challeng-
es over pricing levels for innovative medicines 
and competition from generic products.

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

The products of Vifor Pharma are present in more 
than one hundred countries through a unique 
combination of own commercial operations and 
collaborations with market-leading partners. 
Partnering is essential to our growth strategy. 
Relationships with some of the most renowned 
companies in the world are a cornerstone  
of our success. Vifor Pharma has become a 
partner of choice for industry leaders including  
F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG, Pfizer Inc., Janssen 
Pharmaceuticals Inc., part of the Janssen Pharma-
ceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson and 
Daiichi Sankyo, Inc., and for smaller biotech 
companies such as ChemoCentryx, Inc., Evotec 
SE, OPKO Health Inc., Cara Therapeutics, Inc., 
and Akebia Therapeutics Inc. 

Through partnerships, we continue to expand  
our portfolio in iron deficiency, nephrology and 
cardio-renal therapies by in-licensing innovative 
late-stage assets, establishing complementary 
joint ventures and focusing on early-stage 
research and development in iron chemistry and 
biology, where we have proven capabilities.  
We invest in order to drive growth in established 
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pharmaceutical markets including the US and 
Europe. In Japan our strategy is to work with best- 
in-class local partners. In China, we are expand-
ing our access to the second largest pharmaceuti-
cal market in the world through new strategic 
partnerships.

In March 2017, the Company set the ambitious 
objective to deliver net sales of more than CHF 2 
billion in 2020. To achieve this, Vifor Pharma has 
focused on its three key strategic growth drivers: 
Ferinject®/Injectafer®, nephrology – driven by our 
joint company, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal 
Pharma (VFMCRP), and Veltassa®. It is important 
to highlight that Ferinject®/Injectafer® achieved 
blockbuster status in 2019, with more than CHF 1 
billion of in-market sales.

OUR THERAPY AREAS

IRON DEFICIENCY 

Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia are 
highly common conditions present in up to one 
third of people worldwide.1 Iron is a fundamental 
mineral needed to produce haemoglobin,  
a protein in red blood cells that carries oxygen 
around the body. Iron deficiency indicates  
a condition in which iron levels are below the 
minimal threshold. If iron levels fall too low and 
are not treated, the body is unable to produce 
an adequate amount of haemoglobin and 
healthy red blood cells. This condition is called 
iron deficiency anaemia which results in symp-
toms affecting quality of life. It particularly 
affects those suffering from chronic diseases, 
such as chronic heart failure, chronic kidney 
disease and inflammatory bowel diseases, 
women of reproductive age, pregnant women 
and in post-partum. Despite its high prevalence 
and potentially serious consequences in certain 

1 Vos, T., et al (2016). Global, regional, and national incidence, 
prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases 
and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global 
Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet, 388(10053), 
1545–1602. 

patient populations, iron deficiency and iron 
deficiency anaemia remains under-diagnosed 
and under-treated.

Vifor Pharma has been a pioneer in the develop-
ment of iron-based products and has established 
itself as the global leader in the treatment of iron 
deficiency. Our leadership is built on our scientific, 
regulatory and commercial expertise, resulting  
in the creation of globally trusted brands including 
Venofer® and Maltofer® and our strategic growth 
driver Ferinject®/Injectafer®.

There are major opportunities to further increase 
and expand the use of our intravenous and  
oral iron products, both in key therapy areas and 
geographically. With our partners, we are commit-
ted to increasing awareness of iron deficiency  
and iron deficiency anaemia, and its impact on 
people’s lives. We are continuously strengthening 
our medical education activities to better inform 
clinicians about treatment options. We are generat-
ing extensive clinical data in areas of high unmet 
medical need, including those areas with signifi-
cant growth potential such as chronic heart failure, 
chronic kidney disease and patient blood manage-
ment (PBM). Iron deficiency and iron deficiency 
anaemia management plays a key role in PBM, 
a fast-growing field designed to improve surgical 
and medical outcomes by optimally managing  
and preserving patient’s blood.

NEPHROLOGY

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is relatively com-
mon among adults, with prevalence of up to 13%2 
and rising as the population ages. Diabetes  
and hypertension are the main contributors to the 
risk factors for CKD, which cannot be reversed. 
Medication is often used to treat complications 
and slow further kidney damage.

2 Hill, N. R., et al (2016) Global Prevalence of Chronic Kidney 
Disease- A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLOS ONE.
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IRON DEFICIENCY NEPHROLOGY CARDIO-RENAL

Vifor Pharma is committed to delivering innova-
tion to nephrology patients worldwide, offering 
the broadest range of products and solutions  
in a number of conditions related to declining 
renal function: renal anaemia management, 
mineral and bone disease management, kidney 
function preservation and improvement, and 
conditions associated with kidney impairment  
and its treatment. Our highly diversified port-
folio includes Ferinject®/Injectafer®, Veltassa®, 
Venofer®, Mircera®, Retacrit™, vadadustat, 
Velphoro®, Rayaldee®, Invokana®, avacopan, 
CCX140 and CR845.

Our presence in the global nephrology market is 
built primarily around the joint company VFMCRP, 
which combines Vifor Pharma’s expertise in 
pharmaceuticals with the skills and infrastructure 
of Fresenius Medical Care, the world’s leading 
provider of products and services for people with 

chronic kidney failure. This unique collaboration 
provides access to an extensive patient pool 
which has allowed for the utilisation of patient 
management systems, ensuring the optimum 
outcome for patients and helping to shape and 
improve the standard of care for future 
 generations. 

In November, Vifor Pharma announced a partner-
ship with Janssen Pharmaceuticals to jointly 
commercialise Invokana® (canagliflozin) in the US 
to treat diabetic kidney disease (DKD) and reduce 
the risk of hospitalisation for heart failure in 
patients with type 2 diabetes and DKD. Vifor 
Pharma also created a jointly owned drug discov-
ery and development platform for innovative 
nephrology therapeutics with Evotec to pursue 
a precision medicine approach for the treatment 
of kidney diseases. This approach takes into 
account individual variability in genes, environ-

* Pre-commercial products

LEADING PORTFOLIO IN TARGET THERAPY AREAS 
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ment and lifestyle, enabling the development  
of more accurate and effective treatment and 
prevention strategies.

CARDIO-RENAL 

Cardio-renal is a therapy area which addresses 
the interplay between the heart and kidneys, 
where the condition or treatment of one organ 
can impact the other. A multi-specialty approach 
involving cardiologists, nephrologists and 
internists is key to delivering optimal outcomes 
for patients. Comorbidities, such as iron deficiency 
and hyperkalaemia, are recognised as common 
and important clinical issues for cardio-renal 
patients. Vifor Pharma aims to become a signifi-
cant provider of cardio-renal therapies, initially 
through Ferinject®/Injectafer® and Veltassa®.

Ferinject®/Injectafer® has an established record 
in the treatment of iron deficiency and iron 
deficiency anaemia in heart failure and CKD. Iron 
deficiency affects approximately 50% of people 
with heart failure3 and up to 70% of those with 
CKD.4 Iron deficiency increases mortality risk in 
cardio-renal patients.5 Treatment of iron defi-
ciency in cardio-renal patients has resulted  
in improvement in symptoms, quality of life and 
exercise capacity.6 

3 Klip, I.T., et al (2013) Iron deficiency in chronic heart failure:  
An international pooled analysis. American Heart Journal. 
165(4): 575–582.e3.

4 Fishbane, S., Pollack, S., Feldman, H. I., & Joffe, M. M. (2009). 
Iron Indices in Chronic Kidney Disease in the National Health 
and Nutritional Examination Survey 1988–2004. Clinical 
Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 4(1), 57–61.

5 Klip, I.T., et al. (2014). The additive burden of iron deficiency  
in the cardiorenal-anaemia axis: scope of a problem and  
its consequences. European Journal of Heart Failure, 16(6), 
655–662.

6 Ponikowski, P., et al. (2015). The impact of intravenous ferric 
carboxymaltose on renal function: an analysis of the FAIR-HF 
study. European Journal of Heart Failure, 17(3), 329–339.

In addition to iron deficiency, Vifor Pharma is 
focused on the treatment of hyperkalaemia 
through Veltassa®, the first new therapy for the 
condition approved in the US and Europe for 
more than 50 years. Hyperkalaemia is a significant 
market opportunity for Vifor Pharma, with an 
estimated three million patients affected in both 
the US7 and Europe8, and a further one million  
in Japan.9

Hyperkalaemia, or abnormally elevated levels  
of potassium in the blood, is a serious problem 
for cardio-renal patients, which can lead to 
cardiac arrhythmias, cardiac arrest and death, 
with a mortality rate of up to 30%. Recurrent 
hyperkalaemia occurs frequently in CKD patients 
who also suffer from hypertension or diabetes, 
with or without heart failure.10 It is often triggered 
by treatment with RAASi (renin-angiotensin- 
aldosterone system) inhibitors, which are a 
cornerstone of treatment for conditions11 includ-
ing hypertension and heart failure. As a conse-
quence, RAASi therapy is often reduced or 
discontinued, compromising cardio-renal 
protection. A key goal of treatment with Veltassa® 
is to enable patients to remain on RAASi therapy 
by managing their chronic hyperkalaemia.

7 United States Renal Data System. (2013) Annual Data Report.
8 De Nicola, L., Zoccali, C. (2016) Chronic Kidney Disease 

prevalence in the general population: Heterogeneity and 
concerns. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 31,331–335.

9 Saito, Y et al (2017). Incidence of and risk factors for newly 
diagnosed hyperkalemia after hospital discharge in 
non- dialysis-dependent CKD patients treated with RAS 
inhibitors. PlosOne,12 (9).

10 Einhorn, L. M., et al. (2009). The Frequency of Hyperkalemia 
and Its Significance in Chronic Kidney Disease. Archives of 
Internal Medicine, 169(12), 1156.

11 Ponikowski, P., et al. (2016). 2016 ESC Guidelines for the 
diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. 
European Heart Journal, 37(27), 2129–2200.
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PERFORMANCE  
OVERVIEW 

KEY PROFIT AND LOSS FIGURES

Vifor Pharma Group net sales grew to 
CHF 1,877.2 million, a strong increase of 18.5% 
compared to the previous year, or 18.4% in local 
currency. The growth was mainly driven by 
Ferinject®/Injectafer®, Mircera®, Velphoro® and 
Veltassa®. EBITDA increased to CHF 540.0 
million compared to CHF 391.5 million in the 
previous year, or +37.9%. 

The Group made changes to its defined benefit 
pension plan (IAS 19) in 2019 which resulted in 
a positive impact on EBITDA of CHF 27.2 million. 
Excluding this IAS 19 impact, EBITDA grew to 
CHF 512.8 million or by 31.0%.

Other income declined to CHF 38.4 million from 
CHF 64.6 million in 2018. This was primarily due 
to the expected decrease of royalty payments 
from CellCept® due to the sunset clause as well 
as lower income from partnering activities. 

Cost of sales amounted to CHF 761.5 million 
compared to CHF 648.7 million in the previous 
year, resulting in a gross profit margin of  
60.3% compared to 60.7% in the prior period. 
The slight decrease was primarily due to the 
decline in other income.

Marketing and distribution expenses amounted 
to CHF 455.3 million compared to CHF 410.8 
million in the previous year. The main drivers 
were the investments in pre-launch activities of 
our pipeline products and the continued  
roll-out of Veltassa®.

Investments in research and development 
amounted to CHF 228.3 million compared to 
CHF 206.4 million in the previous year. The 
increase was driven by the DIAMOND study  
for Veltassa®.

General and administration expenses amounted 
to CHF 145.7 million compared to CHF 155.9 
million in the previous year. The decrease is mainly 
attributable to cost containment and the excep-

tional income resulting from the previously 
mentioned changes to the defined benefit 
pension plan (IAS 19).

The average number of full-time employees 
(FTE) amounted to 2,792 in 2019, compared to 
2,671 in 2018. The increase of 121 FTEs is 
primarily driven by investments in preparation 
for the launch of the pipeline products from 
2021 onward.

Depreciation and amortisation amounted to 
CHF 215.0 million compared to CHF 164.1 
million in the previous year. Of these amounts, 
82.8% and 89.4%, respectively, are recorded 
under cost of sales. The increase of CHF 50.9 
million compared to 2018 is mainly due to 
amortisation of Mircera® intellectual property 
rights and from the adoption of the new lease 
standard (IFRS 16).

The net financial result amounted to 
an expense of CHF 15.4 million compared to 
an income of CHF 42.0 million in the previous 
year. The decrease compared to 2018 is mainly 
due to the foreign exchange gain of CHF 42.9 
million in 2018 on USD-denominated intercom-
pany loans which were repaid on 30 June 2018. 
In addition, the 2019 result was impacted by 
a net unrealised foreign exchange loss of 
CHF 13.5 million on USD balance sheet positions 
at year-end.

Tax expense amounted to CHF 35.9 million in 
2019 corresponding to an effective tax rate  
of 11.6%. The approval of the Swiss tax reform  
in May 2019 had an immaterial impact of just 
CHF 1.7 million (tax income).

Net profit after minorities increased slightly to 
CHF 159.1 million compared to CHF 152.4 million 
in the previous year. The result was caused by 
the previously mentioned decrease in net 
financial result and the changes to the defined 
benefit pension plan (IAS 19). 
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Core earnings per share amounted to  
CHF 4.67, an increase of 12.2% compared to 
CHF 4.16 in 2018. Excluding the exceptional  
FX gain in the previous year and the positive 
impact from IAS 19 in the current year, core 
earnings per share increased by 23.2%. Core 
earnings are defined as reported earnings  
after minorities adjusted for proportionate 
amortisation of intangible assets of CHF 143.9 
million in 2019 (2018: CHF 117.5 million).

CASH FLOWS 

As a result of the strong operating cash flow, 
Vifor Pharma Group achieved a net cash 
position of CHF 5.7 million at the end of 2019 
compared to a net debt position of CHF 179.7 
million at the end of 2018. 

Cash flow from operating activities amounted 
to CHF +524.8 million compared to CHF +193.8 
million in the previous year. The increase is due 
to the strong operating result of Vifor Pharma in 
2019 as well as an optimised net working capital. 

Cash flow from investing activities amounted 
to CHF –132.5 million mainly due to upfront and 
milestone payments for in-licensing agreements 
of CHF –88.2 million. 

Cash flow from financing activities amounted 
to CHF –238.5 million and was mainly influenced 
by dividend distributions of CHF –174.7 million, 
whereof CHF –45.0 million was paid to Fresenius 
Medical Care and CHF –129.7 million was 
distributed to shareholders of Vifor Pharma.

FINANCIAL POSITION 

Goodwill and intangible assets amounted to 
CHF 2,584.5 million at the end of 2019 com-
pared to CHF 2,676.0 million at the end of 2018, 
representing 52.4% of total assets (2018: 59.5%). 
New investments such as the extension of 
Mircera® commercialisation rights were more 
than fully compensated with amortisation  
of Veltassa® and Mircera®.

Financial assets amounted to CHF 510.3 million 
at the end of 2019 compared to CHF 208.2 
million at the end of 2018. The increase is mainly 
due to the fair value gain on our equity invest-
ment in ChemoCentryx, Inc. following the 
successful result of the phase-III ADVOCATE  
trial in November 2019.

With CHF 3,735.3 million of shareholders’ 
equity, Vifor Pharma Group had a strong equity 
ratio of 75.7% at the end of 2019 (2018: 74.8%). 
The increase is mainly due to the strong operating 
result and the fair value gain on our equity 
investment in ChemoCentryx, Inc. 

The return on equity after minorities amounted 
to 5.0% in 2019, unchanged compared to 2018.
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2020 OUTLOOK  
AND FINANCIAL GUIDANCE

10%

25%

NET SALES EXPECTED GROWTH

EBITDA EXPECTED TO INCREASE

“ Net sales and EBITDA exceeded 
raised full-year  guidance as a 
result of continued execution of 
the three key  strategic growth 
drivers.”

COLIN BOND 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Vifor Pharma Group

BY APPROX.

MORE THAN
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OUTLOOK: CONTINUED GROWTH IN NET SALES AND EBITDA 

MARKET ACCESS 

Ferinject® is expected to launch in Japan in H1 2020, subject to  
the successful conclusion of reimbursement negotiations. 

We continue our go-to-market strategy in China for Ferinject®  
and plan to file in China in H1 2020.

Following positive topline data for the avacopan pivotal phase-III 
ADVOCATE trial announced in 2019, filing in Europe is expected  
in 2020.

CLINICAL TRIALS 

Results from the phase-IV AFFIRM-AHF trial are expected in H2 2020.  
It is the first study designed to evaluate the benefit of Ferinject® on 
hospitalisations and mortality in iron deficient patients admitted for 
an episode of acute heart failure.

Results for KALM-2, a second pivotal phase-III trial for CR845, for the 
treatment of chronic kidney disease-associated pruritus, are expected 
in Q2 2020.

Top-line results for the INNO2VATE phase-III trials for vadadustat  
in dialysis patients, are expected in Q2 2020.

Two CCX140 clinical phase-II trials, LUMINA 1 and LUMINA 2, for the 
treatment of patients with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, are 
ongoing. Results from the LUMINA 1 trial are expected in Q2 2020.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

During the course of 2020, we aim to complete at least one in-licensing, 
product acquisition or corporate transaction. 

FINANCIAL GUIDANCE

In 2020 at constant exchange rates, 
Vifor Pharma net sales are expected to 
grow in the range of 10%, reported 
EBITDA is expected to grow by more 
than 25%.
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OUR PRODUCTS
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KEY GROWTH DRIVERS

FERINJECT®/INJECTAFER®

OUR PRODUCTS

Our first strategic growth driver, Ferinject®/
Injectafer® (ferric carboxymaltose), is the market- 
leading intravenous (i.v.) iron therapy with 49.7% 
market share by value in 2019. In the US, 
Ferinject® is commercialised under the brand 
name Injectafer®. Ferinject®/Injectafer® has 
received market approval in 82 countries and has 
generated nearly 12 million patient years of 
experience supporting its efficacy and safety 
profile. In 2019, Ferinject®/Injectafer® achieved 
blockbuster status, with more than CHF 1 billion 
of in-market sales. 

Ferinject®/ Injectafer® continues to unlock the 
broad unmet medical need for the treatment  
of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in 
key therapy areas. Iron deficiency and iron 
deficiency anaemia are serious conditions with 
a wide range of debilitating symptoms which can 
result in a significant reduction in quality of life. 
Among others, iron deficiency and iron deficiency 
anaemia are especially common in patients who 
suffer from chronic kidney disease (CKD), heart 
failure and inflammatory bowel disease. It is also 
a complication affecting patients in preoperative 
and perioperative situations, as well as pre- 

“ The products of Vifor Pharma  
are present in more than one 
hundred countries through  
a unique combination of our 
own commercial operations 
and  collaborations with  
market- leading partners.”

BARBARA ANGEHRN 
Chief Business Officer, 
Vifor Pharma Group
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IN-MARKET SALES IN 2019

Vifor Pharma closely monitors in-market sales to 
determine actual growth rates of the product. 
The latest available data showed global in-market 
sales of Ferinject®/Injectafer® of CHF 1.06 billion 
in 2019, up 19.1% from the previous year. In-market 
sales of Injectafer® in the US were CHF 502.4 
million in 2019, up 20.0% from CHF 418.5 million 
in 2018. 

INJECTAFER® (US)

In the US, Injectafer® continued to drive i.v.  
iron market growth. Vifor Pharma’s US partner 
American Regent, Inc., a Daiichi Sankyo Group 
company, recorded net sales of USD 444.8 million 
in 2019, an increase of 16.6%. This strong double- 
digit net sales growth occurred despite one-time 
sales gains in 2018 due to a US market shortage 
of a competitor product.

Growth continued in all key therapy areas, 
particularly gastroenterology, with in-market sales 
growth of 25%, and patient blood management 
(PBM)1, up 30%. There remains significant market 
opportunity in the US and in 2019, American 
Regent and Daiichi Sankyo expanded their 
promotional strategy among gynaecologists to 
increase awareness of the unmet need to treat 
anaemia in female patients. At the end of 2019, 
American Regent and Daiichi Sankyo embarked 
on two additional direct-to-patient disease 
awareness initiatives designed to highlight the 
importance of anaemia diagnosis. The first  
of these is a branded television campaign to 
increase awareness among oral iron-treated 
anaemia patients about the benefits of Injectafer®. 
The second is an unbranded campaign to increase 
awareness among untreated female patients  
of the importance of having potential anaemia 
diagnosed.

1 Vifor Pharma (MAT Q3-2018 to MAT.Q3-2019). Data on file

menopausal women, including women affected 
by heavy menstrual bleeding and in peri-partum.

Vifor Pharma is working diligently with stakehold-
ers to further improve awareness and benefit the 
lives of patients where there is high unmet medical 
need. For instance, one in every two heart failure 
patients suffers from iron deficiency or iron 
deficiency anaemia but only a small fraction of 
these patients are diagnosed and treated. 
Ferinject®/ Injectafer® has been proven to signifi-
cantly increase quality of life and reduce the need 
for hospitalisations in this patient population. The 
majority of heart failure patients with this condition 
are either not diagnosed or inadequately treated 
despite recommendations for Ferinject® treatment 
in relevant heart failure treatment guidelines.

In 2019, Vifor Pharma continued its global 
commitment to helping patients by further 
strengthening its Ferinject®/ Injectafer® partner 
business and expanding availability of the 
product worldwide. In addition, the company has 
continued to build global disease awareness  
of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia, 
and is conducting a number of lifecycle-manage-
ment activities to further demonstrate the strong 
safety and tolerability profile of the product.

NET SALES IN 2019

Net sales of Ferinject®/Injectafer® increased  
to CHF 561.0 million in 2019, up 15.6% from 
CHF 485.1 million in the previous year or up 17.5% 
at constant exchange rates. Adjusting for year-
end inventory impacts and increased demand in 
2018 due to INFeD shortages, year-over-year 
growth of Ferinject®/ Injectafer® was 20.1%. 

In 2019, global growth in Ferinject®/ Injectafer® 
was driven primarily by cardiology, patient  
blood management (PBM), and nephrology. With 
significant unmet medical need in key markets 
around the world, Ferinject®/Injectafer® reported 
net sales are expected to continue to grow in the 
high double-digit millions.
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THERAPY AREAS WITH HIGH UNMET NEED

Cardiology 
Vifor Pharma is committed to further building 
disease awareness, improving diagnosis and 
ensuring treatment in therapy areas with high 
unmet need. Global efforts to raise awareness of 
iron deficiency in chronic heart failure were 
supported by a strong presence at two major 
European cardiology congresses in 2019 –  
the Heart Failure Association (HFA) congress in 
Athens in May and the European Society of 
Cardiology (ESC) congress in Paris in August. 
Current ESC Heart Failure guidelines highlight 
the need to screen and diagnose iron deficiency 
in every newly diagnosed heart failure patient, 
and recommend Ferinject® as the treatment 
option for chronic heart failure patients with iron 
deficiency, with or without anaemia. 

In 2019, continuing medical education (CME) 
initiatives were led by various activities on 
Medscape, a leading medical information plat-
form for clinicians. Supported by a grant from 
Vifor Pharma, Medscape launched five independ-
ent educational programmes, focusing on the 
screening, diagnosis and guideline-recommended 
treatment of iron deficiency in heart failure 
patients. Over 2,000 cardiologists in key European 
countries have participated in these freely 
available educational programmes to increase 
their knowledge. Overall, 30,000 cardiologists, 
nephrologists and primary care physicians 
worldwide (excluding the US) have taken part. 

Patient Blood Management
A key therapy area with high growth potential  
is patient blood management (PBM) in preopera-
tive and perioperative anaemia situations. In  
2019, Vifor Pharma continued to pursue its aim of 
becoming a key partner for hospitals, with the 
intention of making PBM, including iron deficiency/ 
anaemia management, a standard care practice. 
PBM is designed to improve surgical and medical 
patient outcomes by optimally managing and 
preserving patient’s blood by proactively identi-
fying anaemia and correcting operative anaemia 
with Ferinject®/ Injectafer®. An estimated  
1 million patients could benefit from PBM in  
the EU’s five largest countries.2

Evidence strongly suggests that anaemia treat-
ment before surgery with Ferinject®/Injectafer® 
leads to improved patient outcomes, including 
reduced length of hospital stay3 (up to 2.7 days 
fewer), reduced re-admission rates (from 13.5% to 
8.2%4) and a reduction in blood transfusions.  
In colorectal cancer patients for example, the need 

2 Vifor Pharma analysis [Countries include DE, ES, FR, IT, UK] 
(Q1 2018)

3 Kotzé, A., Carter, L. A., & Scally, A. J. (2012). Effect of a patient 
blood management programme on preoperative anaemia, 
transfusion rate, and outcome after primary hip or knee 
arthroplasty: a quality improvement cycle. British Journal of 
Anaesthesia, 108(6), 943–952. 

4 Calleja, J. L., et al. (2015). Ferric carboxymaltose reduces 
transfusions and hospital stay in patients with colon cancer 
and anemia. International Journal of Colorectal Disease,  
31(3), 543–551. 
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to transfuse patients went down from 38.7% to 
9.9%.5 It also leads to a significant reduction in 
costs for the hospital.6 A recently published study 
conducted by the University Hospital Zurich, 
Switzerland, showed that the implementation of 
a PBM programme, including a monitoring 
system, led to product-related cost savings of 
CHF 12.7 million7 over four years. 

In 2019, PBM continued to gain momentum and 
support from international organisations. National 
and regional governments, including Catalonia, 
Spain, passed legislation to ensure public hospitals 
track key performance indicators linked to PBM. 
Barmer, Germany’s second-largest health insurer, 
published a paper highlighting the savings  
which could be achieved through PBM and 
pre-operative anaemia treatment.8

Nephrology
Vifor Pharma had a major presence at the 
 European Renal Association-European Dialysis 
and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) meeting 

5 Bisbe, E., García-Erce, J. A., Díez-Lobo, A. I., & Muñoz, M. (2011). 
A multicentre comparative study on the efficacy of intra-
venous ferric carboxymaltose and iron sucrose for correcting 
preoperative anaemia in patients undergoing major elective 
surgery. British Journal of Anaesthesia, 107(3), 477–478. 

6 Froessler, B., Rueger, A., & Connolly, M. (2018). Assessing  
the costs and benefits of perioperative iron deficiency anemia 
management with ferric carboxymaltose in Germany.  
Risk Management and Healthcare Policy, Volume 11, 77–82.

7 Kaserer, A., et al(2019). Impact of a Patient Blood Management 
monitoring and feedback programme on allogeneic blood 
transfusions and related costs. Anaesthesia. 4(12):1534–1541.

8 Augurzky, B., Decker, S., Hentschker, C., Mensen, A. (2019). 
Krankenhausreport 2019- Patient Blood Management. 
Available at barmer.de

in June 2019. It focused on promotional and 
medical activities highlighting the important role 
of iron – particularly i.v. iron in comparison to other 
available iron formulations – in the treatment of 
anaemia in CKD patients. The company continues 
to educate nephrologists about Ferinject®. 

Recent pharmacoeconomic analysis from a German 
claims database has demonstrated that Ferinject® 
significantly reduced general treatment costs  
for CKD patients diagnosed with iron deficiency 
and iron deficiency anaemia compared with oral 
iron. The results showed that the use of Ferinject® 
was associated with the highest cost savings 
compared to oral iron (–20%) and low-dose i.v. iron 
(–2.5%); the highest savings in hospitalisation costs 
(–11% compared to low-dose i.v. iron and –43% 
compared to oral); and lower length of hospitalisa-
tion stays (–1.9 days compared with low-dose  
i.v. iron and –3.3 days compared to oral iron).9  
This data is expected to be published in a peer- 
reviewed scientific journal in 2020. 

Commercial and medical affairs activities will 
continue in 2020, and will include the launch of 
an online medical education campaign and 
multichannel digital campaign in selected 
European countries. It will also involve real-world 
evidence data generation in France and Italy to 
show that the use of Ferinject® in iron deficiency 
anaemia patients with ND-CKD results in better 

9 Jennifer Scarlet Haas et al. (2018). The Treatment of Iron 
Deficiency/Anaemia in Patients with Non-Dialysis Chronic 
Kidney Disease in Germany – A Claims Database. Presented  
at the ISPOR 21st Annual European Congress,10–14.

FERINJECT®/INJECTAFER®: APPROVED IN 82 COUNTRIES WORLDWIDE

http://www.barmer.de
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health economic outcomes compared with 
patients treated with oral or low-dose i.v. iron.

Other disease awareness initiatives
On 26 November, Iron Deficiency Day, Vifor 
Pharma’s annual international awareness initia-
tive, was promoted in 25 countries around  
the world. Running for the fifth year, this global 
campaign is designed to educate patients,  
key opinion leaders, healthcare providers and the 
general public about the symptoms and treat-
ment options for iron deficiency and iron deficien-
cy anaemia. For the first time, Vifor Pharma 
partnered with the World Heart Federation to 
support a round table discussion by leading 
stakeholders in Brussels on the need to screen 
and treat iron deficiency in heart failure patients. 
Additional international organisations supporting 
the programme included the European Kidney 
Health Alliance, The Heart Failure Policy Network 
and the Anaemia Community.

GEOGRAPHIC EXPANSION 

China
Post balance sheet reporting February 2020,  
Vifor Pharma announced a strategic partnership 
with Fresenius Kabi in China to create a new  
joint company based in the People’s Republic of 
China, expanding its existing alliance with  
the Fresenius Group and gaining access to the 
second largest pharmaceutical market in the 
world.10 Fresenius Kabi, part of the Fresenius 
Group, is among the top ten multinational 
pharmaceutical companies in China, specialising 
in infusion, transfusion and clinical nutrition. 

As part of the agreement, Vifor Pharma and 
Fresenius Kabi will together create a joint company 
which will focus on marketing, market access and 
medical affairs activities for the intravenous iron 
portfolio. The joint company will be 55% owned by 
Vifor Pharma and 45% by Fresenius Kabi. Fresenius 

10 The Global Use of Medicine in 2019 and Outlook to 2023: 
Institute report (2019). Available at https://iqvia.com 

Kabi will be fully responsible for the commerciali-
sation of the intravenous iron portfolio in China, 
covering more than 20,000 anesthesiologists and 
25,000 surgeons in more than 2,000 Tier 3 
hospitals to support patient blood management 
(PBM), as well as working with HCPs for other 
indications including nephrology.

There is a high unmet medical need for Vifor 
Pharma’s intravenous iron products in China, with 
the country having the world’s largest iron 
deficiency anaemia population with prevalence 
estimated at 20%.11 At present, one of the primary 
interventions of iron deficiency anaemia are 
blood transfusions. As the world leader in iron 
deficiency management, Vifor Pharma’s 
 intravenous iron therapies offer new high quality, 
innovative therapeutic options to the medical 
community in China to engage in the more 
effective management of a patient’s own blood.

Following positive phase-III trial results in  
China, Ferinject® registration filing is expected  
in H1 2020.

Japan
Vifor Pharma continues to expand its geographical 
footprint in major pharmaceutical markets. In 
March 2019, our partner in Japan, Zeria Pharma-
ceutical Co., Ltd. received marketing authorisa-
tion for the manufacture and sale of Ferinject®. 
Ferinject® is the only high-dose i.v. iron approved 
on the Japanese market, where there is significant 
unmet medical need. It is expected that the 
product will be launched in H1 2020 subject to 
successful conclusion of ongoing reimbursement 
negotiations.

LIFE CYCLE MANAGEMENT 

Vifor Pharma continues to invest in clinical studies, 
including its own and investigator-initiated trials, 

11 Piao, J., Lai, J., Yin, S., Xu, J., Xu, Q., Yang, X. (2005).  
Study on the anemia status of Chinese population.  
Acta Nutrimenta Sinica. 27:268–271.

https://iqvia.com
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to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of 
Ferinject®/Injectafer® treatment in various patient 
groups. Heart failure is a key focus for ongoing 
and future clinical trials. Previous clinical studies 
(FAIR-HF, CONFIRM-HF, EFFECT-HF) have demon-
strated significant clinical benefits of Ferinject®  
in chronic heart failure patients with reduced 
ejection fraction and iron deficiency, including 
improving symptoms, quality of life and exercise 
capacity. Vifor Pharma supports two large 
mortality and morbidity outcome studies as part 
of its continued commitment to improving the 
lives of chronic heart failure patients.

AFFIRM-AHF study, conducted by Vifor Pharma,  
is a multicentre, randomised, controlled phase-IV 
trial. It is the first study designed to evaluate  
the benefit of Ferinject® on hospitalisations and 
mortality in iron deficient patients admitted for 
an episode of acute heart failure. In July 2019, the 
study was fully enrolled with 1,100 patients. Results 
are expected by the end of 2020, and should 
contribute to strengthening the body of evidence 
in the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) 
guidelines which are expected to be updated in 
2021, particularly around the role of iron and  
its management in heart failure. Ferinject® is the 
only iron therapy recommended in the ESC 
guidelines to improve clinical symptoms and 
quality of life in heart failure patients with iron 
deficiency. 

FAIR-HF2 is an investigator-initiated study, led  
by the University Medical Centre Hamburg- 
Eppendorf, Germany, and supported by the 
German Centre for Cardiovascular Research and 
a research grant from Vifor Pharma. The objective 
of this study is to demonstrate that treatment  
with Ferinject® can reduce recurrent heart failure 
hospitalisations and cardiovascular deaths  
in heart failure patients with iron deficiency. 
Approximately 1,200 patients will be enrolled  
and results are expected in 2021. 

Vifor Pharma also works with global partners to 
leverage the power of its network for the benefit 
of patients. Our US partner American Regent  

is conducting one of the largest studies of i.v. iron 
in heart failure, the HEART-FID study. HEART-FID  
is a double-blind, multicentre, prospective, 
randomised, placebo-controlled study to assess 
the efficacy and safety of Injectafer® in the 
treatment of patients with heart failure with 
reduced ejection fraction in iron deficiency 
patients. Enrolment in this study continued in 
2019, with results expected in 2022.12

Ferinject®/Injectafer® is a nanomedicine, designed 
to enhance the way that iron targets relevant 
areas in the body.13 Nanomedicines are composed 
of large, specially engineered complex molecular 
structures which must be carefully assembled 
from different chemical parts. The complex set  
of physical properties is dependent on a well- 
established proprietary manufacturing process. 
Follow-on nanomedicines, also referred to as 
nanosimilars, are not exact copies and may have 
different clinical profiles, meaning that therapeu-
tic equivalence and product is questionable.14 
The EMA has acknowledged the complexity of 
nanomedicines and is no longer using the 
generic pathway to grant market authorisation for 
nanosimilars.15 In the US, the FDA recognises 
nanomedicines as harder-to-copy complex drugs 
with potential legal, regulatory or scientific issues 
which should be addressed.16 

12 Randomized Placebo-controlled Trial of FCM as Treatment for 
Heart Failure With Iron Deficiency (HEART-FID) (2019).
Available at https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03037931

13 Choi, Y.H., Han, H. (2018) Nanomedicines: current status and 
future perspectives in aspect of drug delivery and pharma-
cokinetics. Journal of Pharmaceutical Investigation 48, 43–60. 
Flühmann, B., Ntai, I., Brorchard, G., Simoens, S., Mühlebach, S. 
(2018). Nanomedicines: The magic bullets reaching their target? 
European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 1;128:73–80.

14 Astier, A., et al., (2017). How to select a nanosimilar.  
Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1407(1), 50–62.

15 Klein, K., Stolk, P., De Bruin, M. L., Leufkens, H. G. M., 
Crommelin, D. J. A., & De Vlieger, J. S. B. (2019). The EU 
regulatory landscape of non-biological complex drugs 
(NBCDs) follow-on products: Observations and recommenda-
tions. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 
15;133:228–235.

16 U.S. Food and Drug Administration: Statement from  
FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D., on 2019 efforts  
to advance the development of complex generics  
to improve patient access to medicines. Available at  
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/
statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-2019- efforts-
advance-development-complex-generics

https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03037931
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-2019-efforts-advance-development-complex-generics
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NEPHROLOGY

The second strategic growth driver is our 
highly diversified nephrology portfolio which 
we continue to expand focusing on distinct 
comorbidities and complications in chronic 
kidney disease (CKD) patients. The portfolio 
is built around four primary disease areas 
within nephrology. This includes renal anae-
mia management, mineral and bone disease 
management, kidney function preservation 
and improvement and CKD-associated 
 complications.

Our presence in the global nephrology market is 
primarily built around the joint company Vifor 
Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma (VFMCRP), 
which combines Vifor Pharma’s expertise in 
pharmaceuticals with the skills and infrastructure 
of Fresenius Medical Care, the world’s leading 
provider of products and services for people with 
chronic kidney failure. Fresenius Medical Care  
has access to more than 345,000 patients in its 
global network of over 3,900 dialysis clinics.  
The objective of the joint company is to provide 
a portfolio of pharmaceutical products and 
innovative services addressing the major thera-
peutic needs of CKD patients, focusing on the 
nephrologist as the main specialist. 

In November 2019, Vifor Pharma moved directly 
into the global nephrology market and announced 
a partnership with Janssen Pharmaceuticals Inc., to 
jointly commercialise INVOKANA® (canagliflozin) 
in the US to treat diabetic kidney disease (DKD) 
and reduce the risk of hospitalisation for heart 
failure in patients with type 2 diabetes and DKD. 

In November Vifor Pharma also created a jointly –  
owned drug discovery and development plat-
form for innovative nephrology therapeutics with 
Evotec SE to pursue a precision medicine 
 approach for the treatment of kidney diseases.

The portfolio of products which encompasses the 
four primary disease areas are detailed below: 

RENAL ANAEMIA MANAGEMENT

ERYTHROPOIESIS-STIMULATING AGENT 
(ESA) PORTFOLIO: MIRCERA® & RETACRIT™ 

VFMCRP is committed to developing treatment 
options for the management of severe anaemia in 
dialysis patients. The Erythropoiesis-Stimulating 
Agent (ESA) portfolio includes both long-acting 
and short-acting ESAs. 

Erythropoietin (EPO) is a natural hormone pro-
duced by the kidneys which regulates the produc-
tion of red blood cells. In CKD patients, kidney 
dysfunction can lead to a deficit in the production 
of EPO, resulting in a decrease in the production 
of red blood cells causing anaemia. In dialysis 
patients, advanced kidney impairments lead to 
a lack of natural EPO which results in severe 
anaemia. In these cases, treatment with ESA’s is 
recommended because they act as a natural  
EPO to stimulate red blood cell production. 
Short- acting ESAs are typically administered two 
to three times a week. Long-acting ESAs have 
been designed to have a much longer lasting 
effect, allowing for dosing once or twice a month. 

MIRCERA®

Mircera® (methoxy polyethylene glycol-epoetin 
beta) is a long-acting erythropoiesis-stimulating 
agent (ESA) licensed from F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG 
in 2015 to treat symptomatic anaemia associated 
with CKD. Mircera® is a core part of Vifor Pharma’s 
renal anaemia strategy and is supplied to over 
3,000 dialysis clinics in the US and its territories. 

Net sales of Mircera® increased by 16.0% to 
CHF 523.4 million in 2019 from CHF 451.3 million 
in 2018. This increase was mainly due to continued 
expansion of sales in the mid-sized and inde-
pendent dialysis clinics in the US. The rate of 
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growth is expected to slow in 2020, but will 
continue to be driven by further conversion of 
existing long-acting ESA patients and an expected 
increase in the number of dialysis patients. 

RETACRIT™

Retacrit™ (epoetin alfa-epbx) is a short-acting 
ESA approved by the US FDA in May 2018  
for all indications of its reference drug, epoetin 
alfa. It is the first biosimilar ESA approved in  
the US. 

Net sales of Retacrit™ amounted to CHF 16.4 
million in 2019, following the launch of commer-
cial activities at the end of 2018. More dynamic 
growth is expected once multi-dose vials become 
available, in line with the current standard of 
therapy in dialysis clinics.

Vifor Pharma licensed rights from Pfizer Inc. in 
2015 to commercialise Retacrit™ in the US dialysis 
and non-hospital market, enabling Vifor Pharma 
to offer customers a full range of ESA treatment 
options to support patient needs.

VENOFER®

Venofer® (iron sucrose [iron (III)-hydroxide 
sucrose complex]) is the originator intravenous 
(i.v.) iron sucrose product, used for i.v. treatment 
of iron deficiency when oral iron preparations  
are ineffective or cannot be used. It is the trusted 
gold standard in iron therapy for anaemic dialysis 
patients. Venofer® continues to be the leading  
i.v. iron brand in terms of volume worldwide, with 
almost 28 million patient years of experience by 
the end of 2019. 

Reported net sales of Venofer® increased to 
CHF 132.4 million in 2019, up 12.0% from 
CHF 118.2 million in 2018. Sales of Venofer® 
totalled CHF 65.6 million in 2019 in the US, where  
it is the market-leading i.v. iron in haemodialysis. 
Global in-market sales data for Venofer® represent 

almost 22.3% market share by value of the  
i.v. iron market.

Venofer® is a nanomedicine, recognised by  
the US FDA as a hard-to-copy complex drug.1 
Venofer® is highly complex and dependent  
on a robust manufacturing process. Scientific 
evidence2,3,4,5,6 demonstrates that nanosimilars 
have a different efficacy and safety profile as well 
as a different clinical performance, compared 
with Venofer®. These discrepancies support the 
non-interchangeability of iron sucrose and  
iron sucrose similars, and help to strengthen 
Venofer® as the preferred and most trusted 
treatment for iron deficiency anaemia.7,8 

1 U.S. Food and Drug Administration: Statement from  
FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D., on 2019 efforts  
to advance the development of complex generics  
to improve patient access to medicines. Available at  
https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/
statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-2019- efforts-
advance-development-complex-generics

2 Di Francesco, T., Sublet, E., Borchard, G. (2019). Nanomedi-
cines in clinical practice: Are colloidal iron sucrose ready-to-
use intravenous solutions interchangeable? European Journal 
of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 131, 69–74.

3 Rottembourg, J., Kadri, A., Leonard, E., Dansaert, A., Lafuma, 
A. (2011). Do two intravenous iron sucrose preparations  
have the same efficacy? Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation. 
26, 3262–3267.

4 Agüera, M.L, Martin-Malo, A., Alvarez-Lara, M. A.,Garcia- 
Montemayor, V. E., Canton, P., Soriano, S., Alijama, P. (2015) 
Efficiency of original versus generic intravenous Iron 
formulations in patients on Haemodialysis. PLOS ONE.  
10, e0135967.

5 Lee, E. S., Park, B. R., Kim, J.S., Choi, G.Y., Lee, J. J., Lee, I. S. 
(2013) Comparison of adverse event profile of intravenous 
iron sucrose and iron sucrose similar in postpartum and 
gynecologic operative patients. Current Medical Research 
and Opinion. 29, 141–147.

6 Stein, J., Dignass, A., Chow, K. (2012) Clinical case reports raise 
doubts about the therapeutic equivalence of an iron sucrose 
similar preparation compared with iron sucrose originator. 
Current Medical Research and Opinion. 28, 241–243.

7 Bailie, G. R., et al. (2015) Data from the Dialysis Outcomes and 
Practice Patterns Study validate an association between high 
intravenous iron doses and mortality. Kidney International.  
87, 162–168.

8 Beguin, Y., Jaspers, A. (2014) Iron sucrose- characteristics, 
efficacy and regulatory aspects of an estabilished treatment  
of iron deficiency and iron-deficiency anemia in a broad range  
of therapeutic areas. Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy.  
15, 2087–2103.

https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-2019-efforts-advance-development-complex-generics
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In January 2019, an update to the results of the 
Proactive IV irOn Therapy in haemodiALysis 
patients (PIVOTAL) trial. PIVOTAL was conducted 
in patients on haemodialysis suffering from  
iron deficiency and anaemia. The trial followed 
2,141 patients for up to 4.4 years at 50 sites in the 
UK and was the largest renal trial ever conducted 
in the UK. This multicentre, open-label trial with 
blinded end-point evaluation investigated the 
effect of two i.v. iron sucrose (Venofer®) dosing 
strategies (proactive, high-dose versus reactive, 
low-dose administration).

The primary end point – the composite of  
non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke, 
hospitalisation for heart failure, or death – 
reached statistically significant superiority for the 
proactive, high-dose Venofer® regimen compared 
with the low-dose Venofer® group. Similarly,  
the rates of the individual components of fatal or 
non-fatal myocardial infarction and hospitalisa-
tion for heart failure were lower among patients 
receiving high-dose i.v. iron. Results on all-cause 
deaths, as well as all safety end points (vascular 
access thrombosis, hospitalisation for any cause 
and for infection), reduction in ESA dose 
 requirements and number of blood transfusions, 
did not differ between the two treatment arms.

VADADUSTAT  
IN DEVELOPMENT

Vadadustat is an oral hypoxia-inducible factor 
prolyl hydroxylase (HIF-PH) inhibitor under 
investigation for the treatment of anaemia due  
to chronic kidney disease (CKD) in non-dialysis 
and dialysis-dependent patients. Vadadustat  
is designed to mimic the physiologic effect of 
altitude on oxygen availability. At higher  altitudes, 
the body responds to lower oxygen availability 
with stabilisation of hypoxia-inducible factors, 
which can lead to increased red blood cell 
production.

Through an agreement with Akebia Therapeutics 
Inc., Vifor Pharma was granted an exclusive licence 
to sell vadadustat to Fresenius Kidney Care 
dialysis centres in the US, subject to approval of 
vadadustat by the FDA and its inclusion in  
a bundled reimbursement model or reimburse-
ment using the Transitional Drug Add-On 
Payment Adjustment. In 2019, this licence was 
extended to include strategic accounts in certain 
third party dialysis organisations, expanding  
the potential opportunity for vadadustat to 
access up to 60% of US dialysis patients. 

In April 2019, Akebia completed enrolment  
for its global phase-III INNO2VATE dialysis clinical 
development programme for vadadustat. 
INNO2VATE is designed to assess non-inferiority 
for efficacy and cardiovascular safety for 
 vadadustat using an active-control ESA (darbe-
poetin alfa), which is the current standard of  
care. Top-line results are expected in Q2 2020.

MINERAL AND BONE MANAGEMENT

VELPHORO® 

Velphoro® (Polynuclear Iron [III]-Oxyhydroxide, 
Sucroferric Oxyhydroxide) is a non-calcium, 
iron-based, chewable phosphate binder for the 
control of phosphate levels in the blood in adults 
with chronic kidney disease (CKD) on dialysis.  
At the end of 2019, Velphoro® was registered in 
42 countries.

Net sales of Velphoro® increased by 89.9% in 
2019 to CHF 181.7 million, from CHF 95.7 million 
in 2018. Worldwide in-market sales generated  
by Vifor Pharma affiliates and partner companies 
in 2019 amounted to more than CHF 372.6 
million. The strong growth was mainly driven  
by the US, where in-market sales increased  
by 71.7% to CHF 306.7 million in 2019. 
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In 2017, KDIGO (Kidney Disease Improving Global 
Outcomes), which develops evidence-based 
clinical practice guidelines in kidney disease, 
updated its CKD-Mineral and Bone Disorder 
Guidelines to recommend the use of non-calcium- 
based phosphate binders for the control of 
phosphate levels in dialysis patients. Fresenius 
Kidney Care US has been implementing an 
education programme with physicians since 
mid-2018 to support the use of these guidelines. 
This has resulted in broader adoption of 
Velphoro® by physicians, especially in the US.

In July 2019, Vifor Pharma signed a partnership 
deal with Otsuka Canada Pharmaceutical Inc.,  
for Otsuka Canada to commercialise Velphoro® 
and become our strategic partner for establishing 
our nephrology franchise in Canada. Otsuka 
Canada is an innovative, fast-growing healthcare 
company, with a strong commitment to nephrolo-
gy. The company’s expertise and strong relation-
ships within the nephrology community have  
been demonstrated by the successful launch of 
numerous products in Canada. Launch is planned 
for Q1 2020. In the first half of 2020, additional 
launches are planned in South Korea and Saudi 
Arabia. 
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Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma 
(VFMCRP) is continuing to work towards regulatory 
approvals in a variety of South East Asian mar-
kets. In China, a phase-III clinical trial was initiated 
in August 2018. The study is expected to be 
completed in Q2 2021, with subsequent market-
ing authorisation application (MAA) submission 
and commercial launch planned for 2023.

Growing real-world evidence continues to 
demonstrate the benefits of Velphoro® for patients, 
with approximately twice as many achieving and 
maintaining target serum phosphate levels with 
half the pill burden compared to competitors. 
A lower pill burden can increase adherence and 
lead to lower phosphate levels. Real-life data also 
suggests improved nutritional status which has 
been associated with improved quality of life.9

The European Post Authorisation Safety Study 
– VERIFIE, which was completed in Q2 2019, 
 investigated the use of Velphoro® in real-life 
conditions. The final results were submitted to  
the European regulatory authorities at the end  
of 2019, which will be followed by a publication  
in a peer reviewed journal expected in Q3 2020. 

RAYALDEE® 
PRE-COMMERCIAL 

Rayaldee® is an orally administered, extended- 
release formulation of calcifediol, a prohormone 
of the active form of vitamin D3, for the treatment 
of secondary hyperparathyroidism (SHPT) in 
patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) with 
vitamin D insufficiency. VFMCRP obtained the 
rights from OPKO Health Inc. for this indication  
in Europe, and selected markets outside Europe 
and the United States. 

9 Kendrick, J., et al. (2019). One-Year Historical Cohort Study  
of the Phosphate Binder Sucroferric Oxyhydroxide in Patients  
on Maintenance Hemodialysis. Journal of Renal Nutrition,  
29 (5),428–437.

SHPT is a chronic progressive disease which 
increases in severity as CKD worsens. It is estimat-
ed to affect between 40% and 82% of patients 
with stage three or four CKD.10 There is currently 
no established standard of care for the treatment 
of SHPT in non-dialysis (ND-CKD) patients across 
Europe. Updated KDIGO guidelines for the 
diagnosis, evaluation, prevention and treatment 
of CKD-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) 
recommend against routine use of existing 
therapies (active vitamin D and analogues), and are 
expected to support the role of Rayaldee® for  
the treatment of SHPT in non-dialysis CKD patients.

Rayaldee®, with its unique extended-release 
formulation of calcifediol, raises serum 25-hydroxy-
vitamin D gradually to levels needed in CKD 
patients for the control of SHPT and lowers blood 
levels of parathyroid hormone (PTH). At the same 
time, it has an inconsequential effect on serum 
calcium and phosphate levels. This allows for 
early and efficient management SHPT without 
exposing the patient to significant risk of 
 hypercalcaemia and hyperphosphataemia.

In April 2019, European authorities accepted  
the marketing authorisation application for 
Rayaldee® for the treatment of SHPT in adult 
ND-CKD patients. VFMCRP is seeking marketing 
authorisation through the decentralised proce-
dure in selected EU countries. In June 2019, 
a marketing authorisation application was also 
submitted in Switzerland. The filing is based  
on OPKO’s clinical trial programme, which 
assessed the efficacy and safety of Rayaldee®  
for the treatment of SHPT in ND-CKD patients. 
Approvals are expected in H2 2020.

10 Levin, A., Bakris, G. L., Molitch, M., Smulders, M., Tian, J., 
Williams, L. A., & Andress, D. L. (2007). Prevalence of abnormal 
serum vitamin D, PTH, calcium, and phosphorus in patients 
with chronic kidney disease: Results of the study to evaluate 
early kidney disease. Kidney International, 71(1), 31–38.
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KIDNEY FUNCTION PRESERVATION

INVOKANA® 

In November 2019, Vifor Pharma announced 
a new commercial partnership with Janssen 
Pharmaceuticals Inc., part of the Janssen Pharma-
ceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson, to 
jointly commercialise Invokana® (canagliflozin) in 
the US to treat diabetic kidney disease (DKD)  
and reduce the risk of hospitalisation for heart 
failure in patients with type 2 diabetes and DKD. 
Invokana® complements the broad nephrology 
portfolio, and further advances Vifor Pharma’s 
goal to becoming a global leader in nephrology.

Nearly half of all patients with type 2 diabetes  
can expect to develop DKD which causes a high 
risk of kidney failure and cardiovascular disease. 
Invokana® is the only product in the class of 
sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors 
(SGLT2s), indicated to slow the progression of 
diabetic nephropathy (also known as DKD) and 
reduce the risk of hospitalisation for heart failure 
in patients with type 2 diabetes and DKD. In 
addition to the current standard of care, Invokana® 
represents an important advancement in treat-
ment options for this large and underserved 
patient population. 

Invokana® is already available in the US to  
reduce the risk of major cardiovascular events 
and improve glycemic control in patients with 
type 2 diabetes. Janssen submitted the supple-
mental New Drug Application for Invokana® to 
treat diabetic kidney disease in patients with 
type 2 diabetes to the US Food and Drug Admin-
istration (FDA) following the phase-III CREDENCE 
(canagliflozin and Renal Events in Diabetes with 
Established Nephropathy Clinical Evaluation) 
study. The study was stopped early because it 
met the pre-specified criteria for efficacy.  
The FDA approved the new indication on  
30 September 2019.

A dedicated salesforce in the US will promote 
Invokana® solely to nephrologists. This salesforce 

will be complemented by Janssen’s existing  
sales and institutional representatives who have 
expertise in addressing internists, diabetologists, 
endocrinologists and cardiologists. The field 
medical teams of both companies will also be 
supporting this collaboration, with Janssen 
continuing to lead marketing for Invokana®. 

AVACOPAN 
PRE-COMMERCIAL 

Avacopan is an orally administered, highly 
selective inhibitor of the complement C5a 
receptor1 (C5aR1), which is central to the underly-
ing inflammatory cycle which drives blood vessel 
damage in anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-anti-
body-associated vasculitis (ANCA-associated 
vasculitis). It is currently being developed for the 
treatment of orphan and rare renal diseases  
such as ANCA-associated vasculitis and C3 
glomerulopathy (C3G). Previous studies had 
shown the clinical and patient experience 
benefits of selectively blocking C5aR1, which  
is responsible for pathophysiological pro- 
inflammatory  responses. 

In November 2019, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care 
Renal Pharma (VFMCRP) and its partner Chemo-
Centryx, Inc., a NASDAQ-quoted biotechnology 
company, announced positive topline data  
from its pivotal phase-III ADVOCATE trial in the 
treatment of ANCA-associated vasculitis. 

The ADVOCATE trial of avacopan was a global 
double-blind randomised controlled phase-III 
trial of 331 patients with ANCA-associated 
vasculitis. Its primary endpoints were remission at 
26 weeks and sustained remission at 52 weeks, 
assessed by the Birmingham Vasculitis Activity 
Score, (BVAS). The study met both of its primary 
endpoints, with the avacopan treatment group 
demonstrating non-inferiority to the current 
standard of care (glucocorticoids) remission at 
26 weeks. The avacopan treatment arm also 
achieved statistically significant superiority to 
standard of care in sustaining remission at 
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52 weeks. Avacopan-treated patients achieved 
BVAS remission with the avoidance of glucocorti-
coids induced toxicity, addressing a significant 
unmet medical need in this patient population. 
A full analysis of the data is under way, with filing 
in Europe expected in 2020.

Acknowledging the significant unmet need and 
burden of this rapidly progressive disease,  
Vifor Pharma has installed a Managed Access 
Programme to give patients in need access to 
avacopan. Physicians in ADVOCATE sites in 
certain European countries can request a supply 
of avacopan for specific ANCA-associated 
vasculitis patients on the basis of their benefit-risk 
assessment. The programme will continue to  
be rolled out in 2020. 

VFMCRP has a licensing agreement with Chemo-
Centryx, Inc., to commercialise avacopan outside 
the US.

CCX140  
IN DEVELOPMENT

CCX140 is an orally administered small molecule 
that is a potent and selective inhibitor of the 
chemokine receptor known as CCR2. VFMCRP 
and ChemoCentryx have launched a joint clinical 
development programme for CCX140 in patients 
with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). 
FSGS causes protein loss from the kidneys and 
progressive kidney failure. Inhibiting the actions 
of the CCR2 receptor may reduce proteinuria and 
preserve renal function through podocyte 
protection, as well as reduction in monocyte- 
driven inflammation.

CCX140 has a strong pre-clinical and clinical 
profile, including good safety and tolerability 
demonstrated in hundreds of patients across 
several clinical trials. These clinical studies 
include a one-year randomised placebo-con-
trolled study of CCX140 in type 2 diabetic 
patients with nephropathy, which showed 
CCX140 significantly reduced proteinuria when 

added to standard therapy. Preclinical data in 
an FSGS mouse model suggests CCR2 inhibition 
can protect podocyte function, the cell responsible 
for protein leakage in the kidney, and lead to 
reduction in proteinuria, and may protect against 
progressive kidney failure.

Two clinical trials, LUMINA 1 and LUMINA 2  
are ongoing. In the LUMINA 1 trial, the effect of 
CCX140 in patients with moderate-to-severe 
proteinuria in primary or genetic FSGS on proteinu-
ria is compared to placebo on top of standard 
therapy. The LUMINA 2 is an open-label study of 
proteinuria reduction, with CCX140 in patients with 
clinical nephrotic syndrome (very high) proteinuria 
and fluid overload due to primary or genetic FSGS. 
Clinical trial results for the LUMINA 1 trial are 
expected in Q2 2020 and will determine the next 
steps in clinical development. 

VFMCRP has a licensing agreement with Chemo-
Centryx to commercialise CCX140 outside the US.

CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH KIDNEY 
IMPAIRMENT AND ITS TREATMENT

CR845 (DIFELIKEFALIN) 
IN DEVELOPMENT

CR845 is a peripherally restricted kappa opioid 
agonist, developed by Cara Therapeutics Inc., 
that targets the body’s peripheral nervous 
system. It is being developed as a treatment for 
chronic kidney disease-associated pruritus 
(CKD-aP), which is a systemic itch condition that 
affects patients undergoing haemodialysis  
and peritoneal dialysis. 

In May 2018, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal 
Pharma (VFMCRP) entered into a development 
and licensing agreement with Cara Therapeutics 
to commercialise CR845 injection for the treat-
ment of CKD-aP in haemodialysis patients 
worldwide, excluding the US, Japan and South 
Korea. In the US, VFMCRP and Cara Therapeutics 
will promote the investigational medicine to 
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Fresenius Medical Care North America dialysis 
clinics under a profit-sharing arrangement.

Up to 70% of patients on dialysis suffer from 
CKD-aP11, with almost 20% of patients suffering 
from a severe and debilitating form of this 
devastating disease. This condition directly 
decreases quality of life for patients, and is 
associated with poor sleep quality and depres-
sion. It is also an independent predictor of 
mortality, mainly related to increased risk of 
missed dialysis sessions and infections. Currently, 
there are no approved therapies in Europe or  
the US for the treatment of CKD-aP.

Due to the high unmet patient need, the US  
Food and Drug Administration has granted 
breakthrough therapy designation to CR845 for 
the treatment of CKD-aP in haemodialysis 
patients. Cara Therapeutics announced positive 
results from their pivotal phase-III trial, KALM-1, 
for the treatment of moderate-to-severe CKD-aP 
in patients undergoing haemodialysis in the US. 

Results published in May 2019, reported that 
KALM-1 met both primary and secondary 
endpoints, with CR845 patients showing signifi-
cant improvements in worst itching intensity 
(WI-NRS) and itch-related quality of life measures, 
when compared to placebo patients. CR845 
showed significant differences in WI-NRS when 
compared to placebo over the entire period  
of 12 weeks. Injection with CR845 was generally 
well tolerated with a safety profile consistent with 
prior studies in this patient population. In Novem-
ber, data for the KALM-1 study was published in 
the New England Journal of medicine (NEJM). 

KALM-2, a second pivotal phase-III trial which  
is recruiting patients internationally, is expected 
to read out in Q2 2020.

11 Rayner, H. C., Larkina, M., Wang, M., Graham-Brown, M.,  
van der Veer, S. N., Ecder, T. Pisoni, R. L. (2017). International 
Comparisons of Prevalence, Awareness, and Treatment  
of Pruritus in People on Haemodialysis. Clinical journal of  
the American Society of Nephrology, 12(12), 2000–2007. 

PRE-CLINICAL  

In November 2019, Vifor Pharma and Evotec SE 
announced the creation of a 50:50 joint venture –  
NephThera, which is focused on the discovery 
and development of novel nephrology therapeu-
tics. Through the joint venture, Vifor Pharma will 
have access to an external research and develop-
ment capability for the advancement of its own 
nephrology pipeline.

Evotec has access to a large amount of patient 
data derived from UK-based kidney research 
consortium NURTuRE (National Unified Renal 
Translational Research Enterprise). This data will 
allow Evotec to identify and validate new targets 
in renal diseases, which it will then transfer to  
the joint venture for drug discovery and develop-
ment. 

On completion of the clinical development 
programme, Vifor Pharma will have the right  
to commercialise products developed by the  
joint venture. 

The collaboration with Evotec represents a unique 
opportunity to tap into areas of value generation 
to further expand the strong nephrology pipeline. 
The unique strengths of both Vifor Pharma and 
Evotec create a powerful research platform and 
contribute to establishing Vifor Pharma as a 
global leader in nephrology, helping patients 
around the world.
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VELTASSA®

Our third strategic growth driver is Veltassa® 
(patiromer), a treatment for hyperkalaemia 
(elevated blood potassium levels). It is  
the first drug to offer an effective and well 
tolerated innovation for the long-term 
 management of hyperkalaemia in chronic 
heart  failure and chronic kidney disease 
(CKD) patients. At the end of 2019, physi-
cians had prescribed Veltassa® to more  
than 120,000 patients in the US and across 
 Europe.

Hyperkalaemia can cause life-threatening 
abnormal heart rhythms and sudden death.1 The 
condition is commonly asymptomatic, meaning 
a person can unknowingly experience recurring 
spikes in potassium levels and be at risk of cardiac 
events. The presence or risk of hyperkalaemia  
can be a barrier to initiating and maintaining 
chronic heart failure and CKD patients on guide-
line-recommended therapies such as renin- 
angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors 
(RAASi) treatment.2,3 

In 2019, Vifor Pharma continued to invest signifi-
cantly in generating data to demonstrate  
the benefit of Veltassa® in cardiology, through 
a number of registries in partnership with the 
European Society of Cardiology and through the 

1 Rastergar, A. (2001). Hypokalaemia and hyperkalaemia. 
Postgraduate Medical Journal, 77(914), 759–764.

2 Yancy C., et al. American Heart Association: Guideline for  
the Management of Heart Failure. (2017). Accessible via 
http://www.ksw-gtg.com/hfguidelines/pdfs/ 
HFTreatmentHypertensionHFrEF.pdf.

3 Ponikowski, P., et al. (2016). 2016 ESC Guidelines for the 
diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. 
European Heart Journal, 37(27), 2129–2200.

ongoing DIAMOND outcomes trial. Continued 
analysis of the AMBER trial has demonstrated the 
value of the data and we expect to engage with 
regulators to reflect this in the Veltassa® label. 

REPORTED NET SALES

Net sales of Veltassa® increased by 46.2% to 
CHF 132.3 million in 2019 from CHF 90.5 million 
in 2018. Growth was mainly driven by the US.

Veltassa® has experienced steady and sustained 
growth since FDA approval and launch in 2015, 
driving the global expansion of the potassium 
binder market from CHF 175.7 million in 2016 to 
CHF 340.4 million in 2019. 

TRANSFORMING THE MANAGEMENT  
OF HYPERKALAEMIA

Vifor Pharma is committed to investing in data 
generation programmes to drive evidence-based 
best practice using Veltassa® in CKD and chronic 
heart failure patient populations. The AMBER 
study, a phase-II trial, was presented in May 2019 
at the National Kidney Foundation Congress  
in Boston and published in September 2019 in  
The Lancet journal. Results demonstrated that 
Veltassa® enabled guideline-recommended use of 
spironolactone for blood pressure management  
in patients with resistant hypertension and chronic 
kidney disease by controlling blood potassium 
levels. Veltassa® provides an additional opportu-
nity for these patients to remain on life-saving 
medicine.4 This important data and the subse-
quent planned analyses of subpopulations will 
form part of the scientific dialogue as Vifor Pharma 
engages with the cardiology community to help 
patients in 2020. 

4 The Lancet Published, September 15, 2019.

http://www.ksw-gtg.com/hfguidelines/pdfs/HFTreatmentHypertensionHFrEF.pdf
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Based on the positive results of the AMBER study, 
Vifor Pharma decided to undertake a major 
investment in the DIAMOND phase-IIIb study. This 
reflects the company’s belief in the potential of 
Veltassa® in the cardiology indication. DIAMOND 
is an outcome-driven study designed to further 
support the use of Veltassa® in effectively con-
trolling high blood potassium levels, evaluating 
whether these patients benefit from optimal 
RAASi therapy, thereby improving survival and 
reducing hospitalisation. 

The study is a global, multicentre, double-blind, 
placebo-controlled trial aiming to enrol approxi-
mately 2,400 patients in over 400 sites. DIAMOND 

120,000 
patients  prescribed Veltassa®

PATIENTS
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will include patients with heart failure (with or 
without CKD) and either current hyperkalaemia at 
screening, or a history of hyperkalaemia in the 
past year, which led to a reduction or discontinua-
tion of RAASi therapy. The primary endpoint of 
the study is the time to first occurrence of cardio-
vascular death or cardiovascular hospitalisation. 
The first patient was included in May 2019. 

In June 2019, the EMA approved a supple- 
mental new drug application to enable the use  
of Veltassa® with or without food, potentially 
providing patients with greater flexibility in 
incorporating Veltassa® into their daily treatment 
routine. The study of product characteristics 
update was based on results from the phase-IV 
TOURMALINE study, which showed no statisti-
cally significant difference between the groups 
taking Veltassa® with or without food in achieving 
serum potassium levels within the target range 
(3.8 to 5.0 mEq/L). 

REIMBURSEMENT AND REGULATORY 
APPROVALS

Veltassa® has now secured reimbursement in 
Germany, following completion of the AMNOG 
process in May 2019. Reimbursement was also 
obtained in Austria, Belgium, Finland, Portugal, 
Spain, and a positive recommendation was 
received from NICE in the UK. At the end of 2019, 
Veltassa® had been launched in Sweden, 
 Norway, Denmark, Belgium, Germany, Spain,  
The Netherlands, and Austria. Further reimburse-
ment negotiations and launches will continue  
in line with individual reimbursement process 
timelines across Europe.

In July 2019, Vifor Pharma concluded a licensing 
agreement with Otsuka Canada Pharmaceutical 
Inc., granting Otsuka Canada exclusive rights  
to commercialise Veltassa® in Canada. This recent 
partnership marks an important step forward in 
Vifor Pharma’s promise to make Veltassa® 
available to patients worldwide. The partnership 
has now advanced to pursuing reimbursement 
and planning for launch in 2020. 

In Japan, Vifor Pharma concluded a licensing 
agreement with Zeria Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., in 
2018, granting Zeria exclusive rights to develop 
the necessary clinical data to support Veltassa®’s 
regulatory and reimbursement approval. 
A phase-II Veltassa® trial is underway and 
planning for a phase-III registration trial has been 
initiated. Vifor Pharma looks forward to the 
opportunity to bring Veltassa® to Japan as the 
third largest pharmaceutical market globally.
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OTHER PRODUCTS

In addition to the leading intravenous   
iron therapies, Ferinject®/Injectafer® and 
Venofer®, Vifor Pharma develops and 
 commercialises other products for iron 
 deficiency and more recently for iron 
 overload. 

molecular level, VIT-2763 binds to ferroportin and 
blocks it to prevent excessive iron release into  
the blood. Ferroportin is an iron transporter that 
plays a key role in regulating iron uptake and 
distribution in the body, therefore controlling iron 
levels in the blood.

The positive phase-I study results at the beginning 
of 2019 reported a decrease in circulating iron 
levels and other iron parameters, consistent with 
the iron lowering effect observed in the preclinical 
models. VIT-2763 was also well tolerated and 
demonstrated a similar safety profile to placebo. 

Based on these results, Vifor Pharma initiated 
phase-II trial activities in Q4 2019. This ran-
domised, placebo-controlled, multinational trial 
will be conducted in patients with non-transfusion- 
dependent beta-thalassemia and documented 
iron overload.

In June 2019, both the FDA and the EMA granted 
an orphan drug designation for the treatment of 
beta-thalassemia for VIT-2763.

Beta-thalassemia is an inherited rare blood 
disorder that reduces the production of functional 
haemoglobin in red blood cells, which can lead  
to a lack of oxygen in many parts of the body and 
potentially cause anaemia. Affected individuals 
may experience classic signs of anaemia including 
fatigue, weakness and shortness of breath. 
Severe forms can cause serious, even life-threat-
ening complications if left untreated. Beta-thalas-
semia is often treated with blood transfusions, 
which can replace defect red blood cells and 
secure long-term survival, but the excessive iron 
needs to be removed to avoid iron toxicity. This 
comes at the cost of other, iron chelator-associat-
ed toxicities. Treatment with VIT-2763 has the 
potential to improve iron metabolism and the 
production of red blood cells.

MALTOFER® 

Vifor Pharma’s oral iron Maltofer® plays a key role 
in the management of patients with iron deficiency. 
Maltofer®, the originator oral iron polymaltose 
complex (IPC), is a widely accepted and well- 
tolerated oral iron therapy for infants, children, 
adolescents and pregnant women. Maltofer®  
is registered in 77 countries and is the leading 
oral iron product in a fragmented market, with 
over 3,000 global suppliers. Maltofer® global 
market share by value in 2019 was 7.2% of all  
oral iron products.

Net sales of Maltofer® decreased 3.1% to 
CHF 60.0 million in 2019 from CHF 62.0 million  
in 2018. This decrease was mainly due to tender 
shipment in 2018 in Saudi Arabia, covering  
2019. Maltofer® global in-market sales in 2019 
totalled CHF 110 million. 

VIT-2763  
IN DEVELOPMENT

Vifor Pharma is using its internal expertise in  
the field of iron biology and chemistry to develop 
VIT-2763. It will be the first oral ferroportin 
inhibitor with the potential for treating diseases 
with ineffective erythropoiesis and iron overload 
conditions, such as beta-thalassemia. In addition, 
VIT-2763 has shown promise in a preclinical 
model of sickle cell disease, a condition where 
formation of aberrant haemoglobin causes a 
variety of acute complications including painful 
vaso-occlusive crises, as well as severe chronic 
complications such as organ damage. At the 
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We continue to optimise our infectious diseases, 
over-the-counter and prescription product (ID/
OTx) portfolio to deliver value to a focused group 
of patients with high unmet medical need. The 
three leading products in the ID/OTx portfolio are 
Broncho-Vaxom®, Uro-Vaxom® and Doxium®.

BRONCHO-VAXOM®

Broncho-Vaxom® (lyophilised bacterial lysates)  
is an extract of different bacterial species used  
for the treatment and prevention of recurrent 
respiratory infections. It stimulates the immune 
system and the body’s natural defences against 
a wide spectrum of respiratory pathogens. 

Net sales of Broncho-Vaxom® increased by 2.5% to 
CHF 52.5 million in 2019 compared to the previous 
year. This increase was driven by key markets, 
including Russia, Italy, Brazil, Mexico and China. 
This indicates a strong medical need for this 
product, especially in emerging pharmaceutical 
markets. 

In Europe, the product successfully passed the 
class referral of all bacterial lysates. The European 
Medicines Agency (EMA) have confirmed that the 
benefit-risk profile of Broncho-Vaxom® remains 
favourable. Vifor Pharma is committed to running 
a clinical programme which will seek to further 
strengthen the product’s profile in coming years. 
This programme will complement an independent 
investigator-initiated multicentre study, ORBEX, 
which is currently being carried out in the US. 
ORBEX is investigating whether the administration 
of Broncho-Vaxom® to more than 900 children  
in the early years of their life may help to prevent 
wheezing, and as a consequence reduce the 
development of asthma. 

URO-VAXOM®

Uro-Vaxom® (lyophilised bacterial extract) is 
an extract of the bacterium Escherichia coli for the 
treatment and prevention of recurrent urinary  
tract infections. It stimulates the immune system 
and the body’s natural defences against urinary 
pathogens. There is a high medical need to 
prevent recurrent urinary tract infections, with 
Uro-Vaxom® listed in various international and 
local guidelines.

Net sales of Uro-Vaxom® in 2019 were CHF 18.2 
million, an increase of 26.2% compared to  
the previous year. Growth was driven by Latin 
America, and Central and Eastern Europe.  
Overall market share has been increasing consist-
ently in recent years and is higher than 90% in  
the prescription market. 

DOXIUM®

Doxium® (calcium dobesilate) is used for the oral 
treatment of diabetic retinopathy, signs of chronic 
venous insufficiency in the lower limbs (pain, 
cramps, paraesthesia, oedema, stasis dermatosis) 
and haemorrhoidal syndrome.

Net sales of Doxium® in 2019 were CHF 20.9 
million, an increase of 2.7% compared to the prior 
year. Growth was mainly driven by sales to  
Latin America and Central and Eastern Europe.
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“  In 2019, Vifor Pharma created the 
 Patient, Innovation and Access 
Policy function to strengthen 
 conversations with patients and 
patient advocacy groups in  
our core  therapy areas of iron 
deficiency, nephrology and  
cardio- renal.” 

CHRISTOPHER SPRINGER 
Chief Strategy Officer,  
Vifor Pharma Group

OUR PATIENTS 

As a company, we are continuing our mission to 
help patients around the world with severe  
and chronic diseases lead better, healthier lives 
by developing our approach to working with 
patients and patient advocacy groups. They are 
increasingly influential in shaping our healthcare 
systems and standards of care, and at every  
stage of the pharmaceutical product lifecycle, 
from regulatory filing to market access. At  
Vifor Pharma, we are responding to an evolving 
healthcare environment by bringing patients and 
their representatives to the centre of everything 
we do. By doing this, we can better understand 
what really matters to patients to ensure our 
products and services have a meaningful impact, 
and to improve the standard of care in our core 
therapy areas.

With this in mind, Vifor Pharma created the 
Patient, Innovation and Access Policy function in 
2019 to strengthen conversations with patients 
and patient advocacy groups in our core therapy 
areas, including iron deficiency, nephrology and 
cardio-renal, as well as rare conditions such as 
ANCA-associated vasculitis and beta-thalassemia. 
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Vifor Pharma has initiated various projects in 
collaboration with patient representatives in  
three key areas – clinical development, patient 
access and disease awareness. 

CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT

In June 2019, Vifor Pharma organised its first ever 
patient advisory board on beta-thalassemia and 
the ferroportin inhibitor VIT-2763 in collaboration 
with the Thalassemia International Federation. 

The advisory board brought together nine 
thalassemia patients from six countries around 
the world. This provided useful insights into the 
clinical trial programme, particularly the phase-II 
study for VIT-2763, a multinational trial conducted 
in patients with non-transfusion-dependent 
beta-thalassemia and documented iron overload. 
The patient perspective has helped Vifor Pharma 
to understand the endpoints most relevant to  
the patient, and how best to define the inclusion 
and exclusion criteria in order to facilitate patient 
enrolment. 

PATIENT ACCESS

In preparation for the launch of avacopan,  
Vifor Pharma participated in a pilot project to 
foster early dialogue between patient groups  
and payers in order to improve understanding of 
the unmet need in ANCA-associated vasculitis 
and the value such a unique therapy can bring. 

As part of the initiative, called the Mechanism for 
Coordinated Access to Orphan Medicines, two 
meetings took place which involved the active 
participation of one of the leading vasculitis 
patient groups in Europe and payer representa-
tion from more than ten European countries.

DISEASE AWARENESS

Building internal awareness through  
patient interaction
Vifor Pharma has launched a Patient Academy to 
provide more regular interaction between patient 
representatives and employees. 

The initiative seeks to educate our employees  
on the patient burden of living with a disease, the 
needs of patients and patient groups, and the 
importance of involving them in strategic decisions 
which may affect them. In November 2019, a 
panel discussion featuring heart failure patients 
from four countries spoke about their experienc-
es of living with heart failure to our top 100  
Vifor Pharma company executives. 

In addition to the Vifor Pharma Patient Academy, 
we created opportunities for our employees  
to engage with patient representatives during 
an employee ‘Kidney Walk’ in June 2019, an 
initiative to raise awareness of chronic kidney 
disease. The fifth Iron Deficiency Day took place 
in November 2019. This annual international 
disease awareness campaign was launched by 
Vifor Pharma to raise understanding of iron 
deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia.

Making heart failure guidelines 
understandable for patients
In collaboration with the European Heart Failure 
Policy Network, we have supported a project  
to make medical guidelines on heart failure easier 
to understand and relatable to all patients. 
Language within the guidelines was simplified 
and the key actions described to enable patients 
to talk to their physicians and better manage  
their condition. 
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The guide, which was published in November 
2019, highlights the importance of managing iron 
deficiency and hyperkalaemia. It was written  
with contributions from patient representatives, 
policy experts and cardiologists. It will be rolled 
out to members of the European Heart Failure 
Policy Network during 2020.

Co-creating a disease awareness platform  
on ANCA-associated vasculitis 
Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic auto-antibody-associ-
ated vasculitis (ANCA-associated vasculitis) is 
a group of rare, severe autoimmune diseases.  
It can affect blood vessels in different parts of the 
body resulting in damage to organs such as the 
kidneys, lungs, nervous system, nose, eyes, 
sinuses, skin and heart. As with many rare condi-
tions, the level of awareness and understanding of 
the disease and its impact on patient lives is low. 

To improve awareness, Vifor Pharma has been 
working closely with patients, patient associations 
and carers to develop an online platform which 
describes the ANCA-associated vasculitis patient 
journey and key unmet needs from a patient 
perspective. The project has included a vasculitis 

patient who is a rheumatologist and artist, and 
visualises the burden of living with the disease 
through her art. The online platform also provides 
patients and their carers with useful tools and 
materials to better understand and manage their 
condition. It is an invaluable resource for the 
entire vasculitis community, which has been 
involved in its development. 

OUTLOOK

In line with the company’s core values of Entre-
preneurship, Respect and Teamwork, Vifor 
Pharma is always seeking new ways to collaborate 
with patients to improve the standards of care  
in our core disease areas and help them and their 
families lead better and healthier lives. From their 
involvement in clinical development to patient 
access and disease awareness we hope that, 
together, we can continue making an impact 
through new product development, facilitating 
faster patient access and by creating a policy 
environment which puts patient health and 
quality of life at its core.

Martina T., ANCA-associated vasculitis patient with her mother



DANIEL S. 
LIVING WITH HEART FAILURE 

I was diagnosed with heart failure aged 36. 
Living with heart failure is frustrating.  
You never get a break from heart failure.  
You wake up with it first thing in the morning. 
It’s on your mind when you go to sleep at 
night and then you worry if you’re going to 
wake up in the morning.

My decline was slow. I was keeping quite fit.  
I did boxing. I went running and played 
football. I started getting out of breath in 
situations which didn’t seem normal and 
things just got worse. I couldn’t get out of 
bed. I couldn’t eat, and eventually I just 
collapsed. I had a CT scan and they found 
out my heart was enlarged. Around a year 
ago, I started to hear about iron deficiency 
and heart failure. I was tested and they  
told me my ferritin levels were low. That was 
the first time in six years that anybody had 
mentioned it to me. 

“ Living with heart failure 
is frustrating, you  
never get a break.”

I’ve got two young boys and couldn’t do 
simple things with them – playing football in 
the park, camping, going on a bike ride. 
That’s been the hardest thing. I’ve recently 
started e-biking, and it’s actually easier than 
walking. It’s given me back something I 
thought I had lost. We’ve gone on picnics. It’s 
been a massive boost to my mental health  
as well. 

The advice I would give to a newly-diag-
nosed heart failure patient is not to dwell  
on the word failure, because it is treatable. 
Give yourself time, and seek advice.

MY STORY

Learn more about Daniel’s story  
viforpharma.com/patients
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I was diagnosed with iron deficiency when  
I was in my forties. At the beginning I didn’t 
know what was happening, but I was so  
tired all the time and life was difficult with two 
young children. I felt maybe it was just being  
a mother that was making me so tired, but 
then I started losing more and more of my 
hair and I decided to go to a doctor. 

When I learned from the doctor that I had  
iron deficiency, I felt relieved because I knew 
it was easily treatable. Today, after treatment,  
I feel much better and iron deficiency is 
behind me. I get regular blood tests now.  
I feel good to go running every week. I enjoy 
being in nature, being alone, with no noise, 
nobody talking to me, no music, just me and 
my thoughts. 

“ I liked running so much,  
but when I got iron  deficiency, 
it wasn’t possible for me.”

CHRISTINE S. 
FACING IRON DEFICIENCY 

If people can learn from my story, I’d advise 
them to consult the doctor if they feel 
 continuously tired, because you worry for  
no reason. So it’s better to know.

Learn more about Christine’s story 
viforpharma.com/patients

Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019 49

https://www.viforpharma.com/patients


My advice to someone finding themselves  
in this situation would be – don’t let them 
send you home. Ensure they check you out 
properly. There are local patient support 
groups available. The connection helps me 
cope with my disease better. As a young 
mother, my overriding priority is to take care 
of my boys and see them grow up.

For years, I suffered from flu-like symptoms, 
headaches and tiredness. The doctor repeat-
edly told me it was a viral infection and I had 
to be patient – it would get better. One day,  
it got so bad I had to go to hospital. My 
brother had died a year before – they said it 
was organ failure. Because of him, I had  
the courage to speak up and demand to be 
taken seriously. Luckily, a rheumatologist was 
in the hospital and diagnosed ANCA-associ-
ated vasculitis. Tests showed my kidney 
function was very poor. The nephrologists 
took good care of me and stopped me from 
needing dialysis, and I’m currently in remis-
sion. After treatment, I need to sleep for two 
days, feel nauseous and experience mood 
swings.

I had to give up working as a kindergarten 
teacher and look for a job where I was less 
exposed to infection and could work part-
time. I have good friends who take good care 
of me and I’ve been able to start working 
part-time as a receptionist in a physiotherapy 
studio, where I have a boss and colleagues 
that understand my situation and support me.

“ As a young mother,  
my priority is to take care  
of my boys and see them 
grow up.”

MARTINA T. 
LIVING WITH ANCA-ASSOCIATED VASCULITIS 

MY STORY

Learn more about Martina’s story 
viforpharma.com/patients
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OUR PEOPLE

In 2019, we continued to  focus on creating a 
competitive, vibrant and energetic workplace that 
can attract and grow the best talent in our industry. 

By enabling our employees to make an impact in 
their work and listening to the patients we serve, 
we are confident we can achieve our goal of 
becoming a global leader in iron deficiency, 
nephrology and cardio-renal therapies.

Our employees are our most valuable resource  
as we seek to achieve our ambition to help 
patients around the world with severe and 
chronic diseases lead better, healthier lives. In 
2019, we continued to help our company and  
our people to achieve their full potential by:

 – Building on our unique culture as an entrepre-
neurial business to attract and retain the best 
talent 

 – Ensuring we have the right “fit for purpose” 
structure to deliver success by strengthening 
our leadership 

 – Reviewing and realigning our key functions 
and simplifying our structures 

 – Developing the skills and capabilities to deliver 
the business strategy through targeted 
recruitment, continual learning, and offering 
an attractive environment to employees

“ Our people make it happen.  
In 2019, we continued to foster our 
unique culture as a smart, agile 
business and bring our values of 
Entrepreneurship, Respect and 
Teamwork to life in everything  
we do.” 

MICHAEL PURI 
Chief Human Resources Officer,  
Vifor Pharma Group



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

OUR PEOPLE

54

 – Identifying areas of underperformance and 
offering support and guidance to overcome it 

 – Fostering a culture of diversity and inclusion 
through open communication and collaboration

A YEAR OF CONSOLIDATION  
AND PROGRESS 

This was a year of consolidation for Vifor Pharma’s 
focus on our most critical asset, our people. We 
made clear progress against the goals set for the 
business over the preceding two years. Our  
Vifor Pharma Values of Entrepreneurship, Respect 
and Teamwork were incorporated into recruit-

ment processes, as well as performance manage-
ment and the Leadership Academy. We believe 
fostering Vifor Pharma’s values and our unique 
culture are essential to the success of our employ-
ees as we embed them into everything we do,  
to support achieving the company’s business 
objectives.

We continued to evolve our organisational 
structure to increase efficiency, clarity and 
accountability at the headquarters, affiliates and 
production sites. Regular feedback interviews 
and employee surveys confirmed that the new 
structure has been welcomed and understood 
across the organisation. 

To ensure the company is fully equipped to 
deliver on its ambitious targets, and that patients 
are at the centre of everything we do, we under-
took a review of key function areas, including 
Marketing, Medical Affairs and our growing US 
organisation. This process will continue as we 
ensure all parts of Vifor Pharma are fit for purpose 
for the long-term.

We increased the number of medical scientific 
liaisons in Europe, invested in medical education 
and disease state awareness, and realigned  
our Medical Affairs, Market Access and Marketing 
functions to better serve the needs of our 
affiliates. We reorganised our commercial 
structure into two evenly weighted and clearly 
defined areas, US and International, each headed 
by an Executive Committee member as president. 
The Medical Affairs function was further strength-
ened as Dr. Klaus Jensen joined our Executive 
Committee as Chief Medical Officer, effective 
1 January 2020.

Structurally, we embedded the OM Pharma 
business into our Global Partner Business 
organisation, recognising the extent of shared 
customer relationships, while embedding  
OM Pharma into a newly created leadership 
structure with direct access to the Executive 
Committee. We believe the new structure will 
enable OM Pharma to achieve its full business 

“ At Vifor Pharma I am empowered to think like  
an Entrepreneur. When working with customers  
I am able to make fast decisions, helping to  
deliver innovative treatment options to patients 
more quickly.”

 BARTOLOMEJ SUSNYAK
 CUSTOMER MANAGER RETAIL, GERMANY
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potential, provide greater opportunities for 
employees, and enable more patients to receive 
its innovative medicines. 

CREATING A SIMPLER STRUCTURE

While rapid growth can bring the benefit of new 
people and ideas, we also recognise that it can 
increase complexity and hinder decision-making. 
Responding to feedback from employees, we 
reduced reporting layers in a number of function 
areas. This has helped to simplify our structures, 
improve communications and enhance individual 
responsibility. Specifically, we are encouraging 
an entrepreneurial style of management, where 
success is measured by the ability to influence 
others and deliver tangible results as part of 
a wider team. 

We undertook a major exercise to listen to our 
employees through a comprehensive Employee 

Engagement Survey and published the results  
in 2019, ensuring that responses were clearly 
communicated and acted upon. The survey 
showed employees share a strong sense of pride 
in working for Vifor Pharma and in its portfolio.  
It also revealed areas where the company can 
improve, such as further simplifying processes, 
addressing performance issues, and improving 
understanding of its compensation packages  
and benefits. 

Vifor Pharma has spent three years addressing 
the issue of fairness in pay, using external bench-
marks to analyse pay levels and ensuring imbal-
ances are rectified. We were delighted that  
our commitment to treating all employees fairly 
was recognised in Switzerland by the award  
of a Certificate of non-discrimination covering  
all our locations.1

1 Certificate issued by INCON Unternehmensberatung
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2,794 
different nationalities at  
operational headquarters 
in Zurich

locations in  
27 countries 

employees are based 
in Switzerland

of employees worldwide 
are women

of management positions 
filled by women

employees at Vifor Pharma 
worldwide

different nationalities 
working globally for the 
Vifor Pharma Group
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Our values – Entrepreneurship, Teamwork and 
Respect – are lived by each employee every day, 
which we believe translates itself down the line 
into looking at different options to bring the best 
treatments to patients. We seek to create an 
environment where employees are agile, capable 
of thinking on their feet and not afraid to step  
out of boundaries. By making sure our values 
guide everything we do, wherever we work for 
Vifor Pharma in the world, we ensure we are  
all part of the unique culture that makes us One 
Vifor Pharma.

The Senior Leadership Team, which drives our 
strategic objectives, works alongside the Execu-
tive Committee as role model to living our values, 
leading by example, and supporting our culture. 
In 2019, a second annual meeting with our senior 
leaders focused on the topic of leadership and 
the alignment of strategic objectives. The event 
included patients who rely on our products, 
patient organisations and payers. 

To further reflect our values during 2019, we 
completed the renovation of our operational 
headquarters in Zurich, incorporating a multi- 
space office environment with a modern design. 
It includes flexible working stations, collabora-
tive spaces and brighter offices to facilitate 
a healthy work environment, with opportunities 
for greater interactivity and teamwork. This 
provides a design concept for our offices around 
the world to follow.

SUSTAINING SUCCESS BY CONSTANTLY 
DEVELOPING SKILLS

To sustain our success, we are fully committed  
to constantly developing the skills of our people.  
We offer flexible and tailored learning formats  
for personal development, to ensure we have the 
right tools and expertise to deliver real value  
to our patients and customers, and maximise  
the opportunities for our business. 

“ Teamwork is essential. Collaboration makes us  
a stronger team and helps streamline production 
processes. Every function across the business 
works together to deliver life-saving treatments  
to patients, we all have a role to play.”

 PEDRO JORGE
 MAINTENANCE SPECIALIST, LISBON

“ONE VIFOR PHARMA” – A UNIQUE CULTURE 
UNDERPINNED BY CLEAR VALUES

Through its history, development and entrepre-
neurial business model, Vifor Pharma offers 
employees an attractive alternative to employ-
ment at traditional pharmaceutical companies. 
With a distinctive focus on iron deficiency, 
nephrology and cardio-renal therapies, the 
company strives to build leading positions  
in these areas through a profound understanding 
of the markets and needs of patients, as well  
as through high quality partnerships.
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We seek to provide optimal development 
opportunities through secondments, mentoring, 
coaching and formal learning. In 2019, we also 
organised a coaching skills programme for our 
Human Resources leaders to help them better 
support leaders on managing performance.

We continued to improve learning and develop-
ment through our dedicated Vifor Pharma 
Academy, which cover areas including Leader-
ship, Finance, Manufacturing, and Medical.  
The Academy has new areas of expertise being 
constantly added and its structure enables  
us to share knowledge across the organisation  
in a systematic way. 

During 2019, we launched a Learning Manage-
ment System to manage our Academy, increase 
efficiency and remove duplication. This was 
complemented by our newly established Talent 
Management System, which supports the 
development of our people, by identifying future 
successors for roles and implementing clear 
action plans for individuals.

Our partnership with the Executive School  
of the University of St. Gallen, Switzerland, was 
further strengthened in 2019, as 22 senior  
leaders attended the Vifor Pharma Leadership 
Programme, focusing on the execution of   
strategy and leadership. 

FOCUS ON INCLUSION

At Vifor Pharma we are proud to say that once 
again in 2019 we embodied the diversity of the 
patients we serve, as we sustain a diverse work-
force and an inclusive environment that respects 
our people and helps improve our business 
performance.
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“  At Vifor Pharma we foster 
a culture of respect, we 
respect our patients and 
work to a high ethical 
standard. Our studies are 
conducted according  
to international Good 
Clinical Practice stand-
ards, so patients can  
have confidence in our 
products.”

 BARBARA IMSAND
 MEDICAL AFFAIRS MANAGER, VILLARS-SUR-GLÂNE
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

To sustain long term value creation, responsible 
business conduct is embedded into all decisions 
taken by the Board of Directors and Executive 
Committee throughout the lifecycle of our 
products. In 2019, Vifor Pharma further devel-
oped its holistic approach towards Corporate 
 Responsibility, making it an integral part  
of Vifor Pharma’s identity.

Our approach towards Corporate Responsibility 
is structured around five pillars, allowing us  
to address our responsibilities and meet our 
stakeholders’ expectations. Dedicated focus 
areas guide our actions and contribute to  
the long-term success of our company. Policies, 
internal guidelines, work streams and specific 
actions are designed to support efforts to 
enhance positive impacts.

“ As a pharmaceutical company 
with global reach, we recognise 
and actively manage our 
 responsibilities towards society 
and the environment.”

PATRICK TREANOR 
President US, 
Vifor Pharma Group
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Conducting business with integrity
Integrity and ethical behaviour are critical for 
Vifor Pharma. We act in good faith and respect 
applicable laws and regulations, especially  
those designed to ensure high quality standards 
in healthcare. We address potential misconduct 
and are determined to protect the integrity  
of patients, employees and business partners.  
By focusing on ethical business and transparency, 
we improve corporate culture and build trust 
among stakeholders.

Our high ethical standards are set out in the Code 
of Conduct and Business Ethics and in a number 
of policies and guidance documents. We expect 
our suppliers and business partners to follow 
comparable standards. We seek to work with 
business partners who follow accepted standards 
for the protection of human rights. This includes, 
but is not limited to, the avoidance of child or 
forced labour, human trafficking, modern slavery 
and other forms of human rights violations,  
as well as freedom of association for employees.

To ensure high integrity standards in relation to 
our business partners, we updated and improved 
our Group-wide third-party due-diligence 
process in 2019. Employees were trained accord-
ingly throughout the company. 

Focusing on patients
At Vifor Pharma, we engage with patients and 
patient associations to better understand  
their needs and develop meaningful treatment 
solutions. Scientific activities are performed in 
a patient-oriented manner with strict compliance 
measures in place. Through appropriate stake-
holder engagement, we strive to advocate on 
behalf of patients to improve and expand access 
to treatments. 

We continuously educate our management, 
employees and business partners about the 
overriding importance of our commitment to 
patients. Strict drug safety and reporting systems 
and processes are in place to underline the 
critical importance of patient safety in everything 
we do. We conduct regular internal training  
on drug safety issues for all our employees. 

In 2019, we updated our guidelines on how 
patients and patient representatives are compen-
sated for their assistance in helping us to develop 
meaningful treatment solutions. We’re also 
participating in carefully selected managed access 
programmes, enabling us to provide treatments to 
patients suffering from serious conditions that 
could be addressed by one of our investigational 
products.
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Valuing our employees
At Vifor Pharma, we want our employees to  
grow and develop in their roles. We encourage 
inclusion and diversity, and seek to support  
rising talent in the best way possible. We offer 
an attractive workplace, with a safe, healthy  
and flexible working environment. All of these 
elements help us to grow the best talent and 
improve business performance.

We have a number of employee development 
programmes in place, offering training across 
a broad range of skills. As outlined in our Interna-
tional Mobility Guidelines, employees are also 
given opportunities to gain international experi-
ence through assignments in other locations.  
Our Code of Conduct ensures that our workplaces 
are free from harassment and discrimination, 
while strict safety measures are designed to 
protect our employees from harm. 

We evolved our approach towards inclusion  
and diversity in 2019, initiating a dedicated work 
stream. We were awarded a Swiss ‘Fair Pay’ 
 certification in 2019, confirming that female and 
male employees in Switzerland are rewarded 
equally for the same job. We’ve also developed 
a Group-wide Safety Statement to harmonise  
our approach and ensure a safe workplace for  
our employees.

Caring for the environment
We strive to reduce the environmental impact of 
our activities and create a sustainable business 
through the conscientious use of natural resources. 
We seek to reduce emissions at our production 
sites and to identify environmentally friendly 
transportation solutions. 

Our commitment includes implementing targeted 
efficiency measures. All our production sites are 
certified by ISO 14001, the international standard 
for environmental management. This helps us  
to continuously improve our environmental 
performance. As outlined in our Environmental 
Policy, we expect our supply partners to apply 
comparable environmental standards and 

measures. Vifor Pharma’s Environment Committee 
coordinates and implements related activities.

From 2019, all our production sites obtain 100% of 
their electricity from hydropower. The Environ-
ment Committee also placed a particular emphasis 
on plastics and by year-end we’ve significantly 
reduced consumption of single use plastics at all 
our locations. We enhanced our reporting level in 
2019 under the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), 
a non-profit environmental reporting organisa-
tion that tracks both direct emissions and indirect 
emissions in the value chain.

Community engagement
Vifor Pharma supports selected projects that 
result in improvements for the communities  
in which we operate. We provide assistance 
where we see emerging needs. As a science- 
driven company, we also aim to promote scientific 
knowledge and a better understanding of 
healthcare. This focused approach to community 
engagement provides assistance where it is 
meaningful, and leads to a society that is better 
informed about health. We believe this empowers 
individuals at the same time as building trust  
and fostering understanding of our business.

To select charitable projects, we follow internal 
guidelines to ensure the greatest impact for our 
investment. We follow all applicable laws, 
regulations and industry standards, and have 
measures in place to avoid potential conflicts  
of interest. 

In 2019, Vifor Pharma and its employees supported 
a wide range of community engagement activi-
ties around the world, such as a ‘Meals-on-Wheels’ 
programme in Singapore, where employees 
delivered food to the elderly in their homes. Our 
employees participated in several ‘Kidney Walks’ 
in 2019, raising awareness of kidney disease  
and providing financial support to patient 
organisations. 
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GOVERNING AND MANAGING  
OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

At Vifor Pharma, we have important responsibili-
ties related to our extensive business activities, 
from decisions taken by the Board of Directors 
and Executive Committee to their implementa-
tion by the wider company. 

The interdisciplinary Responsibility Committee 
coordinates relevant Corporate Responsibility 
activities, including the publication of related 
information and data. The committee consists of 
senior managers and experts in the relevant 
fields. The General Secretary and the Chief 
Human Resource Officer ensure a direct link to 
the Board of Directors and Executive Committee. 
To support our Corporate Responsibility efforts 
on a local level, a network of ambassadors are 
tasked with embedding Corporate Responsibility 
principles at national affiliates and production 
sites.

OUTLOOK

Vifor Pharma’s approach to Corporate Responsi-
bility is constantly evolving. As we grow, we  
aim to continuously improve our performance. 
We are committed to finding ways to expand  
the involvement of our employees, who put the 
principles of Corporate Responsibility into action 
every day. We seek the active support of our 
partners and suppliers for our efforts to conduct 
business in a responsible and sustainable way. 

Our annual Responsibility Highlights Reports 
provide additional information and key data 
about the Vifor Pharma Group’s main activities 
and achievements related to Corporate 
 Responsibility. They are available on our corpo-
rate website. The next report will be published 
mid-2020.
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Vifor Pharma is committed to the principles of corporate governance. 
Vifor Pharma meets the requirements of Swiss law and those stated  
in the “Directive of the SIX Swiss Exchange on Information Relating to 
Corporate Governance”. It also follows the recommendations  
of the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance” of 
Economiesuisse. The remuneration and profit-sharing for top 
management are disclosed in the remuneration chapter of this 
Annual Report.
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GROUP STRUCTURE  
AND SHAREHOLDERS

STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

Vifor Pharma Ltd., headquartered at Rechen-
strasse 37, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland,  
is a corporation under Swiss law. As a holding 
company, Vifor Pharma Ltd. owns all the 
 companies in the Vifor Pharma Group directly or 
indirectly. The Vifor Pharma Group consists  
of Vifor Pharma; Vifor Fresenius Medical Care 
Renal Pharma, its joint company with Fresenius 
Medical Care; Relypsa; and OM Pharma. The 
Group’s structure and the consolidated subsidi-
aries and associates are shown in the financial 
statements 2019 on pages 175 and 176, respec-
tively. The Vifor Pharma Articles of Association, 
Organisational Regulations and charters of  
the Committees of the Board of Directors can  
be accessed at viforpharma.com/governance. 
Vifor Pharma Ltd. shares are listed on the  
SIX Swiss Exchange; shares of the individual 
Group companies are not publicly traded.

SHAREHOLDERS

As of 31 December 2019, Vifor Pharma had 
13,201 shareholders, five of which according to 
documents submitted to Vifor Pharma Ltd. and 
the SIX Swiss Exchange were major shareholders 
holding more than 3% of the voting rights in 
Vifor Pharma Ltd. at the respective latest notifi-
cation date.

 – Patinex AG, Freienbach, Switzerland, and  
BZ Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Freienbach, 
Switzerland (beneficial owners: Martin and 
Rosmarie Ebner, Wilen, Switzerland), with 
13,250,000 registered shares.

 – Priora Suisse AG, Freienbach, Switzerland 
(beneficial owners: Remo and Manuela  
Stoffel, Dubai, United Arab Emirates), with 
8,300,000 registered shares.

 – BNP PARIBAS SA, Paris, with 3,011,359 
 registered shares.

 – Alecta pensionsförsäkring, ömsesidigt, 
Stockholm, Sweden, with 2,100,000 registered 
shares.

 – BlackRock, Inc., New York, USA, 1,614,230 own 
registered shares and voting rights, and 
additional 340,780 voting rights as delegate 
for a third party.

No other shareholder has announced  
a crossing of the 3% threshold of voting rights. 
The transactions disclosed to the stock exchange 
Disclosure Office pursuant to Art. 20 of the  
Stock Exchange Act is available on the Disclosure  
Office website of the SIX Swiss Exchange:  
six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/ 
publications/significant-shareholders.html.

CROSS SHAREHOLDINGS

Vifor Pharma Ltd. has no cross shareholdings in 
companies outside the Vifor Pharma Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There are no changes to report.

http://www.viforpharma.com/governance
https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html
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DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

 – Leading the Board of Directors 
 – Ongoing strategic development of the Group
 – Supporting alliances and acquisitions 
 – Positioning the Group with respect to 

 communications 
 – Maintaining relationships with partners 
 – Overall responsibility for the corporate culture 

(HR policy, communications) 
 – Involvement in implementing key strategic 

projects 
 – Member of the Group’s strategic Boards  

of Directors 

 

DUTIES OF THE COO

 – Operational management of the Group
 – Budget realisation and control 
 – Ensuring compliance, internal control systems 

and risk management 
 – Developing relationships with customers, 

suppliers and authorities 
 – Supporting the Executive Chairman in preparing 

strategic, HR-related and financial business for 
consultation and decision-making

VIFOR PHARMA GROUP GOVERNANCE1
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Annual General Meeting of Vifor Pharma Ltd.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Vifor Pharma shares (securities no. 36474934, 
ticker symbol VIFN) are listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange. As of 31 December 2019, 64,893,773 
registered shares were outstanding (not including 
treasury shares). The market capitalisation 
amounted to CHF 11,463,485,000.45.

AUTHORISED CAPITAL

According to Art. 3a of the Articles of Association, 
the Board of Directors is authorised to increase 
the share capital of CHF 650,000 by a maximum 
of CHF 65,000 at any time up to and including 
15 May 2020 by issuing no more than 6,500,000 
fully paid registered shares, with a par value of 
CHF 0.01 each. Should the Board of Directors 
decide to exercise its authority to increase the 
share capital, all existing shareholders would be 
entitled to exercise subscription rights corre-
sponding to their then current shareholdings. The 
Board of Directors may only decide to restrict or 
deny the subscriptions rights of shareholders and 
to allocate them to third parties if the new shares 
are to be used for the purposes set forth in art. 3a 
para. 3 lit. a) to c) of the Articles of Association.

CONDITIONAL CAPITAL

Vifor Pharma has no conditional capital.

CHANGES IN THE CAPITAL IN RECENT YEARS

Information about changes in the share capital, 
reserves and distributable profit over the past few 
years can be found on page 188 of the financial 
statements 2019. Please see previous annual 
reports for information about prior years.

PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATES

Vifor Pharma has no participation certificates.

DIVIDEND CERTIFICATES

Vifor Pharma has no dividend  certificates.

REGISTRATION AND VOTING RIGHTS

Pursuant to Art. 6 of the Articles of Association, 
each registered share entitles the holder to one 
vote at the Annual General Meeting.

The Board of Directors may refuse registration  
of voting rights in the shareholders’ register  
if purchasers do not declare explicitly, upon 
request, that they have acquired the shares in 
their own name and for their own account.  
The Board of Directors is also authorised, after 
hearing the individuals concerned, to cancel  
any entries with voting rights in the shareholders’ 
register that were obtained on the basis of 
incorrect information.

 STRUCTURE OF THE  
SHARE CAPITAL

On 31 December 2019, the fully paid share capital of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd. amounted to CHF 650,000, divided  
into 65,000,000 publicly listed registered shares with  
a nominal value of CHF 0.01 each.
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Registration of nominees
A nominee may apply for registration with voting 
rights up to a limit of 2% of the share capital 
entered in the commercial register without 
disclosing the name, address and the number of 
shares of the person for whose account the 
nominee holds 0.5% or more of the share capital 
as set forth in the commercial register. Shares  
in excess of this limit can only be registered if the 
nominee in question discloses the name, address 
and number of shares of the person for whose 
account the nominee holds 0.5% or more of the 
share capital entered in the commercial register. 

During the financial year 2019, agreements of  
this nature were in force with four nominees. 
Legal entities and partnerships, other groups of 
persons or joint owners who are interrelated 
through capital ownership, voting rights, com-
mon management or are otherwise linked, as well 
as individuals or legal entities or partnerships  
that act in concert to circumvent this provision, 
shall be treated as one single entity.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND OPTIONS

Vifor Pharma has no outstanding convertible 
bonds, nor has it issued any traded options.
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The duties of the Board of Directors are based on 
the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Vifor Pharma 
Ltd. Articles of Association and its Organisational 
Regulations. Pursuant to the Articles of Associa-
tion, the Board of Directors consists of a minimum 
of five and a maximum of 12 members. It consisted 
of seven members as of the end of 2019. In 
selecting the members of the Board of Directors, 
care is taken to ensure that competency for the 
Vifor Pharma Group’s areas of activity are duly 
represented and that the necessary specialised 
expertise is available. 

The Board of Directors reviews its functional 
effectiveness once a year (alternating by year 
either through a self-assessment performed by 
the Board of Directors or independent evaluation 
by an external expert). The Articles of Association 
of Vifor Pharma Ltd. (Art. 17 para. 3) restrict the 
ability of its directors to act on the Board or 
senior management of other profit-oriented 
companies, limiting such outside Board activity  
to five mandates in listed and seven mandates  
in non-listed companies. None of the members 
has reached the limit. With the exception of the 
Executive Chairman, Etienne Jornod, and the 
former CEO, Dr. Gianni Zampieri, all members of 
the Vifor Pharma Board of Directors are consid-

ered to be independent directors by the compa-
ny and none of its members had an operational 
management function at Vifor Pharma or at any of 
the companies in the Group in the year under 
review or at any time during the previous three 
years.

DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL CONFLICTS  
OF INTEREST

No member of the Vifor Pharma Board of 
 Directors has any significant relations with the 
Vifor Pharma or any of its subsidiaries. 

ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE

Each member of the Board of Directors, its 
Chairman, each member of the Remuneration 
Committee as well as the independent proxy  
are elected individually by the Annual General 
Meeting for a term of office of one year, ie.,  
from one Annual General Meeting to the end of 
the next. Members may be re-elected. The 
Articles of Association do not stipulate a limit 
regarding terms of office. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Vifor Pharma Board of Directors determines the strate-
gic goals and general ways and means to achieve them 
while harmonising strategy, risks and financial resources; 
and appoints and oversees the managers responsible  
for conducting the company’s businesses. The Board of 
Directors reviews and assesses on a regular basis the 
 sustainability and ecological impact of its strategic plan-
ning and investment decisions from a corporate 
 responsibility perspective. It also designs the company’s 
corporate governance profile and puts it into practice.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND  
ITS COMMITTEES IN 2019

The Board of Directors is made up of the Executive 
Chairman, one or more Deputy Chairpersons  
and the other members. Apart from the Executive 
Chairman, who is elected by the Annual  
General Meeting in accordance with the Articles 
of Association, the Board constitutes itself. 
 Specifically, it appoints from amongst its mem-
bers, if necessary, a Deputy Chairperson who  
also assumes the role of a “Lead Director”. Since 
1 January 2019, Dr. Romeo Cerutti serves as 
Deputy Chairman of the Board. 

The Board of Directors forms the following 
committees from its members:

 – Governance, Nomination and Sustainability 
Committee

 – Remuneration Committee
 – Audit and Risk Committee
 – Scientific Committee
 – US Committee

Each committee has its own charter setting  
out its duties and responsibilities.  
The committee charters are published  
on viforpharma.com/governance. 

INTERNAL ORGANISATION

The Board of Directors may pass binding resolu-
tions for the company with respect to all matters 
that are not expressly reserved for the authority 
of the Annual General Meeting either by law or 
the Articles of Association.

The Executive Chairman calls a meeting of the 
Board of Directors at least once a quarter, 
prepares and leads the meetings. The individual 
agenda items are set by the Executive Chairman. 
He decides on a case-by-case basis whether to 
involve additional individuals in the meetings  
of the Board of Directors. Executive Committee 
members usually participate at least in part of 

every meeting to report on ongoing business  
and to explain in more detail the documentation 
submitted to the Board of Directors in light of  
the decisions to be taken. 

Any member of the Board of Directors may 
propose, in writing, items to be included in the 
agenda or may request that a meeting of the 
Board of Directors be convened, briefly giving 
reasons for doing so. Board members receive  
the documentation they need to prepare for the 
agenda items in a timely manner, usually at least 
ten days before the meeting in question. Deci-
sions are taken by the entire Board of Directors. 
Minutes of the meeting are kept to document all 
discussions and resolutions. The Executive 
Chairman and the COO represent the interests  
of the Group towards third parties in important 
matters.

In addition to meetings and the associated flow of 
information (documentation on individual agenda 
items, reports), the Board of Directors is also 
informed on a regular basis about the Group’s 
activities and challenges and on the current state 
and general development. Furthermore, the 
Board of Directors is often consulted by the 
members of the Executive Committee in its role 
as advisory body. As part of its risk management, 
the Board of Directors receives from the Executive 
Committee an overview of the most important 
risks, along with preventive measures to be 
implemented Group-wide as part of the risk 
management process. It evaluates and takes 
decisions on this overview of risks and measures, 
which is provided when circumstances require  
it, but at least once a year. Further information on 
this topic can be found on pages 83 and 84. 

COMMITTEES

Committees of the Board of Directors prepare  
the business of the Board on particular topics and 
submit recommendations to the entire Board of 
Directors. Except for the Remuneration Committee, 
the committees have no decision-making authori-

http://www.viforpharma.com/governance


Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

74 

ty of their own. They meet as often as business 
requires and report to the Board of Directors  
on activities and results. They draw up their own 
agendas and keep minutes of meetings. Each 
committee has its own charter governing its 
duties and responsibilities. Apart from the 
Remuneration Committee, which obtains analytical 
support from external consultants from time to 
time as separately disclosed in the Remuneration 
Report, and the attendance of the auditors at the 
meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Committees of the Board did not invite external 
consultants to attend their meetings in 2019.

Governance, Nomination and  
Sustainability Committee
The Governance, Nomination and Sustainability 
Committee ensures the management and 
monitoring of the Group’s business activities by 
the Board of Directors (overall management  
and ultimate supervision pursuant to Art. 716a of 
the Swiss Code of Obligations). In addition,  
the Governance, Nomination and Sustainability 
Committee has the following duties in particular:

 – Supports the establishment of best practices 
in corporate governance across the Group with 
a view to ensuring that shareholders’ and other 
important stakeholders’ rights are protected.

 – Develops the values, short- and long-term 
objectives and strategy of the Group in close 
cooperation with the COO for submission to 
the Board of Directors.

 – Takes provisional decisions and intervenes  
in urgent cases where a decision of the Board 
of Directors cannot be obtained in a timely 
manner.

 – Draws up selection criteria for the nomination 
of members of the Board of Directors, its 
Committees and the Executive Committee  
and reviews the relevant succession plans. 

 – Evaluates and makes proposals for the 
 appointment and dismissal of members of the 
Board of Directors, its Committees and the 
Executive Committee.

 – Ensures the application of governance rules on 
conflicts of interest and, if required, exclusion 

from the decision-making process by the 
Board of Directors and its Committees.

 – Ensures that considerations related to environ-
mental, social and corporate sustainability  
are fully integrated into the decision process 
on business strategy, key investments and 
performance.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is made up of 
three members elected directly by the Annual 
General Meeting, who must be independent.  
The Remuneration Committee carries out the 
following duties in particular:

 – Proposes a remuneration strategy for the 
Group and the members of the Executive 
 Committee to the Board of Directors.

 – Proposes the maximum possible remuneration 
(total amount) for the members of the 
 Executive Committee and the Board of 
Directors to be decided upon by the  
Annual General Meeting.

 – Proposes targets and assesses their achievement  
for determination of the variable  compensation 
of the members of the Executive Committee 
and management of the Vifor Pharma Group.

 – Proposes to the Board of Directors the salaries 
and remuneration for the members of the 
Board of Directors and the committees as well 
as the COO.

 – Decides on the remuneration for the other 
members of the Executive Committee  
within the scope of the guidelines adopted  
by the Annual General Meeting. 

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee carries out the 
following duties in particular:

 – Verifies compliance with internal and external 
regulations by carrying out random checks.

 – Checks the performance and independence  
of the external auditor and approves its fees.

 – Evaluates and submits its nomination for 
external auditor to the Board of Directors for 
the Annual General Meeting.
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 – Reviews together with the external auditors  
the scope and method of the audit.

 – Defines the internal audit programmes, 
including compliance and IT security,  
and checks the audit reports and the status 
reports on the implementation of measures.

 – Analyses at least once a year the scope of 
 internal control systems, the auditing projects 
and processes affected, the results of internal 
audits and the implementation of recommen-
dations by the Executive Committee.

 – Reviews with the external auditors the Group’s 
compliance with accounting policies and 
standards.

 – Assesses the organisation and processes  
for risk management and compliance.

 – Reviews, if necessary together with the 
external auditors, the risks that could affect  
the Group’s result and the measures planned 
for reducing those risks.

 – Issues guidelines, instructions or clarifications 
in connection with the Code of Conduct.

 – Assesses the financial structure, the develop-
ment of investments and acquisitions,  
and the influence of currency fluctuations  
and measures to be taken.

 – Monitors the Group’s financial situation  
and financial controls.

 – Receives regular information from the Executive 
Committee concerning major changes that 
could affect the Group’s financial situation.

Scientific Committee
The Scientific Committee acts as an advisory 
body to the Executive Chairman and the Board  
of Directors in matters of R&D strategy, the 
innovation process and pipeline, clinical studies, 
protection of intellectual property; and in the 
assessment, selection and prioritisation of target 
markets and therapeutic areas. It also gives  
its view on acquisitions and proposals aimed at 
strengthening the technology base of the Group 
or accelerating market penetration.

US Committee
Since 2019, the newly established US Committee 
acts as an advisory body to the Executive Chairman 
and the Board of Directors in matters of strategy 
and relevant medical and commercial operational 
activities, as well as the selection of target 
markets and therapeutic fields for an optimal 
 market penetration in the US. It carries out the 
following duties in particular:
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 – Oversee and discuss the US strategy, the 
pipeline as well as the selection and prioritisa-
tion criteria for target markets and therapeutic 
fields within the US.

 – Examine periodically Vifor Pharma Group’s 
measures to keep an orderly and systematic 
path from pre-launch and launch activities to 
optimal market penetration for key products 
with regards to market access, medical  
and commercial activities in the US including 
appropriate reporting and control, internal 
communications and knowledge-sharing.

 – Examine periodically Vifor Pharma Group’s 
measures to keep the US organisation motivated, 
productive and entrepreneurially oriented  
to target markets in full compliance with the 
requirements of a highly regulated environment.

 – Review measures for the assessment of US 
market potential; and

 – give its view on acquisitions, divestitures  
and in- or out- licensing proposals relating  
o the US.

FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES  
IN 2019

In 2019, the Board of Directors held six meetings. 
The Governance, Nomination and Sustainability 
Committee met once, the Remuneration Commit-
tee five times, the Audit and Risk Committee  
five times, the Scientific Committee twice, and the 
US Committee met three times. In principle, all 
the members participate in all the meetings of the 
Board of Directors. Excluding absences due  
to sickness or to avoid conflicts of interest, the 
members participated in 98% of the meetings of 
the Board of Directors, 100% of the meetings  
of the Governance, Nomination and Sustainability 
Committee, 93% of the meetings of the Remuner-
ation Committee, 93% of the meetings of the 
Audit and Risk Committee, 100% of the meetings 
of the Scientific Committee, and 100% of the 
meetings of the US Committee. Outside the 
official meetings the members of the Board of 
Directors also exchanged their views with other 
members and the Executive Chairman in numer-
ous telephone conferences. In average, and  
with the exception of the annual two day strategy 
retreat, a Board meeting held in 2019 lasted one 
full day, an average committee meeting duration 
across all Board committees was between two 
and four hours.
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In particular, the Board of Directors is responsible 
for approving or passing resolutions on:

 – The values, objectives and strategy of the Group. 
 – The essential framework of the Group’s 

activities.
 – The Group’s planning, budget and projections. 
 – Selection and deselection of the members of 

the Committees, the COO and the other 
members of the Executive Committee.

 – The organisation of the remuneration system. 

The Board of Directors has delegated the 
management of the company in accordance with 
the Organisational Regulations. Etienne Jornod 
serves as Executive Chairman and has certain, 
clearly defined operational duties that are set out 
below in more precise detail. Stefan Schulze, 
President of the Executive Committee and COO 
of Vifor Pharma, assumes responsibility for 
operational management and heads the Executive 
Committee. The Board of Directors maintains 
close contact with the COO and the other 
members of the Executive Committee and invites 
them to attend its meetings when relevant items 
are to be discussed. At each meeting, the 
members of the Executive Committee are invited 
to report on their areas of responsibility and  
to discuss important business matters with the 
Board. Other members of senior or executive 
management of companies within the Group are 
also regularly invited to report on their activities 
or present their projects.

DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

As Executive Chairman, Etienne Jornod is 
responsible for leading the Board of Directors, 
the ongoing strategic development of the Group, 
alliances and acquisitions, the positioning of  
the Group concerning communications and 
stakeholder relations. In particular, he carries out 
his executive role in boards that are strategically 
important for the Vifor Pharma Group, such as  
his role as Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. 

The Executive Chairman is closely involved in the 
implementation of the most important strategic 
projects. In addition, he has overall responsibility 
for the Group’s corporate culture, a competitive 
factor of importance in the labour market. 
Likewise, he helps shape the Vifor Pharma Group 
corporate communications and HR policy.  
The Vifor Pharma Group honours and preserves 
its heritage from its home market of Switzerland, 
which it considers a competitive advantage. 
Currently, more than 1,400 of over 2,750 Vifor 
Pharma Group employees are based in 
 Switzerland.

MANAGEMENT AND  
AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors is legally responsible for the overall 
management and ultimate supervision of the Group.  
It has the duties provided for under Art. 716a, para. 1 of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations; it cannot be deprived of these 
duties, nor can it delegate them. In addition, it may pass 
resolutions with respect to all matters that are not reserved 
for the authority of the Annual General Meeting either  
by law or the Articles of Association. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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DUTIES OF THE COO

The President of the Executive Committee and 
COO, Stefan Schulze, is responsible for imple-
menting the strategic and operational objectives 
approved by the Board of Directors, for (together 
with the CFO) preparing budgets and ensuring 
that they are met; and for developing relation-
ships with customers, suppliers and authorities. 
He implements Group values putting the patients’ 
needs at the core (including safety, quality and 
the Code of Conduct). Together with the other 
members of the Executive Committee, he issues 
binding guidelines for our Group companies  
and functions. 

The COO leads the Executive Committee and 
reports directly to the Executive Chairman, with 
whom he works closely on the most important 
decisions and prepares the information for the 
meetings of the Board of Directors. At these 
meetings, the COO and other members of the 
Executive Committee, inform the Board of 
Directors and submit strategic, HR-related and 
financial business to the Board for consultation 
and decision-making. 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The strategic instructions and resolutions of the 
Board of Directors are implemented by the 
Executive Committee under the leadership of the 
COO taking a holistic approach reflecting the 
sustainability and social principles of Corporate 
Responsibility described on pages 61 to 64.  
The Board sets appropriate objectives, approves 
the budget and continually monitors compliance 
with set targets. Monitoring is based on monthly 
reports to the Board which include key figures 
and reporting on important events and develop-
ments, and on the planning cycle. 

In the first quarter, the results for the previous 
year are compared with the budget for that year. 
In the second quarter, the current financial year  
is evaluated by means of a “last-estimate 1”, and 

a medium-term plan for the next three years is 
drawn up. In the third quarter, the results for  
the first half-year are prepared and reviewed, and 
in the fourth quarter the expected annual result 
“last-estimate 2” is determined and the budget 
for the following year agreed. 

The Articles of Association of Vifor Pharma Ltd., 
(Art. 19 para. 3) restrict the ability of the members 
of the Executive Committee to act in the Board  
or senior management of other profit-oriented 
companies, limiting such activity to only one 
mandate in listed and three mandates in non-listed 
companies, both being subject to prior approval 
by the Governance and Nomination Committee. 

As of the date of this report, the Executive 
Committee of Vifor Pharma Group comprised 
eight  members representing the functions  
set forth in the Group governance overview on  
page 69. The professional experience and 
educational background of the members of the 
Executive Committee can be found on pages  
96 to 98. 

In the course of 2019, David Bevan (CEO of 
VFMCRP Ltd.) and Dario Eklund (Chief Commer-
cial Officer) have left the Vifor Pharma Group. 
Effective 1 January 2020, Dr. Klaus Henning 
Jensen joined the Executive Committee as Chief 
Medical Officer. Lee Heeson joined the Executive 
Committee as President International effective 
2 February 2020.

GENERAL SECRETARY

Dr. Andreas Walde (born 1962, Swiss citizen, 
lawyer qualified to practice at the Bar) serves as 
General Secretary and Secretary to the Board  
of Directors. He reports directly to the Executive 
Chairman and, amongst other duties, ensures 
corporate governance, ethics, compliance and 
data privacy compliance across the Vifor Pharma 
Group. The independence of the compliance 
network and the Data Protection Officer is 
assured by their reporting line directly to the 
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General Secretary, and thereby ultimately  
only to the Executive Chairman and the Board  
of Directors. Together with the Chief Human 
Resources Officer he monitors and supports 
sustainability activities throughout Vifor Pharma 
Group to implement and continuously improve 
the corporate responsibility principles set by the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee.

Further information on the other duties of the 
Board of Directors, Executive Chairman, 
 Executive Committee and General Secretary  
can be found in the Organisational Regulations 
published on the Vifor Pharma website  
(viforpharma.com/governance).

INFORMATION AND MONITORING TOOLS

The Board of Directors monitors the Executive 
Committee and supervises its working practices. 
The Vifor Pharma Group has a comprehensive 
electronic information management system. The 
Board of Directors is informed on a monthly  
basis about the Group’s financial and operating 
performance. In addition, operating perfor-
mance, opportunities and risks are discussed in 
depth at Board meetings attended by members 
of the Executive Committee.

http://www.viforpharma.com/governance
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Each share recorded as a share with voting  
rights in the shareholders’ register entitles the 
holder to one vote at the Annual General 
 Meeting. Shareholders are also entitled to 
dividends and have other rights pursuant to  
the Swiss Code of Obligations. Results of the 
ballots taken at the Annual General Meetings are 
made available on the Vifor Pharma website  
(viforpharma.com/agm) within one week after 
each meeting, followed by the meeting minutes 
shortly thereafter.

PROXY VOTING

A registered shareholder may be represented  
at the Annual General Meeting on the basis  
of a written power of attorney by an appointed 
representative or the independent proxy  
to whom instructions may be given in writing or 
electronically. There are no rules that deviate 
from legal provisions relating to attendance of 
the Annual General Meeting. 

Instructions to the independent proxy holder  
may be given in writing and – since 2014 – also 
electronically. The e-voting platform used by 
Vifor Pharma is provided by ShareCommService 
AG, Switzerland. The invitation to the Annual 
General Meeting, which will be sent to all share-
holders no later than 20 days before the meeting, 
includes the required login information to create 

a personal user profile. The instructions must  
be received by the independent proxy holder on 
or before 12 May 2020.

QUORUMS UNDER THE ARTICLES  
OF ASSOCIATION

In addition to the cases cited in Art. 704 of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations, approval by at least 
two-thirds of the votes represented and the 
absolute majority of the nominal capital repre-
sented is required in the following cases:

 – A change in the provisions relating to restric-
tions on the transfer of registered shares, 
Art. 15 c) of the Articles of Association.

 – Conversion of registered shares into bearer 
shares and vice versa, Art. 15 d) of the  
Articles of Association.

CONVENING OF THE ANNUAL  
GENERAL MEETING

The Articles of Association do not differ from 
legal regulations with regard to the convening of 
the Annual General Meeting and the setting  
of the agenda. The Annual General Meeting is 
convened by the Board of Directors at least  
20 days before the date of the meeting. The 
shareholders are invited to attend by a notice 

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS  
TO PARTICIPATE

The Annual General Meeting is held each year within  
five months of the close of the financial year. Extraordinary 
General Meetings are called as often as necessary by a 
 decision of the Annual General Meeting or Board of Directors, 
at the request of the auditors or at the written request of 
shareholders representing on aggregate not less than 7% of 
the share capital entered in the commercial register.

http://www.viforpharma.com/agm
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placed in official publications. The meeting may 
also be convened by sending a letter to all the 
registered shareholders at the addresses entered 
in the shareholders’ register. The notice of 
a meeting shall state the items on the agenda, the 
proposals of the Board of Directors and the 
requests of any shareholders who have called for 
a General Meeting to be convened or for a 
particular item to be included on the agenda.

INCLUSION OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

Shareholders who together represent not less 
than 0.5% of the share capital entered in the 
commercial register may request that an item be 
included on the agenda. They must submit such 
requests in writing no later than 40 days before 
the scheduled date of the meeting. The items to 
be included on the agenda must be specified 
along with the motion on which the shareholder 
requests a vote.

SHAREHOLDERS’ REGISTER

There are no regulations in the Articles of Associa-
tion regarding a deadline for entry in the share-
holders’ register. However, for practical reasons 
the shareholders’ register remains closed to 
entries for several days prior to an Annual General 
Meeting. This will be the case from 9 May 2020 
onwards. Accordingly, shareholders entered in the 
shareholders’ register by 8 May 2020 may exercise 
their voting rights at the Annual General Meeting 
of 14 May 2020. The date for the 2021 Annual 
General Meeting, as well as further relevant 
information, will be timely announced  
on our website viforpharma.com/investors.

http://viforpharma.com/investors


Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

82 

Vifor Pharma Group 
 compliance network

Vifor Pharma Group operates in a highly regulated 
international environment. In all of its business 
dealings it is committed to highest standards of 
integrity and transparency to ensure legal and 
ethical behaviour across the Group. This means 
following all laws and regulations applicable to  
its business activities, especially those designed 
to protect patients and improve the quality  
of medicines and healthcare services.

To foster a robust compliant attitude in a consist-
ent way throughout Vifor Pharma Group, a 
network of compliance officers throughout the 
Group, assisted by global functions and opera-
tional management, maintain and enhance the 
compliance structure, efficiency and transparency 
of processes, provide advice and standardised 
compliance trainings across our functions and 
local organisations, and work continuously to 
maintain a high level of compliance awareness.

Data privacy compliance is fundamentally 
important to the Vifor Pharma Group, especially 
considering the industry in which it operates. 
Complying with data privacy requirements  
is central to respectful interaction with patients, 
employees, customers and business partners. 
The Group Data Protection Officer oversees the 
data privacy compliance programme and 
supports the business to implement robust and 
pragmatic measures for upholding data privacy.

Change of control and  
protective measures

The obligation to make a public offer pursuant to 
Art. 22 of the Stock Exchange Act (Federal Act  
on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading) has 
not been changed in the Articles of Association. 
The employment contracts of the members of  
the Executive Committee and the members of 
senior management also contain no provisions to 
this effect. Remuneration components based on 
shares of Vifor Pharma Ltd. would terminate in the 
case of an acquisition and vesting period restric-
tions on pre-existing awards would be removed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts exist as specified 
under point 4.3 of the “SIX Swiss Exchange 
Directive on Information Relating to Corporate 
Governance”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

As part of risk management throughout the  
Vifor Pharma Group, the Group companies 
conduct a risk assessment at least once a year. 
This standardised process is based on a risk  
grid, in which the most important strategic and 
operational risks and their possible financial 
effects are identified in line with pre-defined 
criteria and then evaluated in accordance with the 
probability of their occurrence and their effect. 
Such risks are monitored as part of the overall 
Group risk matrix. 

The Board of Directors of the Vifor Pharma Group 
receives an overview of the most important  
risks from the Executive Committee as required 
but at least once a year. The Board evaluates  
the overview, adding information as needed, and 
where required takes decisions on any preventive 
measures necessary, which must then be imple-
mented Group-wide as part of the risk manage-
ment process.

Vifor Pharma defines risk as the possibility that 
an event or an action will lead to immediate 
financial loss or other negative consequences. 
Vifor Pharma risk management defines three 
basic objectives.

 – Creating a framework for effective risk man-
agement within the Vifor Pharma Group  
that will be embedded in existing management 
and planning processes and will therefore 
effectively strengthen risk awareness at all 
management levels.

 – Creating and guaranteeing a lean and prag-
matic risk management system that will 
effectively protect business operations and  
the Group’s profit-earning ability.

 – A credible presentation to stakeholders that 
Vifor Pharma is managing its risks effectively. 

Risk management at the Group level revolves 
around strategic risks that could have significant 
consequences for the Group. Operational risk 
management is specifically defined and managed 
by the individual operating Group companies, 
although it is recognised that events in individual 
companies can clearly have an influence on  
the strategic risks to the Group. Risks are managed 
at the appropriate level by the management 
hierarchy that is best suited for this purpose. This 
approach ensures that action is taken in an 
efficient manner and that experience is broadly 
reinforced throughout the Vifor Pharma Group.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION  
AND MONITORING TOOLS  
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Vifor Pharma has a risk management process in place which 
enables the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee 
as well as the relevant management of Group companies to 
identify potential risks in a timely manner and take the 
 preventive measures necessary. The goal of this process is 
to identify and assess significant risks at all management 
levels and to manage them while making conscious use of 
the opportunities the process provides.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The systematic overview of the key risks enables 
the Board of Directors to coordinate with the 
chosen strategy, prioritise risk, allocate resources 
and specify any action required. The Executive 
Committee and other management who are 
responsible for the Group companies are familiar 
with the risks of the overall Group, specific 
therapeutic area or their Group company. They 
successfully implement any measures decided 
upon and are responsible for the efficient 
operation of the risk management process. They 
also draw attention, however, to new risks which 
have become apparent or to any other change in 
the risk situation and, in addition to implementing 
measures to prevent or minimise such elements, 
ensure that these are incorporated into the  
risk management process. Additional information 
about the management of financial risks can be 
found in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements on pages 154 to 157. 

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

As part of its risk management system, the  
Vifor Pharma Group operates an internal control 
system (ICS) to provide reliable internal and 
external financial reporting and to prevent false 
information and errors about business transac-
tions. The ICS provides the necessary processes 
and controls to ensure that risks relating to the 
quality of the company’s financial reporting can 
be detected and managed in a timely manner. 
A thorough review of the existence of the pro-
cesses and controls of the Vifor Pharma Group 
ICS is carried out annually by the external 
auditors at the time of the interim audit. The 
results of these reviews are reported to the Audit 
and Risk Committee and appropriate measures 
are taken by management to continually improve 
the company’s processes with regard to book-
keeping, accounting and financial reporting.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit carries out audits of operational 
and strategic risk management and the ICS  
in accordance with the audit plan determined by 
the Audit Committee. It carries out reviews, 
analyses and interviews across the Group and 
helps business operations to meet set targets  
by ensuring an independent assessment of the 
effectiveness of the internal control processes. 
Internal Audit regularly produces reports on  
its audits and reports directly to the Audit and 
Risk Committee in writing. The activities of 
Internal Audit are conducted through contracts 
issued to external service providers.

Auditors

The statutory auditors of Vifor Pharma Group are 
elected annually by the Annual General Meeting 
for a duration of one year. For 2019 the mandate 
has been entrusted to Ernst & Young Ltd., Bern, 
Switzerland. Ernst & Young Ltd. have been the 
Group’s auditors since 1992. In accordance with 
statutory requirements, the mandate of the  
lead auditor is limited to a maximum of seven 
years. Martin Mattes, certified accountant, a 
partner at Ernst & Young, is in charge of the audit 
since 2017. The fees paid to the Group’s auditors 
Ernst & Young Ltd. in 2019 for their audit of Vifor 
Pharma Ltd. and companies within the Vifor 
Pharma Group totalled CHF 1,020,073. The fees 
paid to Ernst & Young Ltd. and their close 
 collaborators for other services rendered to Vifor 
Pharma Ltd. and its subsidiaries in the period 
under review amounted to CHF 277,757. They 
break down as follows: 

 – Additional advice in accounting matters: 
CHF 48,229

 – Tax and legal advice: CHF 175,672
 – Other advisory services (supporting IT migra-

tion/data protection & privacy): CHF 53,856

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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In 2019, the auditors attended two meetings of 
the Audit and Risk Committee. Moreover, they 
presented their report at the meeting of the 
Board of Directors on 7 March 2019. The auditors 
are regularly informed of new projects by the 
Board of Directors. The auditors’ activities are 
reviewed at least once a year by the Audit and 
Risk Committee. The criteria that are of particular 
importance in these reviews are: competence  
in reporting, understanding of the complex 
structure of the Group, the quality of reporting, 
compliance with deadlines, independence  
and costs. The involvement of the auditors in the 
financial elements of due diligence reviews  
for acquisitions and in the related legal advice 
improves the efficiency of the process.

Information policy

The Vifor Pharma Group and its affiliate companies 
have an active, transparent policy for informing  
all their stakeholder groups. Consistency and 
credibility are two fundamental principles that  
are reflected in factual, comprehensive and 
objective communication.

AD HOC PUBLICITY

Important and price-relevant events are commu-
nicated in a timely manner via electronic media 
and in accordance with the Directive of the  
SIX Swiss Exchange. Any employees affected are 
informed first, to the extent that this is possible  
in the specific situation and allowed by law. 

PERIODIC PUBLICATIONS 

Vifor Pharma reports its half-year and full-year 
results in business reports (published in print 
and/or online formats and at media events). A list 
of the latest publications is available online under 
viforpharma.com/en/media where all relevant 
information and documents, including media 
releases, investor updates, as well as presenta-
tions held at investor or analyst conferences  
can be found. The Vifor Pharma Group publishes 
a printed short version of the annual report, 
which is sent to the shareholders by  
mail upon request.

The invitation to the Annual General Meeting  
as well as corporate notices are sent to share-
holders electronically or by mail and published  
in the “Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt”.

INTERNET 

Publications, media releases and other supple-
mentary information published by Vifor Pharma 
Group can be found on the Vifor Pharma Media 
Relations webpage (viforpharma.com/en/media). 
Corporate governance documents can be found 
at viforpharma.com/governance, and corporate 
responsibility documentation, including the  
Vifor Pharma Group Code of Conduct, is made 
accessible under viforpharma.com/responsibility.

http://www.viforpharma.com/en/media
http://www.viforpharma.com/en/media
http://www.viforpharma.com/governance
https://www.viforpharma.com/responsibility
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COMMITTEES AND MEETING ATTENDANCE IN 2019

Members of the Board of Directors1 First  
elected

Governance, 
Nomination and 
Sustainability 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Scientific 
Committee

US  
Committee

Etienne Jornod, Executive Chairman 1996 Chair

Prof. Hon. Dr. Michel Burnier 2010 Member Chair

Dr. Romeo Cerutti 2015 Member Member Member

Dr. Sue Mahony2 2019 Chair Chair

Kim Stratton2 2019 Member Member Member

Jacques Theurillat 2018 Chair2 Member

Dr. Gianni Zampieri 2018 Member Member

Dr. Andreas Walde, General Secretary

Ernst & Young Ltd., Group auditor

Number of meetings in 2019 1 5 5 2 3

1 Former members of the Board of Directors Daniela Bosshardt Hengartner, Dr. Sylvie Grégoire, and Fritz Hirsbrunner did not stand for re-election 
to the Board of Directors at the Annual General Meeting of 8 May 2019.

2 Since the Annual General Meeting 2019.
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MEMBERS OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

KIM STRATTON 
ELECTED IN 2019 

ETIENNE JORNOD  
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
ELECTED IN 1996 

JACQUES THEURILLAT 
ELECTED IN 2018 
 

DR. ROMEO CERUTTI 
ELECTED IN 2015 
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PROF. HON. DR.  
MICHEL BURNIER 
ELECTED IN 2010 

DR. SUE MAHONY 
ELECTED IN 2019 

DR. GIANNI ZAMPIERI 
ELECTED IN 2018 
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MEMBERS OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ETIENNE JORNOD 
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
BORN 1953, SWISS CITIZEN 

Etienne Jornod, Executive Chairman of Vifor 
Pharma Group since 1996, joined the Galenica 
Group in 1975 as a Junior Product Manager. He 
left in 1978 to obtain his university degree before 
returning as Assistant to the Corporate Executive 
Committee in 1981. In 1989, he joined the 
Corporate Executive Committee and served as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of 
Galenica from 1996 to 2011. He became Executive 
Chairman in 2012. He is also Chairman of the 
Board of Directors at the Neue Zürcher Zeitung 
AG. Etienne Jornod holds a Lic. oec. from  
the HEC University of Lausanne and was part of 
the Senior Executive Programme at Stanford 
University in the United States.
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PROF. HON. DR. MICHEL BURNIER
BORN 1953, SWISS CITIZEN 

Prof. Michel Burnier joined the Board of Directors 
in 2010. He is a Swiss-registered Doctor of 
Internal Medicine and Nephrology. He is currently 
a Lecturer at the University of Lausanne, where  
he was the head of the Service of Nephrology and 
Hypertension until July 2018. He is currently on 
the Board of Galenica AG and is a member of the 
Swiss Society of Nephrology (former President), 
the Scientific Council of the European Society of 
Hypertension (former Treasurer) and the Swiss 
Society of Hypertension (former President). He 
was a member of the Medicines Committee of the 
Swiss Association of Pharmacists until 2001 and 
served on the boards of Swissmedic (2002–2010) 
and Speedel Holding Ltd (2007–2009). 

DR. ROMEO CERUTTI
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
BORN 1962, SWISS AND ITALIAN CITIZEN 

Dr. Romeo Cerutti joined the Board of Directors 
in 2015; since 1 January 2019 he serves as Deputy 
Chairman. He holds a doctorate in law from the 
University of Fribourg, and a master’s degree 
from the University of California. He is formerly 
an Attorney-at-law at Latham and Watkins and at 
Homburger Rechtsanwälte. Later, he was the 
Head of Corporate Finance at Lombard Odier 
Darier Hentsch & Cie, and a partner of the Group 
Holding. He was General Counsel to the Credit 
Suisse Private Banking Division 2006–2009. He is 
General Counsel and member of the Executive 
Board of Credit Suisse Group Ltd., Credit Suisse 
Ltd, and a member of the Board of Trustees of the 
Swiss Finance Institute, where he is Chairman.  
He is also a member of the legal committee of the 
Swiss-American Chamber of Commerce. 
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DR. SUE MAHONY
BORN 1964, US AND BRITISH CITIZEN 

Dr. Sue Mahony was elected to the Board of 
Directors in 2019. She has a BSc and PhD  
in pharmacy, an MBA from the London Business 
School, and has been awarded an honorary 
doctorate degree from Aston University in the 
UK. She is a member of the boards of Assembly 
Biosciences, Horizon Therapeutics plc and 
Zymeworks Inc. She has broad experience in the 
pharmaceutical industry and has held senior  
roles at Schering-Plough, Amgen, Bristol-Myers 
Squibb and Eli-Lilly. She was formerly President  
of Lilly Oncology.

KIM STRATTON
BORN 1962, AUSTRALIAN CITIZEN 

Kim Stratton was elected to the Board of Directors 
in 2019. Since October 2019, she has been  
CEO of Orphazyme A/S and since February 2017, 
a Non-Executive Director of Novozymes. She was 
formerly Head of HIV Business at Bristol-Myers 
Squibb UK, Head of Respiratory Business Unit at 
AstraZeneca, and has held several leading 
positions at Novartis across the UK, Switzerland, 
US and Portugal. She was also Head International 
Commercial for all ex-US Business across 
specialty and rare diseases at biotechnology 
company, Shire.
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JACQUES THEURILLAT
BORN 1959, SWISS CITIZEN 

Jacques Theurillat was elected to the Board of 
Directors in 2018. He is a Swiss Attorney-at-law, 
with a Bachelor of Law degree from both Madrid 
and Geneva Universities. From 1987 to 2006,  
he held various positions at Serono, including 
CFO and Deputy CEO (1987–2006). He has been 
a member of the Board of Directors of Serono 
since 2000. He also serves on the Board of 
Directors at Mundipharma Ltd., CNH Industrial 
N.V. and ADC Therapeutics SA., and is a partner  
at the Sofinnova Crossover Fund in Paris.

DR. GIANNI ZAMPIERI
BORN 1956, SWISS CITIZEN 

Dr. Gianni Zampieri was elected to the Board of 
Directors in 2017. He joined Vifor Pharma Group in 
1996 as CEO of Vifor Ltd. He became Head of the 
Galenica Group Pharma Division, Head of Industrial 
Operations of the Vifor Pharma Group in 2008  
and CEO of OM Pharma in 2010. In 2011, he was 
appointed Deputy CEO of the Vifor Pharma Group 
and in 2012 Deputy CEO and Head of Pharma 
Operations. From May 2016 to May 2017 he was the 
CEO Vifor Pharma. From 2002 to 2017, he was 
a member of the Corporate Executive Committee. 
Prior to joining the Vifor Pharma Group, he held 
various strategic planning positions at Hofmann- 
La Roche and Novartis. He is also a member of the 
Board of Directors of ECSA Group. He holds a  
PhD from the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology 
(ETH) and completed the Senior Executive Pro-
gramme at Stanford University in the United States.
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COLIN BOND 
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OFFICER
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CHIEF BUSINESS 
OFFICER

MICHAEL PURI 
CHIEF HUMAN RESOURCES 
OFFICER
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STEFAN SCHULZE
PRESIDENT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER 
BORN 1965, GERMAN CITIZEN 

Stefan Schulze has been President of the Executive 
Committee and COO of Vifor Pharma Group since 
2017. He joined the Vifor Pharma Group as CEO  
of Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. 
in 2014, having spent 22 years at Fresenius Group 
in various roles including Executive Vice President 
Sales and Marketing Fresenius AG, Germany; 
President and General Manager of Fresenius 
HemoCare’s Adsorber Technology Business Unit, 
Germany; President Fresenius HemoCare, USA, 
and Senior Vice President Business Development 
Fresenius Medical Care North America, Germany 
and USA. He is a qualified industrial engineer from 
the Technical University of Berlin, and a member  
of the Board for EFPIA.

BARBARA ANGEHRN
CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICER 
BORN 1974, SWISS AND SERBIAN CITIZEN 

Barbara Angehrn joined Vifor Pharma Group as 
Chief Business Officer in November 2018. She has 
extensive international, commercial and business 
development experience in specialty pharma. 
She joined Vifor Pharma Group from STEPSTONE 
Pharma, where she was the founder and CEO. 
Prior to this, she held various senior roles at 
Exelixis, Onyx and Amgen International. She 
graduated in finance and capital markets  
at the University of St. Gallen MBA, Switzerland. 

MEMBERS OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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MICHAEL PURI
CHIEF HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICER
BORN 1969, BELGIAN CITIZEN 

Michael Puri joined Vifor Pharma Group in 2015 
as Head of Global Human Resources. He joined 
the company from GrandVision where he was the 
Global Head of Human Resources and a member 
of the Global Executive Team. Prior to this, he  
was Senior Director of Global Talent Development 
at UCB, and Vice-President of Human Resources 
Europe at Staples. He holds a Bachelor’s degree 
in Economics from the University of Nantes and 
a Master’s in Strategic Marketing from the IESM 
Management School of Grenoble. 

COLIN BOND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
BORN 1960, BRITISH AND SWISS CITIZEN 

Colin Bond joined Vifor Pharma Group as CFO in 
2016, after six years as CFO of the MDAX/TecDAX 
listed biotech company Evotec AG. He has held 
CFO roles at Jet Aviation Group, Ecolab (EMEA) 
and Novelis Europe. In his early career he worked 
as a pharmacist, auditor and management 
consultant for Procter & Gamble, Arthur Andersen 
and PricewaterhouseCoopers. He is an FCA 
Chartered Accountant and holds a MRPharmS 
from the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great 
Britain; an MBA from the London Business School 
and a BSc in Pharmacy from University of Aston. 
Since 2013, he is a Board member and Chairman 
of the Audit Committee of Siegfried AG. Since 
2016, in his capacity as representative of the  
Vifor Pharma Group, he is a member of the Board 
of Directors of BioPharma Credit plc.
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DR. CHRISTOPH SPRINGER
CHIEF STRATEGY OFFICER
BORN 1968, SWISS CITIZEN 

Dr. Christoph Springer was appointed Chief 
Strategy Officer of the Vifor Pharma Group  
in 2018. He first joined Vifor (International) Ltd. in 
1997, working in the anaemia division for three 
years. He then spent seven years at AMGEN, first 
as GM Switzerland, followed by commercial roles 
at AMGEN International Inc. In 2007, he returned 
to the Vifor Pharma Group as Global Head of 
Anaemia TA Marketing. In 2011, he was appointed 
Deputy CEO of VFMCRP Ltd. and became Head 
of Global Business Development of the Vifor 
Pharma Group in 2016. He has a Master’s in 
Natural Sciences from the Swiss Federal Institute 
of Technology (ETH), a PHD in Molecular Biology 
from Georg-August-University in Germany  
and an MBA from George Washington University  
in the US.

PATRICK TREANOR 
PRESIDENT US 
BORN 1968, US CITIZEN 

Patrick Treanor was promoted to President US in 
October 2019, following his promotion to Presi-
dent of Relypsa in October 2018. He has previ-
ously served as both Senior Vice President and 
Chief Commercial Officer, helping lead the launch 
and commercialisation strategy of Veltassa®.  
He joined Relypsa in May 2015 to establish the 
sales organisation for the US. launch of Veltassa®. 
He has more than 25 years of experience in the 
biotech, pharmaceutical and medical device 
sectors at Johnson & Johnson, Abbott Laborato-
ries, Ocient Pharmaceuticals, AMAG Pharma-
ceuticals and Insulet Corporation, with roles of 
increasing responsibilities in sales, training, 
marketing and market access. He holds an MBA 
from the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute and 
a B.S. in Management from Bryant University.



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019 99 



REMUNERATION



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019 101 

102 Chairwoman’s overview
103 Philosophy and approach to remuneration
104 Governance
108 Board and Executive remuneration
114 Remuneration awarded in 2019 and 2018
120 Overview of executive remuneration in 2019 and 2018
121 Outlook: no changes in remuneration model for 2020
122 Statutory auditor’s report

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

REMUNERATION

102

CHAIRWOMAN’S
OVERVIEW

The remuneration programmes of Vifor Pharma 
are designed to support our corporate strategy 
and to ensure a sustainable performance towards 
its Objective 2020 and beyond. We have created 
a remuneration framework that keeps our 
employees fully focused on successfully executing 
our strategy of becoming the global leader  
in iron deficiency, nephrology and cardio-renal 
therapies. 

Our remuneration philosophy aims to recruit  
and retain highly talented and ethical individuals 
who help us promote the well-being of patients, 
deliver returns for our shareholders, look after the 
interests of our stakeholders and the environment 
and ensure our company’s long-term success.  
We are constantly scrutinising our remuneration 
and promotion processes to foster equitable 
career flows for both women and men when it 
comes to pay equity, leadership development 
training and organisational culture. Our remuner-
ation approach remains stable over time:  
we reward entrepreneurial behaviour that drives 
sustainable performance and long-term value 
creation. 

As envisaged, the Company has implemented  
net sales and EBITDA as two new performance 
metrics in the short-term bonus to further align  
its remuneration with our strategy of profitable 
growth and with the achievement of our key 
financial objectives. In 2019, the Remuneration 
Committee conducted a comprehensive bench-
mark of the remuneration of Executive Commit-
tee members to ensure competitive remuneration 
to attract, retain and motivate the needed talents. 
With remuneration agreed for new members  
and some adjustments made for existing ones, 
the Remuneration Committee considers the 

Company appropriately placed to compete  
with its peers and to support Vifor Pharma on  
its way to achieve its ambitious goals. 

As in previous years, our Executive Chairman 
continues to demonstrate his personal commit-
ment, his alignment with the shareholders’ 
interest and his confidence in Vifor Pharma Group 
by being remunerated almost entirely in blocked 
shares. On the following pages, we explain how 
the different remuneration programmes for the 
Board of Directors, the Executive Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee 
are designed to ensure sustainable success  
and to protect the interests of our shareholders.

Yours sincerely,  

Sue Mahony 
Chairwoman of the Remuneration Committee
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REMUNERATION

PHILOSOPHY AND APPROACH  
TO REMUNERATION

To reflect their different roles on delivering  
the strategy, the Board of Directors (Board), the 
Executive Chairman of the Board and the 
 Executive Committee are remunerated through 
different programmes. 

Members of the Board receive a fixed remunera-
tion independent of operational performance  
to underscore their focus on corporate strategy, 
supervision, governance and sustainability.  
To strengthen the alignment with shareholders’ 
interests, Board members receive all or part  
of their remuneration in the form of restricted 
shares and, as in 2018 and previous years, the 
Executive Chairman continues to receive his 
remuneration almost entirely in restricted shares. 

Members of the Executive Committee are 
remunerated according to the principles below.

ATTRACTION AND RETENTION

We aim to attract and retain highly talented, 
entrepreneurial, effective individuals who comply 
with the highest ethical standards and who  
can help us to promote the well-being of patients, 
protect the interests of our shareholders and 
drive the long-term success of our company. 

STRATEGIC AND SHAREHOLDER ALIGNMENT

Our remuneration principles are in line with our 
vision and strategy, both in terms of driving 
performance and of delivering the returns 
expected by our shareholders. Vifor Pharma’s 
remuneration system is part of a sustainable, 
long-term development policy to support the 

strategic goals defined by the Board, who 
recognises that under certain circumstances, 
achieving economic success may require a longer 
period of time. In order to strengthen the align-
ment of executives and shareholders, members of 
the Executive Committee receive part of their 
remuneration in restricted shares and are subject 
to a minimum shareholding requirement. Selected 
members of senior management involved in 
long-term company projects may also be invited 
to participate in the share-based Long-Term 
Incentive Programme. Our company does not pay 
any remuneration in the form of traded options.

PAY-FOR-PERFORMANCE ALIGNMENT

In addition to their fixed salary, members of the 
Executive Committee receive variable remunera-
tion to reflect the operational performance of the 
company as well as their individual contributions.

FAIRNESS

We strive to remunerate our employees fairly in 
the highly competitive market environment.

CLAW-BACK PROVISIONS

Correct and ethical behaviour is the foundation  
of our activities. Should any wilful misconduct  
or fraud lead to a restatement of the accounts of 
Vifor Pharma, bonus and long-term incentives 
awarded or paid during the past three years to 
members of the Executive Committee directly 
involved in such activities may be withheld or be 
subject to reimbursement.

The company’s philosophy and approach to remuneration 
have remained stable in recent years. 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

Our shareholders have been given a greater voice 
on remuneration matters in recent years. The 
Articles of Association that outline the principles 
of remuneration are approved by the Annual 
Shareholder Meeting. In addition, shareholders 
annually elect the members of the Remuneration 
Committee for the coming period of office and 
approve the maximum aggregate remuneration 
amounts each year for the Board and the 
 Executive Committee prospectively for the next 
business year. Furthermore, shareholders may 
express their opinion on the remuneration report 
in a consultative vote at the Annual Shareholder 
Meeting. The remuneration report describes the 
remuneration principles and programmes as  
well as the governance framework related to the 
remuneration of the Board and Executive Com-
mittee. The report also provides details on the 

remuneration awarded to the members of  
the Board and of the Executive Committee in  
the reporting year. 

PROVISIONS IN THE VIFOR PHARMA 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION: SUMMARY

The responsibilities of the different decision-mak-
ing bodies in determining remuneration and the 
guiding principles are defined in the Vifor Pharma 
Articles of Association. The Articles of Associa-
tion form the basis for our remuneration strategy 
and policy for the Executive Committee and the 
Board. They are also the basis for any recommen-
dation or proposal that the Remuneration 
Committee formulates. Key provisions of the 
Articles of Association on remuneration are 
summarised in the table below and can be  
found online at viforpharma.com/governance.

GOVERNANCE 

PROVISIONS ON REMUNERATION IN THE VIFOR PHARMA ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION: SUMMARY

Topic Article Summary

Remuneration 
Committee 

19 a The Remuneration Committee generally comprises three members who are elected 
individually by the shareholders at the Annual Shareholder Meeting for a period of 
one year. The Remuneration Committee supports the Board in establishing and 
reviewing the remuneration strategy, principles and programmes, in preparing the 
proposals to the Annual Shareholder Meeting on remuneration matters and in 
determining the remuneration of the Board, the Executive Chairman and of the 
members of the Executive Committee.

“Say-on-pay” votes 19 b 
par. 1

Shareholders approve the maximum possible amount of remuneration of the Board 
(incl. Executive Chairman) and the Executive Committee for the following financial year.

Remuneration 
principles

19 b 
par. 2

Remuneration of the members of the Board consists of fixed remuneration only. 
Remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee consists of fixed and 
variable elements. Variable remuneration may comprise short-term and long-term 
components. Remuneration may be paid in cash, shares or other benefits.

Supplementary 
amount for new 
Executive Committee 
members 

19 b 
par. 6

If the maximum approved remuneration amount is not sufficient to also cover the 
remuneration of newly promoted/hired members of the Executive Committee, the 
maximum possible remuneration amount for such newly promoted/hired members 
may exceed the average of existing members excluding the CEO by up to 25% as a 
supplementary amount to cover the remuneration of such new Executive Committee 
member(s). For a newly promoted/hired CEO the supplementary amount is 40% of 
the maximum possible remuneration amount of his or her predecessor.

Credits and loans 19 b 
par. 8

Credits and loans may not be granted to members of the Board and only up to 50% 
of the annual base salary for members of the Executive Committee.

http://www.viforpharma.com/governance
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIFFERENT 
BODIES IN DETERMINING REMUNERATION

Vifor Pharma’s remuneration and reporting 
comply with: 

 – the Swiss Code of Obligations,
 – the Swiss Federal Ordinance against excessive 

compensation in publicly listed corporations 
(VegüV),

 – the standards on corporate governance of  
SIX Swiss Exchange and 

 – the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
Governance of Swiss national federation, 
Economiesuisse. 

The Board is responsible for designing the 
remuneration policy and programmes and for 
determining individual remuneration for the 
members of the Board and the Executive Com-

mittee. Furthermore, the Board is accountable for 
the preparation and overall fair presentation of 
the remuneration report in accordance with Swiss 
law and the VegüV (“Verordnung gegen über-
mässige Vergütungen bei börsenkotierten Aktien-
gesellschaften” or “Ordinance against excessive 
compensation in publicly listed corporations”). 
The Remuneration Committee approves the 
individual remuneration of EC members other 
than the COO. For the remuneration of the COO 
and the Board, the Remuneration Committee  
acts in an advisory capacity while the Board 
retains the decision authority on matters relating 
to remuneration except for the maximum aggre-
gate remuneration amounts for the Board and for 
the Executive Committee, which are approved by 
shareholders at the Annual Shareholder Meeting. 
The responsibilities of the different bodies 
regarding remuneration matters are detailed  
in the table below.

RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING REMUNERATION DECISIONS

COO
Remuneration 

Committee Executive Chair Board of Directors Shareholders

Remuneration policy and incentive plans Proposes Approves

Maximum remuneration amount of EC Proposes Recommends Recommends Approves

COO remuneration Proposes Recommends Approves

Individual remuneration of EC members 
other than the COO

Proposes Approves 
Informs

Recommends Is informed

Performance objectives and assessment  
of COO

Proposes Recommends Approves

Performance objectives and assessment  
of EC other than the COO

Proposes Approves 
Informs

Recommends Is informed

Shareholding requirements of COO  
and EC

Proposes Approves

Maximum remuneration amount  
of the Board 

Proposes Recommends Recommends Approves

Individual remuneration of Board members Proposes Approves

Remuneration report Proposes Recommends Approves Consultative 
vote
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THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

The Remuneration Committee supports the 
Board in defining the principles of the remunera-
tion policy and in determining the remuneration 
awarded to members of the Board and the 
Executive Committee within the maximum 
aggregate amount of remuneration approved by 
shareholders at the Annual Shareholder Meeting. 
The Committee supports the Board in designing 
participation and incentive programmes and  
in all other tasks related to remuneration of the 
Board and the Executives. The chair of the 
Remuneration Committee reports to the Board 
after each meeting on its activities and formulates 
appropriate recommendations. The Board may 
delegate further duties and powers to the 
Committee. The Executive Chairman is invited 
regularly to meetings in an advisory capacity.  
The Chairman of the Committee may also invite 

other Executives, such as the COO, as appropri-
ate. Agenda items and matters directly affecting 
the Executive Chairman, the COO or other 
Executives are deliberated in their absence. 

The Remuneration Committee meets as often as 
business requires, but at least quarterly accord-
ing to the annual remuneration planning cycle 
described below. In the 2019 business year, the 
Committee held four meetings, each lasting 
between one and three hours.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PLANNING CYCLE 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Annual Shareholder Meeting ×

Remuneration policy and incentive plans × ×

Maximum aggregate remuneration amount for Board to be submitted  
to shareholders’ vote

×

Maximum aggregate remuneration amount for Executive Committee  
to be submitted to shareholders’ vote

×

Maximum aggregate remuneration amount for the Executive Chairman to be 
submitted to shareholders’ vote and calculate the number of shares allocated

×

Performance achievement of Executive Committee (mid-year assessment) ×

Performance achievement of Executive Committee (final assessment)  
of the previous year

×

Performance objectives for the Executive Committee for the following year ×

Variable remuneration of Executive Committee (short-term bonus for  
the previous business year and vesting level of the Long Term Incentive  
for the preceding three years) 

×

Remuneration Report on the previous business year to be submitted  
to shareholders’ consultative vote

×
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USE OF BENCHMARKS AND  
EXTERNAL ADVISORS

The remuneration of the Board and the Executive 
Committee is benchmarked based on public 
information, recognised market data providers, 
data published by non-profit organisations 
focused on socially responsible investment and 
active share ownership, and on our Remuneration 
Committee members’ experience and expertise 
from similar companies. 

The remuneration of the Board is benchmarked 
from time to time (every two to four years) against 
the practices of listed companies of comparable 
size, including market capitalisation, in Switzer-
land. The latest analysis in 2017 was based  
on the following peer group: Actelion, Aryzta, 
Barry Callebaut, Bucher, Clariant, DKSH, Dufry, 
Ems-Chemie, Fischer, Flughafen Zürich, Lindt, 
Lonza, OC Oerlikon, Panalpina, Schindler, Sika, 
Sonova, Straumann and Sulzer.

The remuneration of the Swiss-based Executive 
Committee members is compared with the 
remuneration of Executive Committee members 
in comparable European pharmaceutical compa-
nies and Swiss listed companies, as well as with 
the remuneration of executives in Swiss subsidiar-
ies of international pharmaceutical companies. 
The remuneration awarded to the Executive 
Committee member based in the United States is 
compared to the data of pharmaceutical compa-
nies in the San Francisco Bay Area (no specific 
peer group). A company is regarded as similar  
if it is comparable to Vifor Pharma in terms of 
sector, structure and complexity, size (sales, market 
capitalisation and number of employees), 
geographic presence and profitability. 

The composition of the benchmarking peer 
groups is disclosed below.

Peer group of Swiss listed companies
 – Barry Callebaut, Clariant, EMS-Chemie, 

Galenica, Idorsia, Lindt, Lonza, Siegfried, Sika, 
Sonova, Straumann, Swiss Prime Site, Tecan, 
Ypsomed

Peer group of European pharmaceutical companies
 – Grifols, Hikma, Indivior, Ipsen, Lundbeck, 

Orion, Recordati, Sonova, Swedish Orphan 
Biovitrum, UCB

Peer group of Swiss subsidiaries of  international 
pharmaceutical companies
 – Allergan, Beckman Coulter, Catalent Pharma 

Solutions, Clariant, CSL, Johnson & Johnson 
(former Actelion), Leica Microsystems, Lonza, 
Nestlé, Nobel Biocare, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, 
Roche, Shire, Smith & Nephew, Sonova, 
Syngenta, Tecan, Zoetis

External consultants may provide analytical 
support to the Remuneration Committee in the 
development of the remuneration strategy  
and of the review of short-term and long-term 
incentive programmes, cash and equity-based 
remuneration and salary levels. 

In 2019, Mercer and Willis Towers Watson carried 
out a benchmark study on the remuneration of 
members of the Executive Committee and certain 
other functions. Agnès Blust Consulting AG was 
mandated on certain executive remuneration 
matters. Those companies hold no other man-
dates with Vifor Pharma Ltd.
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Remuneration for the  
Board of Directors

The Board sets the remuneration for its members 
in order to attract and retain a mix of Swiss and 
international high-calibre individuals with global 
experience. Board members do not receive 
variable performance-based remuneration or 
options, and except for the Executive Chairman, 
are not eligible to company pension benefits, 
which underscores their focus on corporate 
strategy, supervision and governance.

Each member of the Board receives an annual fee 
for Board membership and for performing 
additional functions as chair and/or member of 
a Board committee. The level of remuneration  
for each role is determined based on the skill set, 
experience and time required as described 
below. 

CHF

Board membership 140,000

Vice-chair of the Board 50,000

Chair of a Committee 30,000

Committee membership (not Chair) 10,000

Remuneration is paid 50% in cash and 50% in 
shares, which are blocked for five years. Board 
members may elect to be remunerated fully in 
shares in which case the remuneration amount is 
divided by the average share price during the  
last month preceding the election less a 25% 
discount. Social security contributions due on the 
remuneration of the Board is paid by the company. 
Board members are subject to a minimum 
shareholding requirement: they must build-up 
and hold the equivalent of at least their annual 
remuneration in shares within two years of their 
election to the Board.

Remuneration for the  
Executive Chairman

Since 2012, Etienne Jornod has been remunerat-
ed almost exclusively in registered shares for his 
responsibilities and duties as Executive Chairman 
of the Board. The agreement between the Board 
and Etienne Jornod is that, conditionally upon his 
re-election by shareholders at the Annual 
Shareholder Meeting, his annual share-based 
remuneration will remain unchanged until 2020. 
His annual share-based remuneration is therefore 
held constant at CHF 3,670,000 and awarded at 
the end of each business year in form of shares, 
which are blocked for five years. In addition, 
Etienne Jornod also received a cash remunera-
tion of CHF 150,000 to cover his pension and 
social security contributions and of CHF 120,000 
to compensate for the allocation of the share-
based remuneration in arrears introduced in 2016 
and the introduction of a five year lock-up period 
on newly allocated shares. In the event of Etienne 
Jornod stepping down during the year, he would 
be entitled to pro-rata remuneration.

The Board and Etienne Jornod also agreed to 
keep the 200,000 shares that he owned prior to 
2017 blocked until the 2020 Annual Shareholder 
Meeting. This conscious decision to reinvest  
value into the company is a clear demonstration 
of Etienne Jornod’s personal commitment to 
shareholders and his confidence in the company’s 
vision, strategy and leadership. The restriction on 
the shares may expire if Etienne Jornod’s function 
were to end or if his function were rendered 
non-executive. His shares remain blocked in all 
other instances.

BOARD AND EXECUTIVE
REMUNERATION
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Remuneration for the  
Executive Committee

In order to reward performance and promote 
Executive Committee members’ loyalty and 
long-term engagement, the Vifor Pharma remu-
neration system is applied consistently through-
out the Group and comprises an annual base 
salary, an annual short-term bonus, a long-term 
incentive and customary benefits. The ratio 
between fixed and variable remuneration may 
vary depending on criteria such as position  
level, scope and responsibility of the role (eg, 
impact on organisation, profit and loss, budget 
and team, headcount). Accordingly, the variable 
portion of remuneration is higher for members  
of the Executive Committee than for other 
employees. Executive Committee members also 
participate in Long-Term Incentive Programme,  
as they steer Vifor Pharma’s long-term perfor-
mance and success.

ANNUAL BASE SALARY 

The annual base salary constitutes the fixed pay 
that reflects the scope and responsibilities of  
the function, the required skills and the profile  
of the incumbent (qualifications and previous 
experience). Base salary is determined according 
to typical market practice (external benchmarks) 
and the Vifor Pharma Group’s internal salary 
structure. A base salary around the median of the 
benchmark is considered competitive. Base 
salary is reviewed annually in line with market 
salary trends, the company’s ability to pay based 
on its financial performance and the evolving 
experience of the incumbent.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION (INCENTIVES)

Executive Committee members are eligible for 
an annual short-term bonus to reward the 
company’s overall financial results and individual 
contributions during a given business year. They 

may also be invited to participate in an annual 
Long-Term Incentive Programme (LTI) that 
recognises and rewards the achievement of 
company goals over several years, such as 
specific long-term financial objectives or the 
integration of a new business (eg, Relypsa). The 
short-term bonus and LTI are variable, perfor-
mance-based income. This incentive system is 
designed to ensure that the participants’ actions, 
behaviour and decisions support the fulfilment of 
the company’s goals and its sustainable success.

These incentive schemes constitute independent 
remuneration elements and are therefore 
weighted and calculated individually. The ratio 
between annual base salary and the variable 
elements of remuneration is determined by the 
Remuneration Committee based on function 
level. Each of the target short-term bonus and the 
LTI may not exceed an Executive Committee 
member’s annual base salary. Both, the short-
term bonus and the LTI are capped at a payout 
level of 200% of the target.

SHORT-TERM BONUS

The purpose of the annual bonus is to reward  
the company’s financial performance and individ-
ual contributions during a given business year. 
The target bonus is defined once a year at the 
beginning of a performance period and consti-
tutes the amount to be paid out to the extent  
that all performance objectives have been fully 
achieved (100% payout). The target bonus typically 
ranges from 70% to 90% of the annual base  
salary for the COO and from 35% to 60% of 
annual base salary for the other members of  
the Executive Committee. 

The annual bonus is based on the financial 
performance of the company, weighted at 75%, 
and on the individual contributions, weighted  
at 25%. The financial performance consists of  
Net Sales and EBITDA. Those performance 
metrics have been chosen as they combine top- 
line growth with bottom-line profitability and  
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thus are well aligned with the strategy of profita-
ble growth. The individual performance objec-
tives consist of either quantitative or qualitative 
goals (eg, strategic, operational or project-based 
objectives including safety, compliance and 
corporate responsibility). For each objective, the 
Remuneration Committee determines a minimum 
level of performance (threshold) below which  
the payout is zero, a target level of performance 
for which the payout amounts to 100% and a 
maximum level of performance (cap) above which 
the payout is capped at 200%. The evaluation  
of an Executive Committee member’s individual 
performance is conducted at the end of the year 
and includes a qualitative assessment of whether 
they have carried out their duties in line with 
company values and expected leadership 
behaviours. 

Specific performance targets are not published 
as they are considered commercially sensitive 
information. 

The short-term bonus is allocated annually after 
the full-year results have been published. Execu-
tive Committee members receive 32% of their 
bonus in Vifor Pharma shares, which remain 
blocked for a period of five years. Such shares are 
allocated at the average share price for the month 
of December of the year prior to payment of the 
bonus, minus 25% discount. The remaining 68% is 
paid out in cash. If the Board in exceptional cases 
awards a discretionary bonus for extraordinary 
performance, the bonus would usually be paid 
out in cash only.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAMME (LTI)

The LTI recognises and rewards Executive 
Committee members for the achievement of 
specific long-term objectives, such as long-term 
financial targets or the successful integration  
of a major acquisition. The LTI is designed to align 
management and company interests over the 
medium and long terms to ensure sustainable 
value for patients, customers and shareholders. 

LTI participants also have the opportunity to 
benefit from the long-term appreciation of  
Vifor Pharma’s overall value through the develop-
ment of the share price, which strengthens their 
personal investment in the company and gives 
them a compelling reason to stay at Vifor Pharma. 
The LTI is a long-term equity plan whose value is 
influenced by the Group’s operating performance 
and the Vifor Pharma share price. The Board 
decides the COO’s eligibility and award size; the 
Remuneration Committee decides eligibility  
and award sizes for the other members of the 
Executive Committee. 

The LTI award is based on performance share 
units (PSUs) that vest and are converted into  
Vifor Pharma Ltd. shares at the end of a three-year 
vesting period. The Remuneration Committee 
defines the target amount for an LTI award as 
a percentage of the annual base salary for each 
member of the Executive Committee at the 
beginning of a three-year vesting period. The 
number of PSUs allocated at the beginning of 
a vesting period depends on the target amount 
and on the average Vifor Pharma Ltd. share price 
during the final month prior to allocation. The 
number of PSUs subject to vest depends on the 
achievement of a performance condition at  
the end of the vesting period. The Return on 
Investment Capital (ROIC) target was chosen as 
performance indicator because it expresses how 
well the company is generating cash relative to 
the capital it has invested in its business and is 
a simple and easily accessible metric for manage-
ment on all levels. The target level for the three-
year vesting period that is determined is general-
ly substantially above the weighted average cost 
of capital. The specific target is not published as it 
is considered commercially sensitive information.

The PSUs granted under the LTI are subject to  
full or partial forfeiture in the event of termination 
of employment. In the cases of death or disability, 
a pro-rata vesting applies on the date of termina-
tion. In case of change of control, eg, if the shares 
were to be delisted, outstanding PSUs may vest  
in full immediately. 
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Vifor Pharma maintains a long-term incentive plan 
pursuant to which Relypsa employees may be 
granted restricted share unit awards in shares of 
Vifor Pharma Ltd. On 15 May 2019, 69,669 such 
restricted share units were granted and up to 
100,000 restricted share units will be granted in 
March 2020. For the following years, further 
grants of up to 100,000 restricted share units per 
year may be made. These restricted share  
units vest in three annual tranches based on the 
achievement of certain annual performance 
metrics established by the Executive Committee. 
Awards may not be transferred, other than  
by will or the laws of descent and distribution, 
and may be proportionately adjusted in the  
event of any change in the capitalisation  
of Vifor Pharma Ltd.

PENSIONS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Vifor Pharma offers additional benefit plans that 
are designed to protect and support employees 
around the uncertainties of life. These benefits 
including retirement, disability and death plans 
are country-specific and are designed in accord-
ance with local legal requirements and competi-
tive market practices. Members of the Executive 
Committee based in Switzerland are covered by 
the pension scheme for all Vifor Pharma employees 
in Switzerland. The Vifor Pharma pension plan in 
Switzerland exceeds the legal requirements 
stipulated by the Swiss Federal Law on Occupa-
tional Pension Schemes (BVG) and is in line  
with what other listed companies of similar size  
in Switzerland offer. The President of Relypsa  
is covered by a comparable pension scheme in 
the United States.

Independent of their remuneration, employees, 
including Executive Committee members are 
entitled to acquire up to 100 of Vifor Pharma Ltd. 
shares per year under the share acquisition  
plan. These shares are blocked for three years  
at a reduced price, with a 30% discount on  
the market price. Other benefits may include 
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an expense allowance, a company car and 
reimbursement for one-time expenses relating to 
relocation, tax and legal advice (eg, in order to 
move to Switzerland) for the Executive Committee 
and select management members. The fair value 
of these other benefits is part of the remuneration 
and disclosed in the table on page 116. Members 
of the Executive Committee do not receive 
additional benefits.

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

Members of the Executive Committee are 
employed under contracts of unlimited duration 
and subject to a maximum notice period of 
12 months. They are not entitled to severance, 
termination or change-of-control payments, 
except the special vesting provisions under the  
LTI as described on page 110. 

MINIMUM SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS

The members of the Executive Committee are 
required to own at least 75% of their annual base 
salary and annual target bonus in Vifor Pharma 
Ltd. shares within five years of their appointment 
to the Executive Committee.

OPTIONS AND LOANS 

Vifor Pharma does not issue any tradeable 
options. The Vifor Pharma Articles of Association 
do not allow loans or credits to members of the 
Board; loans and credits to members of the 
Executive Committee are permitted up to 50%  
of an individual annual base salary.

÷

×

=

=

Beginning of cycle

End of cycle

Number of PSUs 
awarded

Final number  
of shares 
delivered

Grant value

Number of PSUs 
awarded

% of target 
achievement 

during 
three-year 

period

Vifor Pharma  
share price

How PSUs are converted into shares 
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REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE 

The remuneration system and programmes for 
the Executive Committee remained essentially 
unchanged in 2019. Overall, the total aggregate 
remuneration of the Executive Committee in  
2019 of CHF 11,050,00 amounted to 74.7% of the 
maximum aggregate amount of remuneration 
approved by the shareholders at the 2018 Annual 
Shareholder Meeting and increased by 8.2% 
compared to previous year, for the following 
reasons:

 – The financial performance achieved under the 
short-term bonus, which accounts for 75% of 
the payout amounts to 163.7% of target for the 
Vifor Pharma Group (previous year: 114.1%). 
For the individual portion of the bonus, which 
accounts for 25% of the payout, the average 
performance achievement was 144% of target 
(previous year: 112%), resulting in an overall 
bonus payout of 153% to 163% (previous year: 
111% to 115%). 

 – Remuneration includes contractual obligations 
to the two former Executive Committee 
members David Bevan and Dario Eklund.

The allocation of Performance Share Units (PSUs) 
under the Long-Term Incentive Programme (LTI) 
was defined on the basis of the average Vifor 
Pharma Ltd. share price during the month of 
February 2019 of CHF 126.09. The 2019 Return on 
Investment Capital (ROIC) target was set at 5.9%. 

The performance achievement under the LTI 
2017–2019 that vested at the end of 2019 was 
139.0%, based on an average ROIC of 11% over 
the three years 2017, 2018 and 2019.

The variable portion (excluding social security)  
of the total remuneration for the Executive 
Committee who were in office at the end of the 
year in 2019 was 46.9% (2018: 49.2%).

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD  
OF DIRECTORS 

The overall remuneration of the Board of 
 Directors, including of the Executive Chairman, 
amounted to CHF 5,850,000 for 2019 and is  
within the limits approved by the shareholders.  
It remained stable compared to previous year.

REMUNERATION AWARDED  
IN 2019 AND 2018

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Vifor Pharma 
shareholders decide prospectively, ie, one year in advance, 
on the maximum aggregate remuneration for members  
of the Board and members of the Executive Committee for 
the next business year. In order to allow for a comparable 
basis with this prospective vote, remuneration paid or attrib-
uted in 2019, and that of the previous year, is presented  
on the same basis perspective of cost to the company.
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The remuneration for Board and Committee 
memberships remained unchanged from previ-
ous years. The remuneration amount, which was 
delivered in shares was converted at the average 
share price for the month of December 2018,  
ie, CHF 117.03, minus a 25% discount. For the two 
new board members the average share price  
was determined for the month of April 2019, ie, 
CHF 134.68, minus a 25% discount.

REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE 
CHAIRMAN 

The amount of the share-based remuneration for 
the Executive Chairman remained unchanged 
from the previous year. The Executive Chairman 
was again remunerated almost entirely in shares 
blocked for five years for his service in the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2019. The overall 
amount of the share-based remuneration re-
mained unchanged at CHF 3,670,000 as agreed 
and approved by the 2018 Annual Shareholder 
Meeting of Vifor Pharma Ltd. This amount was 
divided by the average Vifor Pharma Ltd. share 
price of January/February 2018 (CHF 134.11 per 
share) resulting in 27,366 shares of Vifor Pharma 
Ltd. In addition, Etienne Jornod received a  
cash remuneration of CHF 150,000 to cover his 
pension and social security contributions, 
CHF 238,344 for holidays not taken as well as 
CHF 120,000 to compensate for the allocation of 
the share-based remuneration in arrears intro-
duced in 2016 and the introduction of a five-year 
lock-up period on newly allocated shares.

The Executive Chairman is eligible for customary 
benefits outlined in “other remuneration” in the 
table on page 117 (e.g. company car, commensu-
rate expenses including business expenses and 
representation allowance).

OPTIONS, LOANS AND CREDITS

As of 31 December 2019, no member of the 
Executive Committee or the Board of Directors 
held tradable options or was granted any loan  
or credit from the company.

FORMER MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Vifor Pharma continued to pay contractually 
agreed remuneration in the reporting period to 
former members of the Executive Committee: 
David Bevan, who resigned on 11 May 2019; and 
Dario Eklund, who resigned on 9 September 2019 
as disclosed in the remuneration table for the 
Executive Committee on page 116. Otherwise, 
Vifor Pharma did not pay any remuneration to 
former members of the Board of Directors or the 
Executive Committee.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS SHAREHOLDINGS AND OUTSTANDING PERFORMANCE  
SHARE UNITS (PSU) 

Number of  
registered shares 

held as at 31.12.20191

Number of PSU 
granted in 2019

Total number of 
PSUs outstanding2

Stefan Schulze 6,664 3,699 23,803 

Barbara Angehrn 85 1,332 3,891 

Colin Bond 3,687 2,032 14,874 

Michael Puri 2,898 1,246 11,811 

Dr. Christoph Springer 24,133 1,332 12,535 

Patrick Treanor 0 1,235 2,303 

1  Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Executive Committee are also included in the totals disclosed above.
2  Upon vesting, each Performance Share Unit (PSU) will be converted to registered shares within a range of 0 and 2 depending on the  

target achievement.

REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS IN 20191

In thousand CHF Total
Of which  

Stefan Schulze, COO

Base salary 5,512 666

Bonus in cash 1,785 575

Bonus in shares 979 361

Long-Term Incentive Programme 1,427 466

Social security costs 576 139

Contributions to pension funds 494 105

Other remuneration 277 41

Executive Committee member remuneration 11,0502 2,353

Maximum Remuneration approved by the  
Annual Shareholder Meeting for 2019 14,800

Within approval limit Yes

1  All remuneration amounts are gross amounts (excluding pension fund and social security contributions).
2  Remuneration for the eight members of the Executive Committee who were in office in 2019, including TCHF 2,715 remuneration and 

 contractual obligations to two former EC members David Bevan and Dario Eklund.
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REMUNERATION OF THE VIFOR PHARMA BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 20191

Registered shares

In thousand CHF Role(s) Fee in cash
Fee equivalent  

in shares
Other  

remuneration

 

2 Total
Held as at  

31.12.2019
Allocated  

for 2019

Etienne Jornod,  
Executive Chairman CG 150 3,670 6843 4,504 286,711 27,366

Executive member  
of the Board of Directors 150 3,670 684 4,504 286,711 27,366

Michel Burnier CS, R - 180 12 192 8,619 2,051

Romeo Cerutti VC, A, G, R - 220 18 238 5,460 2,507

Sue Mahony (as of Annual 
Shareholder Meeting 2019) CR, CU 67 67 11 145 - 661

Kim Stratton (as of Annual 
Shareholder Meeting 2019) A, S, U 57 57 9 123 - 562

Jacques Theurillat CA, S 90 90 15 195 555 1,026

Gianni Zampieri G, S - 160 13 173 49,5394 1,823

Daniela Bosshardt  
(until Annual Shareholder 
Meeting 2019) CR, S 75 - 6 81  n/a n/a

Sylvie Grégoire (until Annual 
Shareholder Meeting 2019) G, S 67 - 6 73  n/a n/a

Fritz Hirsbrunner (until Annual 
Shareholder Meeting 2019) A, R 67 - 4 71  n/a n/a

Non-executive members  
of the Board of Directors 423 7745 94  1,291  64,173  8,630 6

Remuneration of the members  
of the Board of Directors 573 4,444 778  5,795  350,884  35,996 

Maximum remuneration 
approved by the Annual 
Shareholder Meeting for 2019  6,500 

Within approval limit  yes 

1  All remuneration amounts are net amounts.
2  Other remuneration includes the employer’s contribution to social security and pension fund. In addition, the employer pays the employee’s 

amount for the social security costs amounting to TCHF 223.
3  Includes TCHF 20.9 resulting from change in remuneration structure to maintain economic value despite change in payment structure and  

TCHF 238.3 for holidays not taken and TCHF 120 to compensate for the allocation of the share-based remuneration in arrears introduced in 2016 
and the introduction of a 5-year lock-up period on newly allocated shares.

4  Includes the share-based portion of Dr. Zampieri’s PSUs that were awarded during his tenure as a member of the Corporate Executive  
Committee and that were subsequently converted into shares.

5  To the extent that board members chose to elect remuneration in equity this amount is increased by 25%. 
6  Allocated in February 2020. 

 
Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Board of Directors are included in the declaration of the number of shares they hold. 

   
A: Membership in the Audit and Risk Committee; CA: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee; CG: Chair of the Governance Committee;   
CR: Chair of the Remuneration Committee; CS: Chair of the Scientific Committee; CU: Chair of US Committee; G: Membership in the Governance   
Committee; R: Membership in the Remuneration Committee; S: Membership in the Scientific Committee; U: US Committee; VC: Vice-Chairperson  
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REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS IN 20181

In thousand CHF Total
Of which  

Stefan Schulze, COO

Base salary 3,686 650

Bonus in cash 2,426 391

Bonus in shares 744 245

Long-Term Incentive Programme 1,989 455

Contributions to pension funds 685 104

Other remuneration 135 22

Remuneration received 9,665 1,867

Social security costs 545 119

Executive Committee member remuneration 10,2102 1,986

Within approval limit Yes

1  All remuneration amounts are gross amounts (excluding social security contributions).
2  Remuneration for the eight members of the Executive Committee who were in office in 2018, including TCHF 782 remuneration and contractual 

obligations to two former CEOs Gianni Zampieri and Jörg Kneubühler.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS SHAREHOLDINGS AND OUTSTANDING PERFORMANCE  
SHARE UNITS (PSU) 

Number of  
registered shares 

held as at 31.12.20181

Number of PSU 
granted in 2018

Total number of 
PSUs outstanding2

Stefan Schulze 4,567 3,447 20,104 

Barbara Angehrn - 2,559 2,559 

David Bevan 593 1,709 2,796 

Colin Bond 1,923 1,894 13,377 

Dario Eklund 5,493 1,818 15,026 

Michael Puri 1,988 1,058 11,517 

Dr. Christoph Springer 22,675 1,122 11,839 

Patrick Treanor - 1,068 1,068 

1  Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Executive Committee are also included in the totals disclosed above.
2  Upon vesting, each Performance Share Unit (PSU) will be converted to registered shares within a range of 0 and 2 depending on the  

target achievement.
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REMUNERATION OF THE VIFOR PHARMA BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2018¹

Registered shares

In thousand CHF Role(s) Fee in cash
Fee equivalent  

in shares
Other  

remuneration

 

2 Total
Held as at  

31.12.2018
Allocated  

for 2018

Etienne Jornod,  
Executive Chairman CG, S 150 3,670 6823 4,502 259,345 32,718

Executive member  
of the Board of Directors 150 3,670 682 4,502 259,345 32,718

Daniela Bosshardt-Hengartner CR, S - 180 12 192 14,199 1,763

Michel Burnier CS, R - 180 9 189 8,406 1,763

Romeo Cerutti A, G - 160 10 170 3,893 1,567

Sylvie Grégoire S, G 80 80 10 170 4,570 784

Fritz Hirsbrunner A, R - 160 8 168 57,012 1,567

Jacques Theurillat (as of 
Annual Shareholder Meeting 
2018) CA 57 57 8 122 - 555

Gianni Zampieri S - 150 10 160 46,7314 1,469

Marc De Garidel (until Annual 
Shareholder Meeting 2018)

VC, CA,  
G, S 108 - 7 115  n/a n/a

Non-executive members  
of the Board of Directors 245 967 74 1,286 134,811 9,4685

Remuneration of the members  
of the Board of Directors  395 4,637 756 5,788 394,156 42,186

1  All remuneration amounts are gross amounts (excluding social security contributions).
2  Other remuneration includes the employer’s contribution to social security and pension fund. In addition, the employer pays the employee’s  

amount for the social security costs amounting to TCHF 214.3.
3  Includes TCHF 24.9 resulting from change in remuneration structure to maintain economic value despite change in payment structure and  

TCHF 221.5 for the 40 years service anniversary award and TCHF 120 to compensate for the allocation of the share-based compensation in  
arrears introduced in 2016 and the introduction of a 5-year lock-up period on newly allocated shares.

4  Includes the share-based portion of Dr. Zampieri’s 2017 short-term bonus and PSUs that were awarded during his tenure as a member  
of the Corporate Executive Committee and that were subsequently converted into shares.

5  Allocated in February 2019. 
 

Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Board of Directors are included in the declaration of the number of shares they hold. 
   

A: Membership in the Audit and Risk Committee; CA: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee; CG: Chair of the Governance Committee;   
CR: Chair of the Remuneration Committee; CS: Chair of the Scientific Committee; G: Membership in the Governance Committee; R: Membership  
in the Remuneration Committee; S: Membership in the Scientific Committee; VC: Vice-Chairperson  
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OVERVIEW OF EXECUTIVE  
REMUNERATION IN 2019 AND 2018

In line with the Articles of Association, the 
maximum aggregate amount of remuneration for 
members of the Board and of the Executive 
Committee will be submitted to shareholders for 
approval prospectively for the business year 
following the Annual Shareholder Meeting. This 
approval process sets an upper limit to the 
maximum possible remuneration amount and 
accounts for all variable elements including  
in particular the short-term bonus and the LTI 

(blocked shares and PSUs are valued at the grant 
date). The chart below shows a comparison 
between remuneration awarded and remunera-
tion approved by shareholders for the Executive 
Committee and the COO for the years 2018 and 
2019. The remuneration for the entire Executive 
Committee should be seen in the context of 
an increase from seven to eight members.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
REMUNERATION IN 2018 AND 2019
 
in thousand CHF

CEO/COO REMUNERATION  
IN 2018 AND 2019
 
in thousand CHF

  Per cent of maximum 
potential not paid or 
allocated

   Per cent of maximum 
potential paid or 
allocated

   LTI
  STI
  Social insurance and  

 other remuneration
  Annual base salary

Potential 
maximum

Potential 
maximum

Potential 
maximum

Potential 
maximum

Paid or 
allocated

Paid or 
allocated

Paid or 
allocated

Paid or 
allocated
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OUTLOOK: NO CHANGES IN  
REMUNERATION MODEL FOR 2020

The Company considers the incentive plans and 
their metrics Net Sales, EBITDA and ROIC 
well-aligned and in support of the Vifor Pharma 
strategy. There are no changes anticipated for  
the business year 2020.



REMUNERATION

Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019122

REMUNERATION

   

 Ernst & Young Ltd 
Schanzenstrasse 4a 
P.O. Box 
CH-3001 Berne 

Phone +41 58 286 61 11 
Fax +41 58 286 68 18 
www.ey.com/ch 

 

 

To the General Meeting of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd., St. Gallen 

Berne, 5 March 2020 

 

Report of the statutory auditor on the remuneration report 
 
 
 We have audited the remuneration report of Vifor Pharma Ltd. for the year ended 

31 December 2019. The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14–16 of 
the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies 
(Ordinance) contained on pages 116 to 117 of the remuneration report. 
 

 

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance. The Board of Directors 
is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual 
remuneration packages. 
 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the 
Ordinance. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in 
the remuneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with 
articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration report, 
whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the 
methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the remuneration report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2019 of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd. complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. 
 

 Ernst & Young Ltd 
   

Martin Mattes  Marc Rüegsegger 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF INCOME 

in million CHF Notes 2019 2018

Net sales 1, 2 1,877.2 1,584.6

Other income 1, 2 38.4 64.6

Cost of sales (761.5) (648.7)

Gross profit 1,154.2 1,000.5

Marketing and distribution (455.3) (410.8)

Research and development (228.3) (206.4)

General and administration (145.7) (155.9)

Operating profit (EBIT) 325.0 227.4

 › Financial income 5 13.3 55.2

 › Financial expenses 5 (28.7) (13.2)

Net financial result 5 (15.4) 42.0

Profit before income taxes (EBT) 309.6 269.4

Income taxes 6 (35.9) (25.0)

Net profit 273.8 244.4

Attributable to:

 › Shareholders of Vifor Pharma Ltd. 159.1 152.4

 › Non-controlling interests 114.7 92.0

Earnings per share in CHF

Basic earnings per share 7 2.45 2.35

Diluted earnings per share 7 2.45 2.34
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in million CHF Notes 2019 2018

Net profit 273.8 244.4

Hedging transactions

 › Change in fair value 18 (5.9) 1.2

 › Realised in profit or loss 18 4.0 (0.9)

Translation differences (6.1) (26.3)

Items that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss (8.0) (25.9)

Remeasurements of the net  
defined benefit asset/liability 23 11.9 (1.2)

Change in fair value of equity securities  
measured through OCI 18 301.4 (22.3)

Income taxes 6 (43.6) 4.0

Items that will not be reclassified  
to profit or loss 269.6 (19.5)

Other comprehensive income 261.6 (45.4)

Total comprehensive income 535.4 199.0

Attributable to:

 › Shareholders of Vifor Pharma Ltd. 385.1 101.0

 › Non-controlling interests 150.3 98.1

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

128

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

in million CHF Notes
2019 

31.12.
2018 

31.12.

Cash and cash equivalents 544.9 400.3

Financial assets 18, 19 0.3 2.4

Trade and other receivables 13, 18 471.9 509.0

Income tax receivables 7.2 14.3

Inventories 14 348.6 281.7

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 34.2 41.2

Current assets 1,407.1 1,248.8

Property, plant and equipment 12 282.4 274.0

Right-of-use assets 1 16 68.6 -

Intangible assets 11 2,584.5 2,676.0

Financial assets 18, 19 510.3 208.2

Deferred tax assets 6 39.7 88.4

Employee benefit assets 23 41.7 -

Non-current assets 3,527.3 3,246.7

Assets 4,934.4 4,495.5

Financial liabilities 18 0.9 116.2

Lease liabilities 1 16 16.8 -

Trade and other payables 18 107.9 156.4

Income tax payables 89.3 80.6

Accrued expenses and deferred income 321.4 240.0

Provisions 15 4.9 1.3

Current liabilities 541.3 594.4

Financial liabilities 18, 19 566.6 492.4

Lease liabilities 1 16 59.9 -

Deferred tax liabilities 6 20.4 34.4

Employee benefit liabilities 23 10.5 9.0

Provisions 15 0.4 0.8

Non-current liabilities 657.8 536.5

Share capital 0.7 0.7

Reserves 3,316.9 3,051.5

Equity attributable to shareholders of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd. 3,317.6 3,052.1

Non-controlling interests 417.8 312.5

Shareholders’ equity 3,735.3 3,364.6

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 4,934.4 4,495.5

1  As a result of the IFRS 16 adoption, new line items were included for the right-of-use assets and both current and 
non-current lease liabilities. The prior year was not restated, refer to note 16 for further details.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

in million CHF
Share  

capital
Treasury 

shares
Retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves Total

Non- 
controlling  

interests
Total  

equity 

1 January 2018 0.7 (17.7) 3,244.7 (155.7) 1.1 3,073.1 259.4 3,332.5

Net profit - - 152.4 - - 152.4 92.0 244.4

Other comprehensive income - - (25.4) (26.3) 0.3 (51.4) 6.1 (45.4)

Total comprehensive income - - 127.0 (26.3) 0.3 101.0 98.1 199.0

Dividends - - (129.6) - - (129.6) (45.0) (174.6)

Transactions on treasury shares - (0.7) (12.1) - - (12.8) - (12.8)

Share-based payments - - 20.5 - - 20.5 - 20.5

31 December 2018 0.7 (18.4) 3,250.5 (182.1) 1.4 3,052.1 312.5 3,364.6

Adoption of IFRS 16 1 - - (0.9) - - (0.9) - (0.9)

1 January 2019 0.7 (18.4) 3,249.6 (182.1) 1.4 3,051.2 312.5 3,363.7

Net profit - - 159.1 - - 159.1 114.7 273.8

Other comprehensive income - - 234.0 (6.1) (1.9) 226.0 35.6 261.6

Total comprehensive income - - 393.1 (6.1) (1.9) 385.1 150.3 535.4

Dividends - - (129.7) - - (129.7) (45.0) (174.7)

Transactions on treasury shares - 4.7 (8.5) - - (3.7) - (3.7)

Share-based payments - - 14.8 - - 14.8 - 14.8

31 December 2019 0.7 (13.7) 3,519.3 (188.1) (0.6) 3,317.6 417.8 3,735.3

1  The adjustments arising from the IFRS 16 adoption, effective 1 January 2019, also include an opening retained earnings impact as  
the prior year was not restated. Refer to note 16 for further details.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Net profit 273.8 244.4

Income taxes 35.9 25.0

Depreciation and amortisation 215.0 164.1

Change in provisions and employee benefit assets and liabilities (24.8) 1.2

Net financial result 15.4 (42.0)

Other non-cash items 22.1 18.7

Change in trade and other receivables 32.4 (113.1)

Change in inventories (68.0) (50.4)

Change in trade and other payables (32.7) 32.2

Change in other net current assets 87.3 (1.9)

Interest received 4.0 2.8

Interest paid (7.1) (8.2)

Income tax paid (28.3) (78.9)

Cash flow from operating activities 524.8 193.8

Investments in property, plant and equipment (48.0) (62.7)

Investments in intangible assets (88.2) (213.3)

Investments in financial assets and securities (3.7) (106.2)

Proceeds from property, plant and equipment 1.0 1.1

Proceeds from intangible assets 2.2 0.1

Proceeds from financial assets and securities 4.1 4.9

Cash flow from investing activities (132.5) (376.1)

Dividends paid (174.7) (174.6)

Purchase of treasury shares (11.7) (19.5)

Sale of treasury shares 2.5 3.5

Proceeds from financial liabilities 3.0 467.6

Repayment of financial liabilities (39.5) (118.4)

Payment of lease liabilities (18.0) -

Cash flow from financing activities (238.5) 158.6

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (9.3) (1.1)

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 144.6 (24.8)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 400.3 425.1

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 544.9 400.3

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, sight deposits at financial institutions and time deposits with an original 
term of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at nominal value.
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ABOUT THESE NOTES 

The contents and structure of the notes to these consolidated financial statements have been designed to help 
users find and understand the most relevant information. Information is included in the financial statements  
to the extent it has been considered material and relevant to the understanding of the Group’s performance. 

Accounting policies and key accounting judgements and estimates applied to the preparation of the financial 
statements are shown where the related account balance, transaction or event is discussed.

To assist in identifying key accounting judgements, we have highlighted them with the following symbol:

  Key judgements and estimates

Certain information (new and revised accounting standards, presentation currency and translation of foreign 
currencies, etc.) has been placed at the end of the document and cross-referenced where appropriate.  
Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this report may not add up precisely to the totals provided. 
Totals are calculated using the underlying amount rather than the presented rounded number.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These are the consolidated financial statements of Vifor Pharma Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together referred  
to as “Vifor Pharma” or “the Group”). Vifor Pharma is a pharmaceutical company focused on the development, 
manufacture and distribution of pharmaceutical products.

The consolidated financial statements of Vifor Pharma have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the 
International Accounting Standard Board (IASB), as well as the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
and the provisions of Swiss law. The consolidated financial statements have been presented on a historical cost basis, 
except for items which are required to be accounted for at fair value or where the Group has elected to do so.

The Board of Directors authorised the 2019 consolidated financial statements for publication on 5 March 2020. The 
2019 consolidated financial statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2020.

KEY EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS
The financial position and performance of the Group was particularly affected by the following events and 
 transactions during the reporting period:

(i) Mircera® commercialisation rights
On 30 March 2019, the Group signed an agreement with Fresenius Medical Care for the extension of the Mircera® 
commercialisation rights for the first four months of 2020 for consideration of USD 19.5 million. The Group 
 subsequently exercised options for an additional USD 38.0 million to further extend the rights until 31 December 
2020. The payments were capitalised and will be amortised over the 12-month licence term. The agreement 
includes options for Vifor Pharma to further extend the rights until the end of 2021.

(ii) Akebia Therapeutics expansion of licence agreement
On 9 April 2019, the Group announced that the terms of the licence agreement with Akebia Therapeutics  (“Akebia”) 
had been amended, allowing Vifor Pharma to sell vadadustat to certain third-party dialysis organisations, for use  
in the US. Under the terms of the amended agreement, Akebia is eligible to receive an additional USD 5.0 million 
payment, for a total of USD 25.0 million, upon approval of vadadustat by the FDA and its inclusion in a bundled 
reimbursement model or reimbursement using the Transitional Drug Add-On Payment Adjustment. These future 
commitments will be added to the cost of the intangible asset should they become payable.

(iii) Investment grade credit rating upon initiation of coverage
On 9 September 2019, Vifor Pharma announced that Standard & Poor’s assigned a BBB- credit rating with stable 
outlook to Vifor Pharma. Vifor Pharma is committed to maintaining an investment grade credit rating, enabling the 
Group to access funding at beneficial terms. 

(iv) Commercial collaboration in the US with Janssen
On 4 November 2019, the Group announced a commercial partnership with Janssen Pharmaceuticals Inc. to 
 commercialise Invokana® in the US. Related net sales reported by Vifor Pharma for the last months of 2019 amounted 
to CHF 0.2 million.

(v) Vifor Pharma and Evotec form joint venture for early development in nephrology
On 6 November 2019, Vifor Pharma and Evotec announced the launch of a 50:50 joint venture focused on the 
discovery and development of novel nephrology therapeutics. The initial investment from Vifor Pharma amounts to 
EUR 25 million to be paid over three years. The clinical and commercial costs for any successful compounds are 
anticipated to be shared equally by both companies, with opt-out rights at each stage based on a predetermined 
profit share arrangement.

The deal closed on 14 January 2020. This joint arrangement will be classified as a joint venture for which equity 
accounting will be applied. Vifor Pharma’s share of net profit or loss from the joint venture will be presented in the 
statement of income below operating profit (EBIT).
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Performance and strategic assets

This section provides insight into the Group’s performance in the current year as well as an overview  
of the key strategic assets:  

 – 2019 net sales amounted to CHF 1,877.2 million
 – Product-related intangible assets amount to CHF 1,367.5 million as at 31 December 2019
 – 2019 EBITDA was CHF 540.0 million
 – 2019 basic earnings per share was CHF 2.45

1 NET SALES AND OTHER INCOME

Net sales
The table below shows the disaggregation of net sales by brand.

in million CHF 2019 2018

Ferinject®/Injectafer® 561.0 485.1

Venofer® 132.4 118.2

Maltofer® 60.0 62.0

Mircera® 523.4 451.3

RetacritTM 16.4 10.0

Velphoro® 181.7 95.7

Veltassa® 132.3 90.5

Other Rx brands 93.5 105.4

Anti-infectives 119.2 112.1

Third-party production 57.3 54.4

Net sales 1,877.2 1,584.6

Net sales arise from product distribution agreements and usually contain a single performance 
obligation; the sale of products. Control is transferred and sale is recognised when the products are 
shipped to the customers (which include wholesalers, hospitals, clinics and partners). The amount  
of consideration received and revenue recognised is based on contractually agreed prices and may  
vary with changes in marketing incentives and other discounts paid or provided to the customers.  
The Group estimates consideration for these arrangements using a most likely amount approach on  
a contract by contract basis. Consideration is not typically constrained because the net consideration 
receivable is usually known when the obligation to transfer products is satisfied.
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Other income
The Group obtains royalties, milestone and upfront payments from third parties for the granting  
of licence rights to products and technologies.

in million CHF 2019 2018

Royalties, milestone and upfront payments 29.3 53.9

Other operating income 9.1 10.7

Other income 38.4 64.6

Royalties, milestone and upfront payments comprises royalty income from sales of CellCept® of 
CHF 21.7 million (2018: CHF 30.0 million). Vifor Pharma will receive decreasing royalty payments from 
the CellCept® collaboration and promotion agreement until the end of 2020.

These out-licence agreements typically contain one or two distinct performance obligations;
 – Licence for the right to use our product related rights;
 – Other services provided by Vifor Pharma to support the regulatory approval, launch and marketing- 

related activities in the licensed territory (if considered distinct from the licence).

Licence: When the contracts are entered into, the licence is typically usable as it exists and the customer 
can benefit from rights independently of further activities which may be performed by Vifor Pharma. 
Such licences are assessed as right to use and revenue related to the licence is recognised at a point in 
time when the contract is signed. Milestone payments based on future contingent events are recog-
nised in revenue when the related event is certain to occur and when it is highly probable that no 
significant reversal of revenue will be required. Sales-based royalties are recognised in revenue once 
the underlying sales have occurred. If the customer can only benefit from the licence in combination 
with further services performed by Vifor Pharma, the licence revenue is recognised over the period in 
which the services are provided.

Other services: These are considered distinct from the licence rights as the licensee can independently 
benefit from the services, and vice-versa, can independently benefit from the licence. Revenue 
allocated to these services is recognised over the period in which the services are provided. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Net sales and other income is, in all material respects, comprised of revenue from contracts with 
customers, thus is in scope of IFRS 15.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENT 
Financial information is presented in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Maker). It is reported to the Board of Directors on 
an aggregated basis for evaluating financial performance and allocating resources and the Group 
reports a single operating segment. 

Geographic areas
Revenues are attributed to countries (or regions) based on the country where the sale originates,  
as represented in the following table:

in million CHF

2019 Switzerland

Europe 
(excluding 

Switzerland) USA Rest of world Group

Net sales 155.2 466.7 1,034.2 221.2 1,877.2

Other income 24.3 4.1 1.4 8.6 38.4

Total 179.5 470.9 1,035.6 229.7 1,915.7

Non-current assets 1 1,990.0 131.6 810.7 3.3 2,935.6

2018

Net sales 154.6 423.9 803.6 202.5 1,584.6

Other income 34.3 4.9 0.9 24.4 64.6

Total 188.9 428.8 804.5 226.9 1,649.2

Non-current assets 1 2,038.6 114.2 667.9 129.4 2,950.1

1  Without financial assets, deferred tax assets and employee benefit assets

Significant customers
Revenue or trade receivables derived from significant customers that amount to 10% or more  
of Vifor Pharma’s total are shown below.

2019 2018

in million CHF Revenue Trade receivables Revenue Trade receivables

Customer 1 510.3 43.4 426.5 64.7

Customer 2 224.2 57.0 190.2 49.5



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

136

3 PRODUCT INTANGIBLES AND LICENSING AGREEMENTS

in million CHF
Carrying amount 

31.12.2019
Carrying amount 

31.12.2018

Amortisation period  
(in use) / Approval stage  

(not yet in use)

Product intangibles (in use)

Veltassa® 798.0 875.1 14 years

Mircera® 163.3 176.8 10 years

Retacrit™ 39.9 44.4 10 years

Other products related 1 49.6 55.3 1–15 year(s)

Subtotal 1,050.8 1,151.6

Product intangibles (not yet in use)

Rayaldee® 50.6 50.6 Pre-commercial

Avacopan 149.7 149.7 Pre-commercial

Vadadustat 4.7 4.7 Phase III

CR845 (Difelikefalin) 55.5 55.5 Phase III

CCX140 56.2 56.2 Phase II

Subtotal 316.7 316.7

Total 1,367.5 1,468.4

1  These assets relate mainly to rights and products obtained as part of the 2015 acquisition of FMC Nephrologica Deutschland 
and other product-related rights.

Veltassa®
As a result of the acquisition of Relypsa, Inc. in September 2016, the Group obtained worldwide rights 
to the potassium binder Veltassa®. At the reporting date, the intangible asset had a remaining useful 
life of 10.7 years.

Mircera®
In May 2015, Vifor Pharma and F. Hoffmann-La Roche (“Roche”) entered into an exclusive licence 
agreement for the commercialisation of Roche’s drug Mircera® in the US and its territories. Under this 
licence agreement Roche manufactures and supplies Mircera® to Vifor Pharma in return for upfront 
and milestone payments, supply reimbursements, as well as tiered royalties on Mircera® sales in the 
US and its territories. At the reporting date, the intangible asset had a remaining useful life of 
5.4 years. 

In 2019, the Group made additional payments to Fresenius Medical Care totalling USD 57.5 million for 
the extension of the Mircera® commercialisation rights outside of FKC clinics until 31 December 2020. 
These payments were capitalised and will be amortised until the end of 2020.

Retacrit™
In December 2015, Vifor Pharma and Hospira, Inc. (acquired by Pfizer in September 2015) entered into 
an exclusive licence agreement for the commercialisation and distribution of Retacrit™ in dialysis 
clinics in the US. On 15 May 2018, the US FDA approved Retacrit™ for the treatment of anaemia due to 
chronic kidney disease in patients on dialysis and not on dialysis. Amortisation of this asset began in 
November 2018, concurrent with the first commercial sales. At the reporting date, the intangible asset 
had a remaining useful life of 8.9 years. 
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Rayaldee® 
In May 2016, Vifor Pharma and OPKO Health, Inc. entered into an exclusive agreement for the 
 development and commercialisation of OPKO’s drug Rayaldee® in Europe, Canada, Mexico, Australia, 
South Korea and certain other international markets for the treatment of secondary hyperparathy-
roidism (SHPT) in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and vitamin D insufficiency. In addition, 
OPKO has granted VFMCRP an option to acquire rights to the US market for treatment of dialysis 
patients. 

Avacopan
In May 2016, Vifor Pharma and ChemoCentryx, Inc. (“CCX”) entered into an exclusive agreement for 
the development and commercialisation of CCX’s orally administered Complement 5a Receptor 
(C5aR) inhibitor avacopan for orphan and rare renal diseases in Europe, Canada, Mexico, Central and 
South America and South Korea. In 2018 the agreement was expanded to include China, effectively 
giving the Group rights in all markets outside the US. 

Vadadustat
In May 2017, Vifor Pharma and Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (“Akebia”) entered into an exclusive licence 
agreement granting Vifor Pharma the right to sell vadadustat to Fresenius Medical Care North America 
dialysis clinics in the US upon approval by the US FDA and inclusion in a bundled reimbursement 
model or reimbursement using the Transitional Drug Add-On Payment Adjustment. Under the terms 
of the agreement, Vifor Pharma paid a total of USD 50.0 million, of which USD 4.7 million is attributable 
to the licence agreement and was capitalised as an intangible asset. The remaining amount paid was 
allocated to the initial value of the equity investment (financial asset).

CR845 (Difelikefalin)
In May 2018, Vifor Pharma and Cara Therapeutics (“Cara”) entered into an exclusive licence agreement 
granting Vifor Pharma the right to sell and commercialise CR845 (Difelikefalin) injection for the treatment 
of chronic kidney disease associated pruritus (CKD-aP) in haemodialysis patients worldwide, excluding 
the US, Japan and South Korea. In the US, Vifor Pharma and Cara will promote CR845 to Fresenius 
Medical Care North America dialysis clinics under a profit-sharing arrangement. Under the terms of 
the agreement, Vifor Pharma paid a total of USD 70.0 million, of which USD 55.4 million is attributable 
to the licence agreement and was capitalised as an intangible asset. The remaining amount paid  
was allocated to the initial value of the equity investment (financial asset).

CCX140
In December 2016, Vifor Pharma and CCX entered into an exclusive agreement for the development 
and commercialisation of CCX’s orally administered chemokine receptor CCX140 for patients with 
focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). In 2018 the agreement was expanded to include China, 
effectively giving the Group rights in all markets outside the US.

4 EXPENSES BY NATURE AND RECONCILIATION TO EBITDA
Expenses are presented by function in the statement of income and are presented by nature as follows: 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Cost of materials 442.2 367.0

Personnel expenses 487.6 492.3

Marketing and advertising expenses 125.4 125.7

Other operating expenses 320.6 272.6

Depreciation and amortisation 215.0 164.1

Total 1,590.7 1,421.8
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use lease assets (from 2019), and 
 amortisation of intangible assets are allocated to expenses presented by function as follows: 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Depreciation Amortisation Depreciation Amortisation

Cost of sales 20.0 157.9 18.5 128.1

Marketing and distribution 8.8 1.8 1.7 0.7

Research and development 3.1 - 2.5 -

General and administration 21.2 2.0 9.3 3.2

Total 53.2 161.8 32.0 132.1

Reconciliation from EBIT to EBITDA

in million CHF 2019 2018

Operating profit (EBIT) 325.0 227.4

Depreciation and amortisation 215.0 164.1

EBITDA 540.0 391.5
  

5 FINANCIAL RESULT

in million CHF 2019 2018

Interest income 2.6 1.3

Securities and other financial income 10.7 10.5

Net foreign exchange gain - 43.3

Financial income 13.3 55.2

Interest expense (9.0) (6.8)

Other financial costs (6.1) (6.4)

Net foreign exchange loss (13.5) -

Financial expense (28.7) (13.2)

Net financial result (15.4) 42.0
  

The decrease in financial income is mainly due to the material foreign exchange gain of CHF 42.9 million 
recognised in 2018 on USD denominated intercompany loans which were settled on 30 June 2018.
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6 INCOME TAXES
Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred taxes.

  Key judgements and estimates: the calculation of the Group’s tax charge involves a degree of 
estimation and judgement in respect of certain items. There are transactions and calculations 
relating to the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
Additionally, the assumptions regarding future realisation, and therefore the recognition  
of deferred tax assets, may change due to future operating performance and other factors.

Current income tax is based on taxable profit for the current year and is recognised in profit or loss, 
unless the underlying transaction is recognised outside profit or loss.

Deferred taxes are taxes on temporary differences between the value of assets and liabilities in  
the tax accounts and the carrying amounts included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected  
to apply when the tax asset is realised or the liability is settled. Deferred tax assets, including tax-loss 
carry forwards and expected tax credits, are only recognised if it is probable that future profits will  
be available against which the assets mentioned can be offset.

Deferred tax liabilities are recorded for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, except where Vifor Pharma is able to control the timing of the distribution and no 
dividend distribution is planned or likely in the foreseeable future.

Analysis of tax expense for the year

in million CHF 2019 2018

Current income tax on profit for the year (44.1) (98.8)

Income tax of prior periods (1.0) (0.7)

Deferred income tax 9.2 74.5

Income taxes (35.9) (25.0)
  

Factors affecting the tax expense for the year
The table below presents the main elements causing Vifor Pharma’s effective tax rate to differ from the 
expected tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. Vifor Pharma’s expected tax rate 
consists of the domestic Swiss tax rate applicable at its head office in St. Gallen. Vifor Pharma applies 
the domestic Swiss tax rate as it is more meaningful than using a weighted average tax rate.



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

140

in million CHF 2019 2018

Profit before income taxes 309.6 269.4

Tax expense at expected rate of 17.4% (2018: 17.4%) (53.8) (46.9)

Different tax rates (2.2) 14.6

Factors affecting expense:

Effects from income that is taxable at a lower rate or tax-free 19.9 15.8

Effects of changes in tax rates 1.5 0.1

Recognition of deferred taxes of prior year 1.1 -

Subsequent recognition of loss carry forwards  
from prior periods 0.2 40.7

Items from prior periods and other items 1 (2.7) (49.3)

Effective income tax expense (35.9) (25.0)
  

1  Including non-recoverable withholding taxes and non-deductible expenses

Swiss tax reform
On 19 May 2019, Swiss voters approved the Federal Act on Tax Reform and AHV Financing (TRAF) which 
will enter into force on 1 January 2020. The tax reform provides for an abolishment of the privileged 
tax regimes on cantonal level. At the same time, many cantons decided to reduce their corporate 
income tax (CIT) rate. This required a revaluation of the opening deferred tax assets and liabilities  
to the newly enacted future tax rates. As a consequence the deferred tax assets recorded on the 
balance sheet were reduced by CHF 12.0 million and the deferred tax liabilities were reduced by 
CHF 14.1 million as at 1 January 2019. The net impact of the deferred tax revaluation in 2019 resulted  
in a deferred tax income of CHF 1.7 million realised in profit or loss, and CHF 0.4 million realised in 
other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets (DTA) and liabilities (DTL)

2019 2018

in million CHF DTA (DTL)
Net DTA /  

(DTL) DTA (DTL)
Net DTA /  

(DTL)

Deferred taxes on temporary differences

 › Current assets 17.0 (7.0) 10.0 9.8 (11.2) (1.3)

 › Property, plant and equipment - (8.1) (8.1) - (11.9) (11.9)

 › Right-of-use assets - (10.1) (10.1) - - -

 › Intangible assets 10.2 (22.3) (12.2) 30.2 (29.8) 0.4

 › Financial assets 0.7 (44.5) (43.7) 0.6 (2.1) (1.5)

 › Lease liabilities 11.7 - 11.7 - - -

 › Other temporary differences 15.2 (5.0) 10.2 17.5 (3.0) 14.5

Deferred taxes on temporary differences 54.9 (97.0) (42.2) 58.1 (58.0) 0.1

Tax-loss carry forwards 61.5 - 61.5 54.0 - 54.0

Net DTA/(DTL) 116.4 (97.0) 19.3 112.1 (58.0) 54.0

Offsetting of DTA with (DTL) (76.7) 76.7 (23.7) 23.7

Recognised in the statement  
of financial position 39.7 (20.4) 88.4 (34.4)
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Movements in net DTA / (DTL) 

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January 54.0 (24.2)

Recognised in income taxes in profit or loss

 › Net change of temporary differences (11.9) 169.6

 › Fiscal realisation of recognised tax-loss carry forwards (1.9) (151.1)

 › Tax-loss carry forwards taken into account for the first time 
or no longer taken into account 21.4 57.1

 › Effects of changes in tax rates 1.5 (1.1)

Recognised in other comprehensive income (43.6) 4.0

Translation differences (0.2) (0.3)

31 December 19.3 54.0
    

Summary of tax-loss carry forwards and tax credits

2019 2018

in million CHF
Tax-loss carry 

forwards
Tax 

effect
Tax-loss carry 

forwards
Tax 

effect

Tax-loss carry forwards 804.0 81.2 706.5 74.6

Of which capitalised as DTA 149.8 22.1 308.3 53.9

Of which netted with DTL (275.1) (39.4) (0.1) (0.0)

Unrecognised tax-loss carry forwards 379.1 19.7 398.1 20.7

Of which expire: - - - -

 › Within 1 year - - - -

 › In 2 to 5 years - - - -

 › In more than 5 years 379.1 19.7 398.1 20.7

There were unrecognised tax-loss carry forwards of CHF 379.1 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 
CHF 398.1 million) related to non-capitalised tax-loss carry forwards for US state taxes. Additionally 
there were unrecognised US tax credits of CHF 6.4 million (2018: CHF 6.2 million), expiring in more 
than 5 years. 
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7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2019 2018

Number of shares 65,000,000 65,000,000

Average number of treasury shares (140,799) (151,482)

Average number of outstanding shares 64,859,201 64,848,518

Share-based payments 190,872 166,790

Theoretical average number of outstanding shares (diluted) 65,050,073 65,015,308

in million CHF 2019 2018

Net profit — attributable to shareholders of Vifor Pharma Ltd.  159.1 152.4

Earnings per share in CHF

Basic earnings per share 2.45 2.35

Diluted earnings per share 2.45 2.34
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Group structure

This section provides further insights into the Group’s equity structure, including financial information 
of the joint company (VFMCRP).

8 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma (VFMCRP) is the only Group company with significant 
non-controlling interests. The company is registered in St. Gallen, Switzerland. Vifor Pharma owns 55% 
of the share capital and voting rights, while Fresenius Medical Care (FMC) holds 45% of the share 
capital and voting rights. The minority shareholder has extensive protection rights. In the event of 
disagreement, Vifor Pharma has the casting vote within a defined escalation process. Condensed 
financial information of VFMCRP (before elimination of intercompany transactions) is shown below:

in million CHF 2019 2018

Current assets 354.3 190.1

Non-current assets 738.7 687.5

Current liabilities 89.4 119.0

Non-current liabilities 78.6 67.7

Equity before appropriation of earnings 925.0 690.9

Net sales 731.4 615.9

Other income 5.1 9.6

Operating profit (EBIT) 288.7 227.5

Net profit 254.8 204.4

Other comprehensive income 79.2 13.5

Cash flow from operating activities 324.1 162.9
  

VFMCRP paid a dividend of CHF 100.0 million in 2019 (2018: CHF 100.0 million), of which  
CHF 45.0 million (2018: CHF 45.0 million) was paid to FMC.

9 CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 8 May 2019, a resolution was passed to pay a dividend 
of CHF 2.00 per registered share (previous year: CHF 2.00 per share), representing a total amount  
of CHF 129.7 million (previous year: CHF 129.6 million) for the financial year 2018. This was paid to the 
shareholders on 14 May 2019.

In the reporting period 77,900 treasury shares (2018: 131,610) were bought at an average price of 
CHF 150.21 (2018: CHF 148.52) and 127,496 treasury shares (2018: 129,299 treasury shares) were used 
for share-based payments.

The Board of Directors intends to submit a proposal to the AGM on 14 May 2020 to pay a dividend of 
CHF 2.00 per registered share, corresponding to about CHF 130.0 million for the financial year 2019.
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10 SHARE CAPITAL AND NUMBER OF SHARES
Vifor Pharma has fully paid-up share capital of CHF 650,000, divided into 65,000,000 publicly listed 
registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each. All shares have the same capital rights with the 
exception of the treasury shares which are not entitled for dividend payments. 

According to Art. 3a) of Vifor Pharma’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors may raise the 
share capital of CHF 650,000 by 10%, ie, an amount of CHF 65,000 (6,500,000 shares), at any time until 
15 May 2020.

Number of shares 
Total shares 

Vifor Pharma Ltd.
Treasury  

shares
Outstanding  

shares

as at 31.12.2017 65,000,000 (153,512) 64,846,488

Change (2,311) (2,311)

as at 31.12.2018 65,000,000 (155,823) 64,844,177

Change 49,596 49,596

as at 31.12.2019 65,000,000 (106,227) 64,893,773

The treasury shares are reserved for share-based payments to employees and the Board of Directors.
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Assets and liabilities

This section highlights the primary assets used and liabilities incurred to support the Group’s operating 
activities. Assets and liabilities relating to the Group’s financing activities are covered in section 
“Capital and financial risks”. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown in note 6 with the current-year 
tax expense.

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets include acquired trademarks, patents, licences, technologies purchased or other assets 
without physical substance. These items are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and/or 
impairment. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination corresponds to its fair 
value determined at acquisition.

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic or legal useful life, 
 whichever is shorter. The amortisation period for trademarks, patents, licences and technologies 
ranges from 1 to 20 year(s). The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed  
at least at each financial year-end. 

in million CHF

Trademarks, 
patents, licences, 
technologies with 

finite useful lives

Trademarks and 
technologies with 

indefinite useful 
lives

Acquired 
software and 

internally 
developed 

software Goodwill Total

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2017 1,435.5 104.1 7.9 1,103.5 2,651.1

Addition 1 142.9 - 5.1 - 148.0

Disposal - - (0.3) - (0.3)

Amortisation (128.5) - (3.6) - (132.1)

Translation differences 18.4 - 0.2 (9.2) 9.3

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 1,468.4 104.1 9.2 1,094.3 2,676.0

Cost 2,000.7 104.1 27.2 1,094.3 3,226.3

Accumulated amortisation (532.3) - (17.9) - (550.2)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 1,468.4 104.1 9.2 1,094.3 2,676.0

1  Additions in intangible assets include also intangible assets capitalised in the current period, but paid in previous periods,  
and therefore do not reconcile to the position investments in intangible assets shown in the statement of cash flows.
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in million CHF

Trademarks, 
patents, licences, 
technologies with 

finite useful lives

Trademarks and 
technologies  

with indefinite 
useful lives

Acquired 
software and 

internally 
developed 

software Goodwill Total

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 1,468.4 104.1 9.2 1,094.3 2,676.0

Addition 1 58.0 - 15.5 - 73.5

Amortisation (158.6) - (3.2) - (161.8)

Translation differences (0.2) - (0.1) (2.8) (3.2)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 1,367.5 104.1 21.4 1,091.5 2,584.5

Cost 2,058.5 104.1 41.0 1,091.5 3,295.0

Accumulated amortisation (690.9) - (19.6) - (710.5)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 1,367.5 104.1 21.4 1,091.5 2,584.5

1  Additions in intangible assets include also intangible assets capitalised in the current period, but paid in previous periods,  
and therefore do not reconcile to the position investments in intangible assets shown in the statement of cash flows.

Trademarks, patents, licences, technologies with finite useful lives
The Group has entered into in-licensing agreements or similar arrangements which require 
Vifor Pharma to make certain milestone payments dependent on the achievement of agreed 
 objectives or performance targets as defined in the arrangements. Such payments for rights  
are recognised as intangible assets when they become probable. Refer to note 3 for further details  
of the key agreements.

  Key judgements and estimates: The estimated payment amounts correspond to the present value 
of expected payments determined by considering possible scenarios. These estimates could 
change significantly over time and could significantly affect the carrying amount of intangible 
assets and related amortisation expense as well as the corresponding liability.

The maximum amount of unrecognised potential future commitments is CHF 1,847.5 million  
(2018: CHF 1,890.2 million). These amounts are undiscounted and are not risk-adjusted, meaning that 
they include all such potential payments that can arise assuming all products currently in development 
are successful and all possible objectives and performance targets are met.

Trademarks and technologies with indefinite useful lives
The caption includes unpatented technology assets with a carrying amount of CHF 104.1 million  
(2018: CHF 104.1 million). These acquired manufacturing technologies are regarded as having 
 indefinite useful lives because they have been in existence for many years, they are not patent- 
registered in order to prevent publication and as such there are no legal provisions that limit  
the useful lives of the technologies. The products generated using the technologies have a history  
of strong revenue and cash flow performance. These technology assets have been allocated  
to the cash-generating unit (CGU) OM Pharma for impairment testing purposes.
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Goodwill
Goodwill is recognised at cost on the acquisition date and corresponds to the difference between the 
consideration transferred and the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities identified in 
the purchase price allocation. Goodwill is capitalised and included in intangible assets, while negative 
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. After initial measurement, goodwill is recognised 
at cost less any accumulated impairment.

Goodwill is allocated to a single CGU (Vifor Pharma Group), consistent with the level at which 
 management monitors the balance. 

Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is recognised directly in profit or loss as incurred. The costs 
of development cannot be capitalised since the regulatory risks and the considerable periods of time 
before a product is launched do not allow a reliable estimate to be made of the economic benefit, 
which would be necessary for capitalisation.

Impairment assessment
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised and are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, those not yet ready for use, and goodwill are not amortised 
but tested for impairment annually or more frequently if there are indications of impairment. 

If the recoverable amount (higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) is lower  
than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount by recording 
an impairment charge.

  Key judgements and estimates: to determine the value in use, the future cash flows are discounted 
on a pre-tax basis and require the use of various assumptions (such as growth rate, discount rate, 
budgeted margins) all subject to significant judgement. Impairments are recognised in profit or 
loss under depreciation and amortisation and disclosed separately. The weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC) is used to determine the applicable pre-tax discount rate. Goodwill is evaluated  
on the basis of the medium-term plans for the next three years approved by the Board of Directors. 
Cash flows beyond the planning horizon are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate.

The growth rates and pre-tax discount rates below were used.

2019 2018

in million CHF
Carrying 

amount
Growth 

rate
Discount 

rate
Carrying 

amount
Growth 

rate
Discount 

rate

Goodwill 1,091.5 1.6% 8.4% 1,094.3 1.7% 8.5%

Trademarks and technologies 104.1 1.6% 8.4% 104.1 1.7% 8.6%

No impairment of indefinite-life intangible assets or goodwill was identified based on the impairment 
testing for 2019 and 2018. Vifor Pharma performed a sensitivity analysis taking into account reasonably 
possible changes in the assumptions used to calculate the discounted cash flows, such as higher 
discount rates, lower EBITDA, lower gross margins and lower perpetual growth rates. The sensitivity 
analysis did not reveal situations where the carrying amount of the CGUs would exceed its  
recoverable amount.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the assets’ useful lives as follows:

Buildings 10–50

Manufacturing systems and warehouse equipment 5–15

Furniture, fittings, IT equipment and vehicles 3–10

in million CHF

Real estate used 
for commercial 

operations
Assets under 
construction

Other property, 
plant and 

equipment
Investment 
properties

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2017 106.2 40.4 94.9 4.1 245.6

Addition 1 16.4 26.6 19.4 - 62.4

Disposal (0.0) - (1.3) - (1.3)

Reclassification 1.3 (16.1) 14.7 - -

Depreciation (8.4) - (23.6) (0.0) (32.0)

Translation differences (0.1) (0.5) (0.1) - (0.7)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 115.4 50.4 104.2 4.1 274.0

Cost 209.8 50.4 280.8 4.4 545.4

Accumulated depreciation (94.5) - (176.6) (0.3) (271.4)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 115.4 50.4 104.2 4.1 274.0

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 115.4 50.4 104.2 4.1 274.0

Addition 1 9.0 32.4 8.5 - 49.9

Disposal (0.0) - (4.2) - (4.2)

Reclassification 3.8 (21.0) 17.2 - -

Depreciation (8.6) - (27.9) (0.0) (36.5)

Translation differences (0.1) (0.6) (0.2) - (0.8)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 119.5 61.3 97.6 4.1 282.4

Cost 221.6 61.3 293.7 4.4 581.0

Accumulated depreciation (102.1) - (196.2) (0.3) (298.6)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 119.5 61.3 97.6 4.1 282.4

1  Additions in property, plant and equipment include also property, plant and equipment capitalised in the current period, but 
paid in previous periods, and therefore do not reconcile to the position investments in property, plant and equipment shown 
in the statement of cash flows.

Other property, plant and equipment consists of manufacturing systems, warehouse equipment, 
furniture, fittings, IT equipment and vehicles.
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13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are carried at amortised cost. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach  
to measuring expected credit losses (ECLs) which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables, refer to note 18 (i) for further details. 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Trade receivables 429.7 425.6

Bad debt allowances (15.4) (14.3)

Other receivables 57.7 97.7

Trade and other receivables 471.9 509.0
  

Maturity profile of trade receivables

2019 2018

in million CHF
Gross trade 
receivables

Bad debt 
allowances

Gross trade 
receivables

Bad debt 
allowances

Not past due 330.8 (2.7) 348.5 (1.5)

Past due:

 › 1–30 days 25.5 (0.1) 29.4 (0.0)

 › 31–60 days 21.5 (0.1) 8.1 (0.1)

 › 61–90 days 9.0 (0.0) 2.3 (0.0)

 › More than 90 days 42.9 (12.5) 37.3 (12.7)

Total 429.7 (15.4) 425.6 (14.3)

Change in bad debt allowances for trade receivables

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January (14.3) (7.4)

Addition (5.5) (9.2)

Use 3.9 1.8

Reversal 0.5 0.5

31 December (15.4) (14.3)
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14 INVENTORIES
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes all direct manufacturing 
costs and a proportion of manufacturing overheads. The standard cost method is primarily used to 
determine cost.

in million CHF
Raw  

materials
Semi-finished  

and finished goods Total

Gross carrying amounts as at 31.12.2017 59.2 183.0 242.2

Change in stock 24.3 29.7 54.0

Translation differences (0.8) 0.1 (0.7)

Gross carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 82.7 212.8 295.5

Adjustments as at 31.12.2017 (3.5) (6.8) (10.3)

Addition (0.4) (5.6) (6.0)

Use 1.1 1.3 2.4

Translation differences 0.1 - 0.1

Adjustments as at 31.12.2018 (2.7) (11.0) (13.8)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 80.0 201.7 281.7

Gross carrying amounts as at 31.12.2018 82.7 212.8 295.5

Change in stock (13.6) 84.1 70.5

Translation differences (0.8) (0.4) (1.2)

Gross carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 68.3 296.5 364.8

Adjustments as at 31.12.2018 (2.7) (11.0) (13.8)

Addition (1.4) (5.2) (6.6)

Use 1.1 3.1 4.1

Translation differences 0.1 - 0.1

Adjustments as at 31.12.2019 (3.1) (13.2) (16.2)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 65.3 283.3 348.6

Adjustments to inventory mainly relate to products rejected in quality control, products presenting 
a risk of expiry or those with low rotation. 
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15 PROVISIONS
Provisions are recorded when Vifor Pharma has a present legal or constructive obligation towards 
a third party as a result of a past event, when the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated 
and an outflow of economic resources is probable.

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January 2.0 1.0

Addition 4.0 1.2

Use (0.6) (0.2)

Translation differences (0.1) (0.0)

31 December 5.3 2.0

 › Current provisions 4.9 1.3

 › Non-current provisions 0.4 0.8
  

Provisions are recognised for the estimated cost of excess on damage not covered by insurance, 
liabilities related to sureties, customer complaints, litigation risks, restructuring costs and ongoing 
legal proceedings. 

16 LEASES
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases on the Group’s financial statements 
and discloses the new accounting policies that have been applied from 1 January 2019. The Group has 
adopted IFRS 16 using the simplified transition approach and has not restated comparatives for the 
2018 reporting period. The adjustments arising from the new standard are therefore recognised in the 
opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. 

(i) Previously disclosed operating lease commitments and the lease liabilities 
On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously 
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were 
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incre-
mental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate (IBR) 
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 2.4%.

in million CHF
2018 

31.12.

Total operating lease commitments (IAS 17)  79.4 

Discounted operating lease commitments (2.4% IBR)  74.5 

The difference of CHF 4.6 million between the lease liabilities of CHF 79.1 million recognised as at 
1 January 2019 and the discounted operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 of  
CHF 74.5 million disclosed above is mainly due to the inclusion of certain lease extension options  
for IFRS 16 that are considered reasonably certain to be exercised.
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in million CHF Lease liabilities

Carrying amounts as at 01.01.2019 79.1

Addition 14.5

Lease payments (18.0)

Unwinding of discount 1.9

Translation differences (0.7)

Carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 76.7

Current lease liabilities 16.8

Non-current lease liabilities 59.9

Carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 76.7

The maturity profile of the lease liabilities is disclosed in note 17.2 Capital and liquidity management.

(ii) Right-of-use assets and the transition impact
The right-of-use assets were measured retrospectively as if the new standard had always been applied, 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate on 1 January 2019. The recognised amounts and 
movements in the reporting period are as follows:

in million CHF Operating buildings Vehicles Total

Net carrying amounts as at 01.01.2019 63.0 8.3 71.3

Addition 2.4 12.2 14.6

Depreciation (10.4) (6.3) (16.7)

Translation differences (0.3) (0.3) (0.6)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 54.7 13.9 68.6

Cost 88.6 23.5 112.1

Accumulated depreciation (33.9) (9.6) (43.4)

Net carrying amounts as at 31.12.2019 54.7 13.9 68.6

The cumulative effect of CHF 0.9 million (net of deferred tax) from applying the standard on  
1 January 2019 is recognised as an adjustment (reduction) to opening retained earnings. It arises  
from the difference in the measurement of the lease liability and corresponding right-of-use  
asset on 1 January 2019.

(iii) Practical expedients applied
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted 
by the standard:
 – the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics,
 – the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 

1 January 2019 as short-term leases on a lease-by-lease basis,
 – and the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options  

to extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date  
of initial application.
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(iv) Leasing activities and how these are accounted for
The Group mainly leases office space and vehicles. Leases were previously classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received) were charged to profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for 
use. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the assets useful life and the lease term 
on a straightline basis.

  Key judgements and estimates: In determining the lease term, management considers all facts  
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option. Extension 
options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. 
Potential future cash outflows of CHF 38.3 million have not been included in the lease liabilities 
because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will be extended.

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which 
affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. Assets and liabilities arising from 
a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of 
the following lease payments:
 – fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
 – variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate
 – the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
determined, the incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay 
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment 
with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
 – the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities
 – any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

The Group has elected not to separate lease and non-lease (service) components for leases of vehicles.

Payments associated with certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on 
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term  
of 12 months or less. Leases of low-value assets comprise mainly IT-equipment and small items of 
office furniture.
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Capital and financial risks

The Group is exposed to various market and financial risks. This section outlines these key risks and 
how they are managed by the Treasury department in line with the hedging policy approved by the 
Board of Directors, as well as internal guidelines on cash and liability management.

It is Vifor Pharma’s policy not to enter into any speculative financial arrangements and to match 
maturities in hedging relationships. Together, the risk management and monitoring measures 
 described below are designed to limit negative impact on the financial statements.

17 RISK MANAGEMENT

17.1 Credit risk
Vifor Pharma is exposed to credit risk from its financial assets, primarily cash and cash equivalents  
and receivables. Other financial assets include loans and certain derivative financial instruments. 
 Credit risks arise when a customer or a third party fails to meet its contractual obligations and causes 
Vifor Pharma a financial loss. Credit risks are minimised and monitored by restricting business  
relations to known, reliable partners. All derivative financial instruments, money market investments 
and current account deposits are placed with financial institutions whose credit ratings are usually  
at least investment grade and are contained within strict predetermined limits. Given the very high 
standards and creditworthiness applied to the commercial and financial partners, the default risks  
to which Vifor Pharma are exposed are estimated to be limited. 

Corporate policy ensures that credit checks are performed for customers who are supplied on credit. 
Financial assets are subject to active risk management procedures to identify concentrations of  
credit risks. They are continually monitored and credit risks are reviewed in the process of reporting to 
management. Necessary allowances are made for expected credit losses (ECLs) in accordance with 
Group accounting policy on the measurement of outstanding receivables, as detailed in note 18 (i).

Financial assets subject to credit risk

in million CHF 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 544.8 400.3

Derivative financial instruments 0.3 2.2

Trade and other receivables 471.9 509.0

Loans and other financial assets 0.7 4.3

Total 1,017.8 915.7
  

 
Trade receivables past due are analysed on an ongoing basis and written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery.
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17.2 Capital and liquidity management 
The objective of capital management is to ensure the continuity of operations, increase enterprise 
value on a sustainable basis, provide an adequate return to investors, provide the financial resources 
to enable investments in areas that deliver future benefits for patients and further returns to investors.

To ensure that Vifor Pharma has sufficient cash to meet its payment obligations on time, while main-
taining the flexibility to take advantage of market opportunities and optimum investment conditions, 
liquidity is monitored and managed centrally. The Treasury department is responsible for raising 
current and non-current loans as well as for decisions on investments. Vifor Pharma’s investment grade 
credit rating provides access to debt funding at beneficial terms. 

The Treasury department monitors the cash flows using rolling liquidity planning. This takes into 
account the maturities of the financial instruments as well as the cash flows from operating, investing 
and financing activities. In this way, Vifor Pharma ensures that its liquidity position considers its 
requirements at all times.

A reconciliation of the net debt position is shown in the table below.

in million CHF 
Financial 
liabilities

Lease  
liabilities

Cash  
and cash  

equivalents
Net asset (+) 
Net debt (–)

Net debt as at 31.12.2017 (294.4) - 425.1 130.7

Cash flows (319.0) - (23.7) (342.7)

Foreign exchange adjustments 4.1 - (1.1) 3.0

Other non-cash movements 0.8 - - 0.8

Net debt as at 31.12.2018 (608.5) - 400.3 (208.2)

excluding non-interest bearing financial liabilities (580.0) - 400.3 (179.7)

Net debt as at 31.12.2018 (608.5) - 400.3 (208.2)

Cash flows 36.4 18.0 153.9 208.2

Foreign exchange adjustments 0.6 0.7 (9.3) (8.0)

Other non-cash movements 4.1 (95.4) - (91.3)

Net debt as at 31.12.2019 (567.5) (76.7) 544.9 (99.3)

excluding non-interest bearing financial liabilities 
and lease liabilities (539.2) - 544.9 5.7

As at the reporting date, there were no drawn amounts on the syndicated credit facility of  
CHF 300.0 million the Group entered into in June 2017. The loan agreement contains standard 
covenants. As at the reporting date, the Group was in compliance with all covenants.
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Maturity profile of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 2019

in million CHF

Carrying  
amount

Total  
undiscounted  

cash flows
up to  

12 months
1 to 5  
years

Maturities  
more than  

5 years

Trade and other payables 107.9 107.9 107.9 - -

Lease liabilities 76.7 82.5 18.0 48.7 15.8

Bond 464.2 475.5 3.5 472.0 -

Other financial liabilities 102.0 105.0 0.4 104.6 -

Interest rate swap (net position) 0.4 0.4 (0.1) 0.5 -

 › Cash inflow (1.6) (0.5) (1.1) -

 › Cash outflow 2.0 0.4 1.6 -

Foreign exchange forwards (net position) 0.6 0.6 0.8 (0.2) -

 › Cash inflow (189.7) (187.9) (1.8) -

 › Cash outflow 190.3 188.7 1.6 -

Total 751.8 771.8 130.5 625.5 15.8

Maturity profile of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments 2018

in million CHF
Carrying 

amount

Total  
undiscounted  

cash flows
up to  

12 months
1 to 5  
years

Maturities  
more than  

5 years

Trade and other payables 156.4 156.4 156.4 - -

Bond 463.8 479.1 3.5 475.6 -

Other financial liabilities 144.8 148.1 121.0 27.1 -

Interest rate swap (net position) (0.7) (0.7) (0.2) (0.5) -

 › Cash inflow (2.5) (0.6) (1.9) -

 › Cash outflow 1.8 0.4 1.4 -

Foreign exchange forwards (net position) (1.4) (1.4) (1.4) - -

 › Cash inflow (200.4) (200.4) - -

 › Cash outflow 199.0 199.0 - -

Total 762.9 781.5 279.3 502.2 -

The values presented above are contractually agreed undiscounted cash flows including interest. 
Wherever the contractually agreed payment amount is liable to change before maturity as a result  
of variable interest rates, the payment amounts based on the relevant interest rates on the reporting 
date are disclosed.
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17.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risks arise from changes in interest rates that may have a negative impact on 
Vifor Pharma’s financial position and results. Fluctuations in interest rates lead to changes in interest 
income and interest expense on floating-rate assets and liabilities and thus affect the financial result. 
The financial assets and liabilities subject to interest rate risk are almost exclusively floating-rate 
current bank deposits, debts and loans. Vifor Pharma does not have any fixed-rate financial liabilities 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss. As such, changes in interest rates have a limited  
effect on profit or loss.

Vifor Pharma manages the risk of changes in interest rates by modifying the ratio of fixed to floating- 
rate liabilities and through interest rate swaps. Interest rate risk is managed centrally in order to limit 
the effects of interest rate fluctuations on the financial result. The Treasury department is responsible 
for operational risk management in connection with interest rates. The risks are monitored and 
management is periodically informed of the current situation. 

Had the market rate been 50 basis points higher or lower at the reporting date, the consolidated  
profit before income taxes would have been CHF 0.7 million lower or CHF 0.7 million higher (2018: 
CHF 0.4 million lower or CHF 0.4 million higher). OCI would remain unchanged (2018: unchanged).

17.4 Currency (market) risk
Derivatives, namely currency forwards, are selectively used to hedge the risk of fluctuation in exchange 
rates. The table below shows the unhedged net financial assets and net financial liabilities per currency 
pair as well as the sensitivity per currency pair to changes in exchange rates for monetary financial 
assets and monetary financial liabilities. The sensitivity analysis is based on assumptions of reasonable 
changes in exchange rates.

Exchange rate risks of monetary financial instruments and sensitivity analysis

2019 2018

in million CHF
Net  

exposure Sensitivity
Effect on  

profit or loss
Net  

exposure Sensitivity
Effect on  

profit or loss

USD/CHF 514.4
6% 30.9

232.0
5% 11.8

(6%) (30.9) (5%) (11.8)

EUR/CHF 60.8
4% 2.4

137.4
3% 4.1

(4%) (2.4) (3%) (4.1)

17.5 Other market risk
Other market risks include changes in share prices and the general economic environment. Non-current 
assets comprise securities (strategic investments) which are publicly traded as well as investments  
in venture funds which are not publicly traded. The value of the publicly traded securities depends on 
the share price quoted on the corresponding stock exchange. The value of the venture funds depends 
on the net asset value of the underlying investments and not directly on a share index. 

Potential changes in fair value are assessed on the stock markets or independently of the stock 
markets and separately for each fund based on the earnings power and prospects of the respective 
investment. A change in value of +/–15% of the equity securities and investments in venture funds 
would have had a positive or negative effect of CHF 67.5 million on OCI and CHF 9.0 million on profit 
before income taxes (EBT), respectively (2018: CHF 22.3 million on OCI and CHF 8.3 million on EBT).
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans, securities 
(strategic investments and venture funds), and certain derivative financial instruments. 

Financial liabilities include the bond issued in 2018, advances on current bank accounts, trade payables, 
loans, certain derivative financial instruments, lease liabilities, a contingent consideration liability  
from a past business combination, and may include deferred milestone payments for the acquisition of 
intangible assets. Refer to the accounting policy for the initial recognition and measurement of lease 
liabilities in note 16, as this is not in the scope of IFRS 9.

Carrying amounts of financial instruments 2019

in million CHF

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Equity 
securities at fair 

value through 
OCI 

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Financial  
liabilities at  

amortised  
cost Total

Cash and cash equivalents - 544.9 - - - 544.9

Current financial assets 1 0.3 - - - - 0.3

Trade and other receivables - 471.9 - - - 471.9

Non-current financial assets 59.8 0.7 449.9 - - 510.3

Current financial liabilities 1 - - - (0.9) (16.9) (17.8)

Trade and other payables - - - - (107.9) (107.9)

Non-current financial liabilities - - - (12.8) (613.7) (626.5)

Total 60.1 1,017.5 449.9 (13.7) (738.5)

1  Includes derivatives designated in hedging relationships, initially measured through OCI (CHF 0.3 million in current financial 
assets and CHF –0.9 million in current financial liabilities).

Carrying amounts of financial instruments 2018

in million CHF

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Equity 
securities at fair 

value through 
OCI 

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Financial  
liabilities at  

amortised  
cost Total

Cash and cash equivalents - 400.3 - - - 400.3

Current financial assets 1 2.4 - - - - 2.4

Trade and other receivables - 509.0 - - - 509.0

Non-current financial assets 55.6 4.1 148.5 - - 208.2

Current financial liabilities - - - (0.4) (115.8) (116.2)

Trade and other payables - - - - (156.4) (156.4)

Non-current financial liabilities - - - (11.9) (480.5) (492.4)

Total 58.0 913.4 148.5 (12.2) (752.7)

1  Includes derivatives designated in hedging relationships, initially measured through OCI (CHF 1.4 million).
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Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 2019

in million CHF

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Equity 
securities at fair 

value through 
OCI 

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Financial  
liabilities  

at amortised  
cost Total

Income from securities 2.8 - - - - 2.8

Change in fair value 4.8 - - (0.2) - 4.6

Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange (1.2) (13.0) - 0.4 0.3 (13.5)

Other financial result 0.2 0.5 - - (0.2) 0.4

Interest income - 2.6 - - - 2.6

Interest expense - - - - (9.0) (9.0)

Expected credit losses and bad debts - (8.3) - - - (8.3)

Net gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss 6.6 (18.2) - 0.2 (9.0) (20.3)

Net gain/(loss) recognised in OCI 1 301.4 (5.9) 295.5

1  OCI includes changes in value of hedge transactions (foreign exchange forwards) and the strategic investments  
(publicly traded securities).

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 2018

in million CHF

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

Equity 
securities at fair 

value through 
OCI 

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Financial  
liabilities  

at amortised  
cost Total

Income from securities 2.8 - - - - 2.8

Change in fair value 7.5 - - 2.2 - 9.7

Net gain on foreign exchange 1.4 40.2 - - 1.8 43.3

Other financial result - 0.2 - - (1.8) (1.6)

Interest income - 1.3 - - - 1.3

Interest expense - - - - (6.8) (6.8)

Expected credit losses and bad debts - (8.7) - - - (8.7)

Net gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss 11.7 32.9 - 2.2 (6.8) 40.1

Net gain/(loss) recognised in OCI 1 1.2 - (22.3) - - (21.1)

1  OCI includes changes in value of hedge transactions (foreign exchange forwards) and the strategic investments  
(publicly traded securities).

Measurement of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs, with the 
exception of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, for which 
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. Financial assets are generally derecognised 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, and liabilities when they have been settled.
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For subsequent measurement Vifor Pharma distinguishes between the following types of financial 
assets and liabilities:

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
This category primarily consists of non-derivative financial assets held to collect contractual cash flows 
representing principal and interest only. They include, but are not limited to, trade receivables and 
loans to third parties. These types of financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial 
position at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less accumulated impairment 
measured using the expected credit loss (ECL) model. Trade receivables are initially measured based 
on the transaction price determined in accordance with the revenue standard (IFRS 15). Uncollectible 
loans and receivables are only derecognised if a certificate of loss has been issued.

To measure the ECL using the IFRS 9 simplified approach, trade receivables are assessed both  
on an individual basis and for groups with comparable credit risk profiles. The ECL rates are based  
on historical credit losses experienced and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 
On that basis, the bad debt allowance for trade receivables is determined. 

(ii) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These assets and liabilities are measured as such if they are acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or if the investments do not meet the definition 
of equity instruments. These assets consist of derivative financial instruments and investment fund 
units (venture funds), and liabilities consist of derivative financial instruments and a contingent consid-
eration liability from a past business combination.

The resulting realised and unrealised changes in fair value are recognised directly in profit or loss 
(financial result) for the relevant reporting period.

Derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. Depending on 
their maturity, derivative financial instruments with a positive or negative fair value are either classified 
within current or non-current financial assets or liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments 2019

Expiry date of contract values

in million CHF
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Contract 
value to 12 months 1 to 5 years

Foreign exchange forwards 0.3 0.9 189.7 187.9 1.8

Interest rate swap - 0.4 75.0 - 75.0

Derivative financial instruments 0.3 1.3 264.7 187.9 76.8

In order to manage the ratio of fixed and floating debt in its portfolio, the Group entered into  
a fixed-to-floating interest rate swap which has the same interest payment dates as the underlying 
debt instrument.

Derivative financial instruments 2018

Expiry date of contract values

in million CHF
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Contract 
value to 12 months 1 to 5 years

Foreign exchange forwards 1.4 - 200.4 200.4 -

Interest rate swap 0.8 (0.1) 80.0 - 80.0

Derivative financial instruments 2.2 (0.1) 280.4 200.4 80.0
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Cash flow hedging
Cash flow hedges are hedges against changes in cash flows due to fluctuations in the foreign exchange 
of a forecasted transaction. Vifor Pharma uses hedge accounting for selected transactions if the  
hedge relationship is expected to be highly effective throughout the entire term and the formal 
documentation requirements are met at inception, ie, documentation contains the strategy, 
 objectives, identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of  
the risk being hedged and details of how the hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments is recognised  
in OCI. If the underlying hedged transaction is no longer expected, the cumulative unrealised gain  
or loss in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Vifor Pharma selectively hedges expected future cash flows in USD and EUR against foreign currency 
risks by means of foreign exchange forwards. The contract volume amounted to CHF 157.9 million 
(2018: CHF 200.4 million) as at the reporting date with a (net) negative fair value of CHF 0.6 million 
(2018: positive fair value of CHF 1.4 million).

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through OCI
These assets consist of equity instruments designated on initial recognition to be measured as such, 
rather than profit or loss, as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. With  
this irrevocable election, all fair value changes, excluding dividends that are a return on investment, 
will be included in OCI. There is no recycling of amounts from OCI to profit or loss on derecognition, 
nor are there impairment requirements when there is a significant or prolonged decline in fair value. 

The strategic investments consist of listed shares in ChemoCentryx, Inc. (“CCX”) purchased in 2016 
and 2018, Akebia purchased in 2017, and Cara purchased in 2018. The fair value of these investments 
as at the reporting date was CHF 409.5 million (2018: CHF 114.1 million), CHF 21.9 million (2018: 
CHF 19.4 million), and CHF 18.4 million (2018: CHF 15.0 million), respectively.

(iv) Financial liabilities at amortised cost
These liabilities consist of trade and other payables as well as the financial liabilities shown below.  
They are measured using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities

in million CHF 2019 2018

Current Non-current Current Non-current

Bank debts 0.1 75.0 100.7 -

Bond - 464.2 - 463.8

Lease liabilities 16.8 59.9 - -

Liability to pension fund - - 15.1 -

Current portion of non-current financial liabilities - - 0.3 -

Derivative financial instruments 0.9 0.4 0.1 -

Other financial liabilities - 27.0 - 28.6

Total 17.8 626.5 116.2 492.4
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Bank debts: The bank debt amounting to CHF 100 million was partially repaid and refinanced in 2019. 
The new loan amounts to CHF 75 million and matures on 1 July 2024.

Bond: In September 2018, Vifor Pharma issued a bond in the amount of CHF 465 million. The bond 
carries a 0.75% fixed coupon with a tenor of four years, maturing on 13 September 2022. The bond is 
traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange under securities no. 42819427 (ISIN CH0428194275).

Other financial liabilities: Consists of a non-current contingent consideration liability from a past 
business combination and may contain deferred milestone payments for the acquisition of intangible 
assets. Refer to note 19 for further details.

19 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
With the exception non-current financial liabilities, the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their fair values.

2019 2018

in million CHF Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Bond (Level 1) 464.2 473.4 463.8 469.8

Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments are measured using the following hierarchies for determining the fair value:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset  

or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

Vifor Pharma is invested in venture funds. These funds are structured as closed-ended funds for which 
the Group has undertaken a defined capital commitment which is called over the investment term. 
Vifor Pharma and the other investors are usually bound to their fund units throughout the entire term; 
consequently there is no active market for units in these funds, although a transaction cannot be  
ruled out in principle. The funds themselves are likewise usually invested in venture funds with the 
same attributes (fund of funds).

Vifor Pharma determines the fair values for the venture funds using the net asset values. The net asset 
values for the funds are based on the net asset values reported to them by the respective investments; 
net asset values are not usually determined based on publicly available input data, or only to an 
insignificant extent.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the financial year, or any transfers into or  
out of Level 3.
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Financial assets measured at fair value 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Publicly traded securities Level 1 449.9 148.6

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 0.3 2.2

Venture funds Level 3 59.8 55.6

Total 510.0 206.5

Fair value of venture funds

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January 55.6 43.5

Investments 0.6 4.7

Disposal (0.2) (0.3)

Gain recognised in profit or loss 5.1 6.7

Translation differences (1.3) 1.0

31 December 59.8 55.6
    

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Derivative financial instruments Level 2 1.3 0.1

Contingent consideration liabilities from 
business combinations Level 3 12.4 12.2

Total 13.7 12.2
  

For the contingent consideration that qualifies as a financial instrument, it is remeasured to fair value 
and any difference is recognised in other operating income or expenses. The fair value is measured 
based on the expected cash flows, the probability of occurrence and the current market interest rates. 

Fair value of contingent consideration liabilities

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January 12.2 14.6

Unrealised losses and (gains) included in 
profit or loss 0.8 (2.2)

Translation differences (0.4) (0.2)

Payments (cash out) (0.2) -

31 December 12.4 12.2
  

As part of the 2015 acquisition of FMC Nephrologica Deutschland, the Group continues to record 
a contingent consideration liability. The liability falls due in the years 2020 to 2024, if certain earnings 
targets are achieved.
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Employee remuneration

This section provides insight into Vifor Pharma’s employee remuneration arrangements and should be 
read in conjunction with the remuneration chapter as included in Vifor Pharma’s 2019 Annual Report.

20 PERSONNEL COSTS

in million CHF 2019 2018

Salaries and wages 379.4 362.6

Social security costs and pension expenses 42.1 65.3

Other personnel costs 66.1 64.5

Personnel costs 487.6 492.3

Personnel costs include a net income for defined benefit plans of CHF 10.4 million (2018: expense of 
CHF 15.3 million) and an expense for share-based payments of CHF 22.7 million (2018: CHF 20.5 million), 
refer to notes 22 and 23.

21 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee

in million CHF 2019 2018

Salaries and wages 8.1 6.6

Social security costs and pension expenses 1.8 2.0

Share-based payments 6.9 7.4

Total 16.8 16.0
  

22 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Vifor Pharma has both equity- and cash-settled share-based payment plans. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of shares, or cash, is recognised as an expense. 
The total amount to be expensed is determined for equity-settled plans by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments on the grant date and for cash-settled plans by reference to the fair value  
of the equity instruments at each reporting date until settlement. When measuring the grant date fair 
value only those conditions which are linked to the price of Vifor Pharma’s shares (market conditions) 
are taken into account, along with any non-vesting conditions. 

The expense is recognised over the vesting period as part of personnel expense. For equity-settled 
plans an increase in shareholders’ equity is recorded for the best estimate of the number of shares 
Vifor Pharma expects to vest, while for cash-settled plans a liability is recognised to the extent the 
cash-settled awards are expected to vest. Changes in those estimates are immediately recognised  
in profit or loss.
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22.1 Share plan for the Executive Chairman
For his service in the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2020, provided his annual re-election 
by the shareholders, Etienne Jornod will be remunerated exclusively in Vifor Pharma shares, all 
blocked until 2020. The remuneration is a fixed amount (2019: CHF 3.67 million, 2018: CHF 3.67 million) 
as approved at the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The number of shares to be granted is determined 
based on the average share price in January and February of the preceding year (2018: 134.11, 2017: 
112.17) resulting in a pay-out of 27,366 shares for 2019 (2018: 32,718). The fair value of the shares at the 
AGM date is only relevant for the computation of the related share-based payment expense. The  
value of each share on the measurement date amounted to CHF 133.3 (2018: 160.4).

22.2 Remuneration for members of the Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors receive annual remuneration. The remuneration is a fixed 
amount which the members can choose to receive in full (100%) or in part (50%) as registered shares  
of Vifor Pharma. The amount settled in shares is paid out with a discount of 25%. 

The fair value of the shares granted is equivalent to the amount to be paid out in shares plus the 
discount of 25%.

22.3 Share plan for members of senior management
According to the participation plan, members of senior management receive their performance-related 
bonus partly in cash and partly in registered shares of Vifor Pharma. The proportion of cash to shares 
is set out in the regulations and is based on the salary grade of the recipient. In addition, all members 
of senior management are obliged to hold a number of shares of the Group. The amount to be settled 
in shares is paid out with a discount of 25%. 

The fair value of the shares granted is equivalent to the amount to be paid out in shares plus the 
discount of 25%.

22.4 Long-term incentive (LTI) plans
Members of the Executive Committee and certain members of senior management participate in  
LTI plans for the allocation of performance units. The number of these performance units is based on 
the extent to which defined long-term performance targets are attained. The performance objectives 
are based on ROIC. An LTI plan always runs for a vesting period of three years. At the beginning of 
each financial year, a new LTI plan with a new vesting period of three years is issued. At the start of the 
vesting period a defined number of performance units are individually allocated. Different vesting 
conditions apply for beneficiaries eligible after 1 January 2019. Beneficiaries eligible before 1 January 
2019 who leave the Group before the end of the vesting period are entitled to a pro-rata allocation of 
performance units calculated based on the months of service completed during the three-year vesting 
period. LTI plans for beneficiaries becoming eligible after 1 January 2019 only vest after a three-year 
service period and no allocations are made to beneficiaries leaving the Group before the vesting date 
has been reached.

The number of performance units allocated is dependent on the defined percentage of the annual 
salary incorporated into the LTI plan as well as the share price at the grant date. At the end of  
the vesting period, performance units are settled by delivering registered shares of Vifor Pharma. 
43,250 performance units (2018: 37,882 performance units) were granted to beneficiaries at a  
fair value of CHF 96.35 (2018: CHF 123.0) at the beginning of the reporting period for the 2019–2021 
LTI plan.
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In addition, certain members of senior management (some of which have been promoted into the 
Executive Committee since the grant date) participate in an LTI plan related to specific performance 
targets. This plan lasts for an evaluation period of five full business years ending 31 December 2021. 
67,840 Performance Share Units (PSUs) were granted to the beneficiaries in October 2016 at an 
average fair value of CHF 88.80. The achievement of the targets is assessed in two steps: an interim 
assessment on 31 December 2019 qualifying for 60% of the plan and a final assessment at the  
end of the entire plan period. The target achievement is a binary assessment that results in either 
a 100% vesting if the targets are reached, or no allocation of shares if not achieved. 

22.5 RSU plan Relypsa
To stay in line with US market practice, a Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) Programme was implemented for 
Relypsa employees. The Relypsa RSU Plan was introduced in 2018 and has a vesting period of three 
years. The RSUs are equally allocated to three different service periods of one year, two and three 
years, and the employees have the choice to settle the transaction in cash or with the issue of equity 
instruments. At the beginning of each financial year, a new Relypsa RSU Plan with a new vesting period 
of three years is issued. Participants have a non-forfeitable right to a portion of awards only upon 
satisfaction of the vesting conditions. These conditions include continued service on the applicable 
vesting date (service condition) and successful achievement of Relypsa specific performance goals 
established by the Executive Committee for the applicable evaluation period (performance conditions). 
This RSU plan was modified in 2019 and is now considered a cash-settled share-based payment plan. 
Prior to this modification, the plan was considered to be fully equity-settled. 

At the end of the vesting period, performance units are either settled in cash or by delivering regis-
tered shares of Vifor Pharma. 70,304 RSUs (2018: 67,007 RSUs) were granted to beneficiaries in 2019.

At the reporting date, the carrying amount of the liability arising from this cash-settled share-based 
payment plan amounts to CHF 7.2 million (2018: nil) and is included in accrued expenses.

22.6 Employee share plan
Employees of Vifor Pharma are entitled to buy a fixed number of registered shares of Vifor Pharma  
at a preferential price. Employees who, at the time of the purchase offer, are not under notice and have 
an employment contract of unlimited duration are entitled to acquire shares. The purchase price for 
the registered shares is calculated at the time of the purchase offer based on the average price for the 
previous month less a 30% discount. 

In the reporting period, employees purchased 40,058 registered shares of Vifor Pharma (2018:  
28,384 registered shares) at a preferential price of CHF 101.65 (2018: CHF 124.93), representing  
a price discount of CHF 43.56 (2018: CHF 53.54) per registered share.
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Share-based payment expense 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Share plan for the Executive Chairman 4.1 4.8

Remuneration for members of the Board of Directors 0.8 1.0

Share plan for members of senior management 5.0 4.6

Long-term incentive plan (LTI) 4.4 5.3

Employee share plan 1.7 1.5

Relypsa RSU plan 6.7 3.3

Total 22.7 20.5
  

The expenses related to the cash-settled share-based plans amount to CHF 6.7 million in 2019  
(2018: nil) and relate entirely to the Relypsa RSU plan. The remaining expense relates to the Group’s 
equity- settled plans.

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

23.1 Defined benefit plan
The employees of Vifor Pharma participate in the employee benefits plans provided by the Group. 
Vifor Pharma has both defined contribution and a fully funded defined benefit plan based on  
local conditions and legal requirements. Plans are legally separate and are managed separately  
from Vifor Pharma’s assets by an independent pension fund. 

Since 1 January 2019, all employees and beneficiaries of the Vifor Pharma Group in Switzerland are 
insured with the Vifor Pharma Pension Fund. The pension plan covers the risks of the economic 
consequences of old age, disability and death in accordance with the Swiss Federal Occupational 
Retirement, Survivors and Disability Pension Plans Act (BVG/LPP). The benefits target is 70% of  
the most recent base salary as at statutory retirement age for employees with a full insurance history  
of 35 years. The pension plan is structured in the legal form of a foundation. All actuarial risks are 
borne by the foundation and regularly assessed by the Board of Trustees (consisting of employee and 
employer representatives) based on an annual actuarial appraisal prepared in accordance with BVG/
LPP. The calculations made in these appraisals do not apply the projected unit credit method required 
by IFRS. If the calculations made in accordance with the provisions of BGV/LPP reveal a funded status 
of less than 100%, suitable restructuring measures would be introduced.



Vifor Pharma Ltd.  Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

168

The most recent actuarial valuation was prepared as at 31 December 2019. The underlying assump-
tions reflect the economic circumstances. The pension funds’ assets are invested in accordance with 
local investment guidelines. Vifor Pharma pays its contributions to the pension funds in accordance 
with the regulations defined by the funds. The final funded status pursuant to BVG/LPP is not available 
until the first quarter of the subsequent year. The projected funded status as at 31 December 2019 
(unaudited) is 128.6% (2018: 113.2%, audited).

  Key judgements and estimates: Vifor Pharma’s defined benefit obligation (DBO) is assessed 
annually by an independent pension actuary using the projected unit credit method. This method 
considers employees’ service in the periods prior to the reporting date and their future expected 
salary development. In addition, actuaries make use of statistical data such as employee turnover 
and mortality to calculate the DBO. These valuations involve making assumptions about the 
discount rate, future salary and pension developments, mortality and future employee turnover.  
As detailed in note 23.2, mortality assumptions are based on BVG 2015 applying the CMI model. 
Vifor Pharma considers the discount rate to be the key assumption.

Any surplus (deficit) in the funded defined benefit plan – when the fair value of plan assets exceeds  
(is less than) the present value of the DBO – is recorded as a net defined benefit asset (liability). 
Vifor Pharma only recognises a net defined benefit asset if it has the ability to use the surplus to 
generate future economic benefits that will be available to the entity in the form of a reduction  
in future contributions. If Vifor Pharma does not have the ability to use the surplus or it will not gener-
ate any future economic benefit, the Group discloses the effect of this asset ceiling in the notes. 

The components of defined benefit cost are service cost, net interest on the net defined benefit asset 
(liability) and remeasurement of the net defined benefit asset (liability). Service cost is a component  
of personnel costs and comprises current service cost, past service cost (including gains and losses 
from plan amendments) and gains and losses from plan settlements. Net interest is determined  
by multiplying the net defined benefit asset (or liability) by the discount rate at the beginning of the 
reporting period. Net interest is included in the financial result.

Actuarial gains (losses) result from changes in actuarial assumptions and differences between actuarial 
assumptions and actual outcomes. Actuarial gains (losses) resulting from remeasuring the defined 
benefit plans are recognised immediately in comprehensive income as remeasurements of the net 
defined benefit asset (liability). This includes any differences in the return on plan assets (excluding 
interest, based on the discount rate) and, if applicable, the impact of a change in the asset ceiling. 
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit asset (liability) are never reclassified through profit or loss.

23.2 Long-service awards
Vifor Pharma rewards employees for long service with jubilee benefits. These long-term benefits to 
employees are also measured using the projected unit credit method and included in employee 
benefit liabilities. These obligations are unfunded. Changes in obligations are recorded as personnel 
costs and interest expense as part of the financial expense, in line with the defined benefit plans.
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Swiss defined benefit plan and long-service awards

2019 2018

in million CHF
Defined  

benefit plan
Long-service 

awards Total
Defined  

benefit plan
Long-service 

awards Total

Plan assets at fair value 547.1 - 547.1 450.3 - 450.3

Present value of defined  
benefit obligation (505.4) (10.5) (515.9) (445.4) (9.0) (454.4)

Funded status 41.7 (10.5) 31.2 4.9 (9.0) (4.1)

Impact of asset ceiling - - - (4.9) - (4.9)

Net carrying amount 41.7 (10.5) 31.2 - (9.0) (9.0)

 › Of which recognised in assets 41.7 - 41.7 - - -

 › Of which recognised in liabilities - (10.5) (10.5) - (9.0) (9.0)

Change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

in million CHF 2019 2018
Defined  

benefit plan
Long-service 

awards Total
Defined  

benefit plan
Long-service 

awards Total

1 January (445.4) (9.0) (454.4) (409.7) (7.8) (417.4)

Current service costs (16.5) (1.2) (17.8) (15.0) (1.2) (16.3)

Past service costs 27.2 - 27.2 - - -

Interest cost (3.7) (0.1) (3.8) (2.9) (0.1) (2.9)

Actuarial loss (64.6) (0.9) (65.4) (29.0) (0.4) (29.4)

Employee contributions (9.2) - (9.2) (9.7) - (9.7)

Benefits paid 6.8 0.6 7.4 20.8 0.5 21.3

Settlements - - - - - -

31 December (505.4) (10.5) (515.9) (445.4) (9.0) (454.4)

Change in fair value of plan asset 

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January 450.3 457.5

Interest income 3.9 3.2

Remeasurement gains/(losses) 71.5 (15.3)

Employee contributions 9.2 9.7

Employer contributions 19.2 16.3

Benefits paid (6.8) (20.8)

Administration cost (0.3) (0.3)

Settlements - -

31 December 547.1 450.3
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Change in asset ceiling

in million CHF 2019 2018

1 January (4.9) (47.8)

Interest income (0.0) (0.2)

Changes asset ceiling (recognised in OCI) 4.9 43.1

31 December - (4.9)

Net defined benefit cost 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Current service cost 16.5 15.0

Net interest (0.1) (0.1)

Past service cost (27.2) -

Administration cost 0.3 0.3

Net defined benefit (income) expense (10.5) 15.2
  

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability/asset

in million CHF 2019 2018

Actuarial gain/(loss)

 › Changes in demographic assumptions - (5.7)

 › Changes in financial assumptions (62.2) 7.5

 › Experience adjustments (2.3) (30.8)

Remeasurement of plan assets 71.5 (15.3)

Change in asset ceiling 4.9 43.1

Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability/asset 
recognised in OCI 11.9 (1.2)

In 2019, the Group modified the pension plan to adapt to the changed environment and to be in line 
with the new market conditions. The Board of Trustees approved a gradual reduction in the conversion 
rate over a 5-year transition period starting from 1 January 2021. The adjusted conversion rate has 
a positive impact on past service cost in the amount of CHF 27.2 million.
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Investment structure of plan assets

in million CHF 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 27.2 5.0% 20.6 4.6%

Debt instruments 102.0 18.6% 91.6 20.3%

Equity instruments 254.9 46.6% 181.7 40.4%

Real estate 128.8 23.5% 108.5 24.1%

Other investments 34.2 6.2% 47.9 10.6%

Fair value of plan assets 547.1 100.0% 450.3 100.0%

Current return on investments 15.5% (2.6%)

The Board of Trustees is responsible for investing the plan assets. It defines the investment strategy 
and determines the long-term target asset structure taking account of the legal requirements, 
 objectives set, the benefit obligations and the foundations’ risk capacity. The Board of Trustees 
delegates implementation of the investment policy in accordance with the investment strategy  
to an investment committee, which also comprises of trustees from the Board of Trustees.  
Plan assets are managed by external asset managers in line with the investment strategy.

Instrument Explanation

Cash and cash equivalents Deposited with financial institutions with a minimum A credit rating.

Debt instruments
Quoted prices in active markets. Invested in instruments with  
a minimum BBB credit rating.

Equity instruments Investments in equity funds and direct investments.

Real estate
Both residential property and offices. If real estate is held directly,  
it is valued by an independent expert.

Other investments

Hedge funds, insurance-linked securities (ILS), private equity, infrastruc-
ture, mixed investments and receivables. Investments in hedge funds 
are classified as alternative investments. Quoted prices in an active 
market are not available for hedge funds investments.

The pension funds manage the assets of 1,375 active members (2018: 1,250) and 224 pensioners 
(2018: 219).

Basis for measurement

Weighted average in % 2019 2018

Discount rate 0.17 0.85

Salary development 1.00 1.00

Mortality (mortality tables)
BVG 2015 GT — 

CMI model
BVG 2015 GT — 

CMI model

Turnover BVG 2015 BVG 2015
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23.3 Sensitivity analysis
The discount rate was identified as the key actuarial assumption. Potential changes in the discount rate 
would affect the DBO as at 31 December 2019, as follows:

in million CHF 2019 2018
Basis for 

calculation DBO
Basis for 

calculation DBO

Discount rate

+0.25% 495.0 +0.25% 436.4

–0.25% 538.4 –0.25% 473.7

Cash outflows for pension payments and other obligations can be budgeted reliably. The pension 
obligations have an average duration of 17.2 years (2018: 16.6 years). The benefit plans collect regular 
contribution payments. The employer contributions to the pension funds are estimated at  
CHF 20.8 million for 2020. The investment strategy requires the safeguarding of liquidity at all times.
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Other disclosures

This section provides information on other items which require disclosure to comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Swiss law, however, are not considered critical in under-
standing the financial performance or position of the Group.

Vifor Pharma Ltd. is a Swiss company limited by shares with its head office in St. Gallen. The registered 
office is at Rechenstrasse 37, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland. Shares in Vifor Pharma are traded on the  
SIX Swiss Exchange under securities no. 036474934 (ISIN CH0364749348).

24 NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The Group applies, for the first time, IFRS 16 Leases. The nature and effect of this change is described 
in note 16. Several other amendments and an interpretation apply for the first time in 2019, but do not 
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

As at the reporting date, various new and amended standards and interpretations have been issued 
with effective dates in the financial year 2020 or later. These standards and interpretations have  
not been early adopted and are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current  
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

25 PRESENTATION CURRENCY AND TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The functional currency of the Group companies is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which they operate. The functional currency of the parent entity, Vifor Pharma Ltd., is CHF. Transactions 
in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate effective on the transaction date. Monetary 
items are re-translated into the functional currency using exchange rates as at the reporting date. The 
resulting exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into CHF using year-end exchange rates. 
Income and expenses and cash flows are translated using the average exchange rate for the year. 
Exchange differences arising from net investments in foreign operations are recognised directly in 
comprehensive income and reported separately as foreign currency translation reserves. 

Translation differences on equity-like loans that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation 
are recognised in comprehensive income, provided that repayment of these loans is neither planned 
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

Exchange rates
The table below shows the exchange rates against the CHF of the main currencies of relevance for  
the consolidated financial statements.

Exchange rates  
against CHF

Year-end rate 
2019

Year-end rate 
2018

Average rate 
2019

Average rate 
2018

1 USD 0.97 0.98 1.00 0.98

1 EUR 1.09 1.13 1.12 1.16
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26 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

26.1 Commitments
Vifor Pharma entered into various obligations regarding the purchase of services, goods and equipment 
as part of its ordinary business operations.

As disclosed in note 3, Vifor Pharma has entered into strategic arrangements with various companies 
in order to gain access to potential new products. Potential future payments may become due  
based on the achievement of certain milestones as defined in the collaboration agreements. The 
maximum amount of future commitments for such payments amounts to CHF 1,847.5 million  
(2018: CHF 1,890.2 million).

Prior to the acquisition by Vifor Pharma, Relypsa has signed non-cancellable purchase commitments 
with contract manufacturers or service providers which serve as commercial manufacturers and 
suppliers of the active pharmaceutical ingredient for Veltassa® and provide manufacturing services  
in relation to Veltassa®. The purchase commitments as at 31 December 2019 amount to CHF 177.6 
million and fall due in the years 2020 to 2026 (2018: CHF 219.9 million).

The Group also has non-cancellable purchase commitments with contract manufacturers for the 
supply of Mircera®. The purchase commitments as at 31 December 2019 amount to CHF 171.6 million 
and fall due in the years 2020 to 2022 (2018: CHF 184.8 million).

Vifor Pharma entered into payment obligations for the purchase of securities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss up to a maximum of CHF 13.4 million (2018: CHF 14.1 million).

Furthermore, there are guarantees to third parties of CHF 3.4 million (2018: CHF 8.0 million).  
There were no assets pledged to secure own liabilities in both periods reported.

26.2 Contingent liabilities
Certain Group companies are involved in administrative proceedings, legal disputes and investiga-
tions relating to their business activities. The results of ongoing proceedings cannot be predicted with 
certainty. Management has established appropriate provisions for any expenses likely to be incurred. 
These projections, however, are also subject to uncertainty. Vifor Pharma does not expect the results 
of these proceedings to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties include the pension fund, members of the Board of Directors of Vifor Pharma, 
 members of the Executive Committee and major shareholders, as well as the companies controlled  
by them. Refer to note 21 for remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee. 

During the reporting period, Vifor Pharma acquired no Vifor Pharma shares from members of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee (2018: nil).

As at 31 December 2019, no payables to the pension fund were outstanding (2018: CHF 15.1 million).
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28 GROUP COMPANIES

Country Entity City
Nominal value 
(in thousands)

Vifor Pharma Group — 100% equity interest

Switzerland Vifor Ltd. Villars-sur-Glâne CHF 2,250

Vifor (International) Ltd. St. Gallen CHF 2,000

Vifor Pharma Ltd. (holding company) St. Gallen CHF 650

Vifor Pharma Participations Ltd.1 St. Gallen CHF 1,000

Vifor Pharma Finance Ltd.1 St. Gallen CHF 2,000

Vifor Pharma Management Ltd. Glattbrugg-Zurich CHF 100

Vifor Pharma Technology Ltd. St. Gallen CHF 100

Vifor Pharma Innovation Ltd. St. Gallen CHF 100

Aspreva Pharmaceuticals Ltd. Bern CHF 2,700

Cophar Ltd. (in liquidation) Villars-sur-Glâne CHF 700

Etrea Ltd. Meyrin CHF 200

OM Pharma Ltd. Meyrin CHF 3,000

OM Pharma Holding Ltd. Meyrin CHF 100

United States Relypsa, Inc.1 Redwood City USD 0.001

Austria Vifor Pharma Österreich GmbH Vienna EUR 100

Belgium Vifor Pharma België NV Antwerp EUR 61

France Vifor France S.A.S. Paris La Défense EUR 50

Germany Vifor Pharma Deutschland GmbH Munich EUR 50

Great Britain Vifor Pharma UK Ltd. Bagshot GBP 0.001

Italy Vifor Pharma Italia S.r.l. Rome EUR 10

Netherlands Vifor Pharma Nederland B.V. Breda EUR 18

Portugal OM Pharma, S.A. Amadora-Lisbon EUR 5,000

Romania Vifor Pharma Romania S.R.L Cluj-Napoca RON 258

Spain Vifor Pharma España, S.L. Barcelona EUR 200

Sweden Vifor Pharma Nordiska AB Kista SEK 200

Canada Aspreva International Ltd. Victoria CAD -

Argentina Vifor Pharma America Latina S.A. Buenos Aires ARS 1,310

Peru OM Pharma S.A. Lima PEN 12,375

Australia Vifor Pharma Pty Ltd. Melbourne AUD 0.001

Singapore Vifor Pharma Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD 100

1  Directly held by Vifor Pharma Ltd.
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Country Entity City
Nominal value 
(in thousands)

Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma (“VFMCRP”) — 55% equity interest held

Switzerland VFMCRP Ltd.1 St. Gallen CHF 1,000

Vifor Fresenius Medical Care  
Services Ltd. St. Gallen CHF 100

Germany
Fresenius Medical Care Nephrologica 
Deutschland GmbH Bad Homburg EUR 225

Belgium VFMCRP België NV Antwerp EUR 61

France VFMCRP France S.A.S. Paris La Défense EUR 10

Great Britain VFMCRP UK Ltd. Bagshot GBP 1

Italy VFMCRP Italia S.r.l. Milan EUR 10

Netherlands VFMCRP Nederland B.V. Breda EUR 1

Spain VFMCRP España, S.L. Barcelona EUR 3

1  Directly held by Vifor Pharma Ltd.

29 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
As announced on 12 March 2020, together with the publication of the 2019 Vifor Pharma Annual Report, 
Vifor Pharma has initiated an active programme to locate a buyer for and has the intention to sell the 
business unit OM Pharma. The asset will be classified as held for sale and presented as a discontinued 
operation once the required reorganisation is complete.

As announced on 17 February 2020, Vifor Pharma purchased a US Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA) priority review voucher (PRV). Vifor Pharma paid USD 111 million to acquire the PRV from Sarepta 
Therapeutics, Inc. In addition, Akebia and Vifor Pharma entered into a related Letter Agreement for 
a contribution of USD 10 million from Akebia. Vifor Pharma and Akebia are in discussion to enter into 
a definitive agreement setting forth the financial and other terms by which Vifor Pharma would assign 
the PRV to Akebia.

No other significant transactions or events occurred between 31 December 2019 and 5 March 2020, 
the date on which the consolidated financial statements were authorised for publication, that would 
need to be disclosed.
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 Ernst & Young Ltd 
Schanzenstrasse 4a 
P.O. Box 
CH-3001 Berne 

Phone: +41 58 286 61 11 
Fax: +41 58 286 68 18 
www.ey.com/ch 

 

 

To the General Meeting of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd., St. Gallen 

Berne, 5 March 2020 

 

Statutory auditor’s report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
 

 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vifor Pharma Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 126 to 176) give a true and fair 
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss 
law. 
 

 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs) and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the 
requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

  

 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these 
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 
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2 

 

address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
Carrying value of goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and 
product intangibles not yet in use  

Area of focus As of 31 December 2019, the Group has goodwill of CHF 1’091.5 
million, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives of CHF 104.1 
million and product intangibles not yet in use of CHF 316.7 million, 
together representing 31% of the Group’s total assets. Per Note 11, 
goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and product  
intangible assets not yet in use are tested for impairment at least 
annually. In performing the impairment analysis management applies 
considerable judgment in respect of future market and economic 
conditions, such as economic growth, expected inflation rates, 
demographic developments, expected market share, revenue and 
margin development. Changes in these assumptions might lead to a 
change in the carrying value of goodwill, other intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives and product intangibles not yet in use. 
We focused on this area given the significant judgment and complexity 
of valuation methodologies applied in the assessment process.  

Our audit 
response 

We assessed and tested the assumptions, weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC), methodologies and technical input parameters applied 
by the Group. We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us 
with these audit procedures. In addition, we evaluated the cash flow 
projections for the cash generating units (CGU) by performing a 
retrospective assessment of the accuracy of management’s past 
projections and analysing management’s business forecasts. In 
particular, we focused on the sensitivity in the available headroom of the 
CGU and whether changes in assumptions could cause the carrying 
amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations regarding the 
carrying value of goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives and product intangibles not yet in use.  

 
  

 

Other information in the annual report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other 
information comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements, the remuneration 
report and our auditor’s reports thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in 
the annual report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
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the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss 
law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible 
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss 
law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements is located at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-
report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 

   Ernst & Young Ltd 
   

Martin Mattes  Marc Rüegsegger 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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STATEMENT OF INCOME 

in million CHF 2019 2018

Investment income 139.7 125.0

Financial income 36.4 40.6

Other income 1.4 1.0

Income 177.5 166.6

Personnel costs (6.5) (6.5)

Financial expenses (14.7) (24.4)

Depreciation and amortisation (55.0) (9.7)

Other expenses (2.3) (6.3)

Expenses (78.5) (46.9)

Profit for the year before taxes 99.0 119.7

Direct taxes - -

Profit for the year 99.0 119.7
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STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION

in million CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 459.3 293.7

Receivables

 › Third parties 1.3 1.7

 › Group companies 222.9 2,425.8

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0.2 0.1

Current assets 683.7 2,721.3

Financial assets 1,445.6 250.0

Investments 963.3 177.3

Non-current assets 2,408.9 427.3

Assets 3,092.6 3,148.6

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities

 › Third parties - 100.0

 › Group companies 159.0 159.3

Other short-term liabilities

 › Third parties 1.1 1.0

Accrued expenses and deferred income 2.8 3.5

Short-term liabilities 162.9 263.8

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities

 › Third parties 540.4 465.0

Long-term liabilities 540.4 465.0

Liabilities 703.3 728.8

Share capital 0.7 0.7

Legal retained earnings

 › General legal retained earnings 40.0 40.0

 › Reserve for treasury shares 6.8 7.2

Treasury shares (0.9) (1.4)

Voluntary retained earnings

 › Other reserves 2,243.2 2,252.8

 › Profit carry forward 0.6 0.9

 › Profit for the year 99.0 119.7

Shareholders’ equity 2,389.3 2,419.8

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,092.6 3,148.6
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PRINCIPLES
The financial statements of Vifor Pharma Ltd. with registered office in St. Gallen, Switzerland, have 
been prepared in accordance with Article 957 et seqq. of Title 32 of the revised Accounting law  
based on the Swiss Code of Obligations. Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting  
and valuation principles applied are described below.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation and amortisation include amortisation on participations of CHF 55.0 million.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets include long-term loans to Vifor Pharma Group companies of CHF 1,445.5 million 
(2018: CHF 250.0 million). 

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
During the year, Relypsa Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Vifor Pharma Group, was transferred 
from Vifor Pharma Participation Ltd. to Vifor Pharma Ltd. The list of investments is shown in note 28 of 
the Vifor Pharma Group consolidated financial statements.

LONG-TERM INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
The interest-bearing liabilities are recognised at nominal value. 

in million CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Bank debts BCF Loan 75.4 -

Bond 0.75% (13 September 2018 — 13 September 2022)  
ISIN CH0428194275 465.0 465.0

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 540.4 465.0

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivative financial instruments are measured at the lower of cost or market value. Provisions are 
recorded for contingent losses on pending transactions at the balance sheet date. 

Vifor Pharma selectively hedges expected cash flows in USD and EUR against foreign currency risks by 
means of foreign exchange forwards. The contract volume amounted to CHF 157.9 million (2018: 
CHF 200.4 million) as at 31 December 2019 with a negative fair value of CHF 0.6 million (2018: positive 
fair value of CHF 1.4 million).

Vifor Pharma entered into an interest rate swap to hedge the interest rate risks in connection with 
long-term liabilities. The contract volume amounted to CHF 75.0 million (2018: CHF 80.0 million)  
with a negative fair value of CHF 0.4 million (2018: positive fair value of CHF 0.8 million) as at  
31 December 2019. 

SHARE CAPITAL
At 31 December 2019, the share capital of Vifor Pharma amounted to CHF 650,000, divided into 
65,000,000 publicly listed registered shares with nominal value of CHF 0.01 each. 
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AUTHORISED CAPITAL
According to Article 3a) of Vifor Pharma’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors may raise the 
share capital of CHF 650,000 by 10%, ie, an amount of CHF 65,000 (6,500,000 shares), at any time until 
15 May 2020.

SUBORDINATED LOANS
At the end of 2019, subordinated loans to Group companies amounted to CHF 200.5 million  
(2018: CHF 0.5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of 2019, total contingent liabilities amounted to CHF 1,588.5 million (2018: CHF 2,661.5 million). 
Vifor Pharma issued guarantees to Group companies of CHF 1,541.9 million (2018: CHF 2,609.1 million), 
guarantees to third parties of CHF 3.9 million (2018: CHF 8.5 million) as well as CHF 42.7 million  
(2018: CHF 43.9 million) for guarantees to secure intraday transactions in connection with the zero 
balance cash pooling.

TREASURY SHARES
Vifor Pharma Ltd. registered shares owned by the company or by subsidiaries:

Number in million CHF

As at 31 December 2017  153,512  1.9 

1st quarter 2018
Bought  430  0.1 

Sold  -  - 

2nd quarter 2018
Bought  60,470  9.5 

Sold  (68,197)  (7.4) 

3rd quarter 2018
Bought  18,010  3.1 

Sold  -  - 

4th quarter 2018
Bought  52,700  6.9 

Sold  (61,102)  (5.5) 

As at 31 December 2018 1  155,823  8.6 

1st quarter 2019
Bought  14,030  1.9 

Sold  (9,468)  (0.1) 

2nd quarter 2019
Bought  21,010  2.8 

Sold  (50,550)  (6.3) 

3rd quarter 2019
Bought  220  0.0 

Sold  - 

4th quarter 2019
Bought  42,640  7.0 

Sold  (67,478)  (6.2) 

As at 31 December 2019 2  106,227  7.7 

1  Thereof 47,463 shares owned by subsidiaries
2  Thereof 34,701 shares owned by subsidiaries
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MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Number of 
registered shares

% of share 
capital

As at 31 December 2019

Patinex AG, Switzerland, and BZ Bank Aktiengesellschaft, 
Switzerland 1 13,250,000 20.4

Priora Services AG, Switzerland 2, 3 8,300,000 12.8

BNP Paribas SA, France 4 3,011,359 4.6

Alecta pensionsförsäkring, Sweden 2,100,000 3.2

As at 31 December 2018

Patinex AG, Switzerland, and BZ Bank Aktiengesellschaft, 
Switzerland 1 13,250,000 20.4

Priora Services AG, Switzerland 2, 3 8,507,500 13.1

Alecta pensionsförsäkring, Sweden 2,100,000 3.2

BNP Paribas SA 4 2,000,214 3.1

1  Beneficial owners: Martin and Rosmarie Ebner, Switzerland
2  Options not considered
3  Beneficial owners: Remo and Manuela Stoffel, Switzerland
4  Lending transaction, date of return on 4 February 2019

No other shareholder has announced a crossing of the 3% threshold of registered shares.

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS
The average number of full-time equivalents amounted to <10 (2018: <10).

NET RELEASE OF HIDDEN RESERVES
There was no material release of hidden reserves in 2019 (2018: nil).
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Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors and  
the members of the Executive Committee

SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Registered shares Registered shares

Number of registered shares
Held as at 

31.12.2019
allocated  

for 2019
Held as at 

31.12.2018
allocated  

for 2018

Etienne Jornod, Executive Chairman  286,711  27,366  259,345  32,718 

Shares of the executive member  
of the Board of Directors  286,711  27,366  259,345  32,718 

Daniela Bosshardt-Hengartner  
(until Annual Shareholder Meeting 2019)  -  -  14,199  1,763 

Michel Burnier 8,619 2,051  8,406  1,763 

Romeo Cerutti 5,460 2,507  3,893  1,567 

Sylvie Grégoire  
(until Annual Shareholder Meeting 2019)  -  -  4,570  784 

Fritz Hirsbrunner  
(until Annual Shareholder Meeting 2019)  -  -  57,012  1,567 

Jacques Theurillat  555 1,026  -  555 

Gianni Zampieri 1 49,539 1,823  46,731  1,469 

Sue Mahony  
(as of Annual Shareholder Meeting 2019)  - 661  -  - 

Kim Stratton  
(as of Annual Shareholder Meeting 2019)  -  562  -  - 

Shares of the non-executive members  
of the Board of Directors 2  64,173  8,630  134,811  9,468 

Shares of the members of the Board of Directors  350,884  35,996  394,156  42,186 

Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Board of Directors are included in the declaration 
of the number of shares they hold. 

1  Includes the share-based portion of Dr. Zampieri’s PSUs that were awarded during his tenure as a member of the  
Executive Committee and that were subsequently converted into shares.

2  Will be allocated in February 2020.
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Number of registered shares
Held as at 

31.12.2019
Held as at 

31.12.2018

Barbara Angehrn  85  - 

David Bevan (until 30 April 2019)  -  593 

Colin Bond  3,687  1,923 

Dario Eklund (until 30 September 2019)  -  5,493 

Michael Puri  2,898  1,988 

Stefan Schulze  6,664  4,567 

Chris Springer  24,133  22,675 

Patrick Treanor  -  - 

Registered shares held by related parties of members of the Executive Committee are also included in the totals disclosed above.

Information relating to the number and value of participations rights of the members of the Board  
of Directors and the members of the Executive Committee are disclosed in the remuneration chapter, 
as included in Vifor Pharma’s 2019 Annual Report.

Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity developed as follows:

in million CHF
Share  

capital

General 
legal  

retained 
earnings

Reserve for  
treasury 
shares 1

Treasury  
shares

Free  
reserve

Available  
earnings

Shareholders’  
equity

As at 31 December 2017 0.7 40.0 2.0 0.0 1,031.0 1,357.9 2,431.5 

Transfer to free reserve 1,227.0 (1,227.0) 

Dividends (130.0) (130.0) 

Adjustment to the reserve  
for treasury shares 5.2 (1.4) (5.2) 

Profit for the year 119.7 119.7 

As at 31 December 2018 0.7 40.0 7.2 (1.4) 2,252.8 120.6 2,419.8 

Transfer to free reserve 0.0 (10.0) 10.0 

Dividends (130.0) (130.0) 

Adjustment to the reserve  
for treasury shares (0.4) 0.5 0.4 

Profit for the year 99.0 99.0 

As at 31 December 2019 0.7 40.0 6.8 (0.9) 2,243.2 99.6 2,389.3 

1  Owned by subsidiaries
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Appropriation of available earnings for the year ending  
31 December

The Board of Directors intends to submit the following proposal for the appropriation of available 
earnings at the Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2020:

in million CHF 2019 2018

Proposal to the Annual General Meeting

Balance brought forward 0.6 0.9

Profit for the year 99.0 119.7

Available earnings 99.6 120.6

Appropriation of available earnings

Transfer from free reserves 31.0 10.0

Dividends (130.0) (130.0)

Balance to be carried forward 0.6 0.6
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 Ernst & Young Ltd 
Schanzenstrasse 4a 
P.O. Box 
CH-3001 Berne 

Phone +41 58 286 61 11 
Fax +41 58 286 68 18 
www.ey.com/ch 

 

 

To the General Meeting of  
Vifor Pharma Ltd., St. Gallen 

Berne, 5 March 2020 

 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 
 
 
 As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Vifor Pharma Ltd., which 

comprise statement of income, statement of financial position and notes (pages 182 to 189), 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 

 

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control 
system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.  
 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.  
 

 

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit 
Oversight Authority  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. We have determined 
that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report. 
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Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor 
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there 
are no circumstances incompatible with our independence. 
 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements 
submitted to you be approved. 
 

  Ernst & Young Ltd 
   

Martin Mattes  Marc Rüegsegger 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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KEY CORPORATE DATES IN 2020
 
 
12 March 2020  
Annual Report 2019 
Analyst conference: full-year results 2019  
— 
14 May 2020  
Annual General Meeting
— 
6 August 2020  
Half-year Report 2020

UPCOMING DATES
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